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I N T R O

Be the change 
you want to see

in the world.
Mahatma Gandhi

he title of our annual report, „Be the change“, is inspired 
by the quote: „Be the change you want to see in the 
world“, which is attributed to Mahatma Gandhi.

For TOMORROW FOCUS AG, constant change is the basic pre-
requisite for sustainable success in the dynamic online environ-
ment.  We pride ourselves on not simply adapting to changes, 
but rather on actively contributing to shaping the Internet. Being 
proactive and showing an entrepreneurial spirit are therefore of 
great importance throughout the entire TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group.  In our annual report, we are presenting examples of suc-
cessful projects and products that our employees have driven 
forward in 2014.

T
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TOMORROW FOCUS AG

One of the leading  
German Internet companies

 27
  Munich

Holding

Tomorrow Travel Solutions  
GmbH

Development of software solutions 
and technologies for hotel review and 
booking portals.

 23
 Munich

~ 96 Million
Revenue  2014

 329

Monetisation 
Commission 

revenues

S EG M E N T

Travel

The TOMORROW FOCUS Group
 Employees Q4 2014, Full-time equivalent 
  Location

WebAssets B. V.

Operator of the largest  
hotel review community in the 
Benelux area.

 46
  Zeist, Netherlands

Tomorrow Travel B. V.

Operator of the Dutch 
online travel agency Tjingo

 9
  Zeist, Netherlands

HolidayCheck AG

The largest hotel review community in the  
German-speaking area and operator of the  
MietwagenCheck portal.

 251
   Bottighofen, Switzerland;  
Posen and Warsaw, Poland
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S EG M E N T

Subscription

TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH **

Premium digital marketer

 72
   Munich, Hamburg, Düsseldorf,  
Frankfurt

TOMORROW FOCUS  
Content & Services GmbH **

German edition of the online 
news and blogging portal

 15
  Munich

TOMORROW FOCUS News+ 
GmbH **

Online news portal with  
active reader community

  Munich, Berlin

Portal for parents and mothers 
with active community 

  Cologne

Financial and  
stock market portal 

  Cologne

 117

 118

Monetisation 

Subscription  
revenues

~ 32 Million
Revenue 2014

S EG M E N T

Publishing

~ 34 Million
Revenue 2014

Monetisation

Ad  
revenues

 230

As per 31.12.2014

International weather portal

 26
  Zeist, Netherlands

Meteovista B. V. *

* Part of the travel segment from 01.01.2015 
** Subsidiaries of TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH

Germany’s largest doctor 
review portal

 29
  Munich

jameda GmbH

Online matchmaking service for 
academics and upscale singles

 79
  Hamburg

EliteMedianet GmbH

Online service for intelligent
document storage

 12
  Munich

organize.me GmbH
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Check in and travel smart!

32
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Pioneer of the digital health market

SubscriptionPublishingTravel
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16
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Interview
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Focus on change

25
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Neuroscience research:
What are internet users really thinking?

38
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Looking cheerfully towards a 
future of change



7

TOMORROW FOCUS AG | Annual Report 2014

40 50

52
Letter to Shareholders

54
Investor Relations Report

56
Report of the Supervisory Board

62
Group management report

106
Consolidated Balance Sheet

108
Consolidated Statement of income

110
Consolidated Statement of 

changes in equity

112
Consolidated Statement of 

cash fl ows

N OT E S :

114
Consolidated Statement of 

changes in non-current assets  
 for 2013 and 2014

42
TO M O R R O W  FO C U S 

Work, family and management
Interview

46
H O L D I N G

News

Financial ReportHolding

118
Consolidated Segment report

120
Notes to the consolidated 

fi nancial statements

172
Auditor’s Report

174
Glossary

176
Financial calendar

177
Legal notice

178
Key fi gures

48
E S SAY

Rocket and chocolate



8

TOMORROW FOCUS AG | Annual Report 2014

E S SAYE S SAY

Why the digital transformation has led to ongoing change 
being the only constant.
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G U E ST  C O N T R I B U T I O N  F R O M

I n t e r n e t  ex p e r t

e live in wonderful 
times. New busi-
ness models are 

constantly emerging, interests 
are continually shifting and 
new start-ups are attempting 
to get established – all thanks 
to digitalisation. If you enjoy 
new things and have retained 
your curiosity, this is a wonder-
ful playing fi eld.

However, while these disrup-
tions are causing a stir and 
providing many new oppor-
tunities, not all market partic-
ipants see this as a cause for 
joy. This is because they also 
need to change but often 
come to fully recognise this far 
too late. It is amazing that the 
term „digital transformation“ 
has only recently entered our 
vocabulary. This clearly shows 
that we are entering a period of 
catch-up, with the realisation 
that the internet and digitalisa-
tion are not going to go away 
again seeming to slowly gain 
widespread acceptability.

Innovation happens at the 
edges and not in the centre – 
this simple realisation is mak-
ing it not only diffi cult for es-
tablished companies to keep 
up with developments but also 
attractive for customers and 
employees.

But one thing is clear: the 
foundations are laid, the pace 
of change has quickened, the 
complexity is constantly rising 
and the digital is becoming 
increasingly present despite 
fading into the background at 
the same time. The Internet of 
Things is becoming a reality 
and giving rise to new forms 
of innovation.

The media industry was one 
of the fi rst industries to expe-
rience the disruptive change 
brought about by digitalisation, 

and there remains no end in 
sight to developments.

The way in which we roman-
ticise supposed moments 
around the camp fi re or hit TV 
shows of old time and time 
again gives us an inkling of 
how fundamental the change 
in the media landscape is and 
the degree to which interests 
have shifted. The way in which 
we can address target audi-
ences is continually improving 
but, at the same time, we are 
also witnessing audience ato-
misation.

Nevertheless, it is still possible 
for mass phenomena to come 
into being – something which 
never ceases to amaze me 
when I look at my children‘s 
YouTube playlists. Speaking 
of which, the teenage maga-
zines of my childhood are only 
bought these days if there is a 
YouTube star on the cover.

However, newly emerging 
mass phenomena play out 
almost unfailingly in the palms 
of our hands because smart-
phones are becoming stan-
dard and channel the interests 
of the future. This, in addition 
to the disruption of existing 
business models, is a huge 
asset to society in particular. 
Smartphones are massively 
expanding participation in a 
way that no other medium 
has before.

People are enabled to par-
ticipate in social accomplish-
ments to a far greater extent 
than ever before, be they 
communication, education, 
consumption, entertainment, 
culture or work. Smartphones 
make it possible to compen-
sate for disadvantages, such as 

money, distance and access, 
that would otherwise be dif-
fi cult to bridge. This is funda-
mentally changing our society.

But these changes are far from 
complete; they are taking hold 
of more and more parts of so-
ciety and every sector of the 
economy, anyhow! But one 
thing is for sure, and we must 
be prepared for it: the digital 
transformation has led to on-
going change being the only 
constant.  

“The Internet of Things 
is becoming a reality 

and giving rise to new 
forms of innovation.”

“Smartphones are 
becoming standard and 

channel the interests 
of the future.”

W
A B O U T

Nico Lumma is one of 
the foremost internet experts in 
Germany. He works as a free-
lance consultant and author in 

the fi eld of digital transformation. 
He keeps a blog on 

lumma.de and writes columns 
and guest articles for digital 

media – making him one of the 
most widely read bloggers in 

Germany. He himself says that he 
has not been offl ine since 1995. 

In his capacity as an internet 
expert, he is a member of the 
SPD executive committee‘s 

media and internet policy 
commission and co-chair of the 

D64 association‘s centre for 
digital progress. 

You can fi nd him on Twitter under 
the handle @Nico.
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ST E P H A N I E  W E I G A N D

Teamleader Offline Marketing & Brand Management  

at HolidayCheck
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he path to the perfect holiday 
often starts deep within a book-
ing jungle. Which destination, 

which hotel, which offer is the best, and 
how can you be sure that you won’t 
make a grab for the wrong vine? With 
9 million travel tips and ratings from 
holidaymakers for holidaymakers, the 
HolidayCheck review and booking 
portal provides a guide like no other 
travel portal in Germany. In 2014, this 
unique selling point was the core of the 
company’s newly developed brand and 
communication strategy, and also the 
basis for its new advertising campaign. 

A new claim

For the restructuring of the brand and 
communication sector, a creative agency 
was taken on. After both a tendering and 
selection process in addition to a so-called 
pitch, the Hamburg-based industry leader 
Jung von Matt prevailed. The agency is 
one of the top twenty creative agencies in 
the world and the leading one in Germany. 
It was chosen on the basis of having the 
correct understanding of both the target 
groups and market, in addition to its out-
standing creation, explained Stephanie 
Weigand, Offline Marketing & Brand Man-
agement team leader at HolidayCheck.

Part of the tendering process was, 
amongst other things, the creation of a 
new claim, meaning the advertising slo-

gan, for the HolidayCheck brand. With 
the claim ‘Wer nicht checkt, reist dumm’ 
(which can be translated as Check in and 
travel smart), Jung von Matt has cut to 
the heart of our brand promises”, says 
Stephanie Weigand. “Being absolutely 
sure that the booking is the correct one 
is particularly important for German holi-
daymakers. Before the booking, you want 
to know all the insider tips and, upon re-
search, you trust other holidaymakers 
and their ratings more than you would 
information found in a holiday catalogue. 
The claim shows the user the way out of 
this uncertainty. It shows what we offer, 
what our unique selling point is, refer-
ences our brand name and is therefore 
extremely memorable”, adds Weigand.

New TV spots

The new advertising campaign follows a 
multi-channel concept, wherein numer-
ous advertising formats are employed 
with new TV spots being the key com-
ponent. “The subject of travelling and 
holidays is an emotional topic, and is es-
pecially well conveyed by moving images. 
TV is also a medium that can quickly 
generate a vast reach. Lots of tour oper-
ators and online portals therefore utilise 
TV spots during periods of high booking 
rates. Our own spot is in competition with 
others, but not being present in the TV 
advertising market results in competitive 
disadvantages. The art lies in standing out 

from the sea of competitors with emotive, 
humorous and visually impressive spots 
containing a clear message”, explains 
Stephanie Weigand. 

Julio and the blue lagoon

In the conception phase of the new cam-
paign, the creative minds at Jung von Matt 
first translated the strategic derivation 
from the pitch process on the subjects 
of target audience, framework condi-
tions and market circumstances  into a 
so-called creation bracket; that is to say 
creation and design not only with TV in 
mind, but also all other future advertising 
formats. The core of the creative process 
was providing a way out of the uncertainty 
with regard to searching and booking. 
Based on the newly created bracket, the 
next step was to develop the stories for 
the advertising spots. For example, the 
password “Blue Lagoon” found on Holi-
dayCheck grants a young couple access 
to their dream beach, and female holi-
daymakers are advised to ask for “Julio” 
in order to get special tennis lessons. 
“We wanted the stories to be somewhat 
quirky, with dashes of humour and sym-
pathy. This makes them memorable”, 
says Stephanie Weigand. >

Check in and
travel smart!

H O L I DAYC H EC K

T
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Shooting location with  
a guarantee of sunshine

At the start of production, a search was 
carried out for a suitable director capa-
ble of achieving both the right tone and 
high quality pictures. In the end, Micky 
Sülzer was chosen; he had already shot 
advertising spots for Nivea and BMW. 

“It was clear to us that the stories stand 
and fall with the right dose of humour, 
and top-quality actors are imperative for 
this.  We picked them during a casting 
session in New York”, explains Stepha-
nie Weigand.  The shooting took place 
in December 2014. For this, the team 
required a location with a guarantee of 
sunshine and a good infrastructure for 
film production. Therefore, Tenerife of 
the Canary Islands was picked. In order 
to be able to wrap up the shooting in only 
three days, the 40-strong crew worked 
daily from sunrise until sunset. In total, 35 
takes were shot in 14 different locations 
in 5 different hotel complexes during this 
time. “We all worked under a significant 
amount of pressure. Micky Sülzer, Jung 

von Matt’s creative director Jens Pfau and 
I were a terrific team; despite the tight 
deadlines, we reviewed each scene, ges-
ticulation, word and camera angle in me-
ticulous detail until we were all satisfied”, 
says Stephanie Weigand. 

The TV Test

After the shooting, the studio work be-
gan; this is where the recorded material 
was transformed into the final advertising 
spot. This involved numerous tasks, such 
as using Computer-Generated Imagery 
(CGI) to integrate visual effects and sim-
ulations into the video that was shot, or 
the composition of music such as dub-
bing and synchronisation.  
However, before the completed spots 
were broadcast, they were tested by a 
market research panel. “It is naturally of 
the utmost importance for us to know 
how the spots are received before they 
are broadcast to millions”, says Stephanie 
Weigand. In the so-called TV labs, the test 
subjects from a cross section of the tele-
vision audience view a normal television 
broadcast, including advertising breaks. 
Spots from direct competition appear 
alongside the spot that is to be tested. 
Following this, the test subjects are 
asked questions concerning the impact 
and appeal of the spot. “Our new Hol-
idayCheck spots have achieved results 
much higher than average from our test 

audience. They performed better than 
the competition in all categories, which 
allowed us to air them on time on De-
cember 26th”, says Stephanie Weigand. 
“It only took three and a half months from 
the first agency contact concerning the 
pitch to the first broadcast date. For me 
personally, after ten years of brand and 
TV experience, that is an absolute record. 
We can be very proud of the result, and 
I would like to cordially thank all those 
involved for their commitment and ex-
cellent work”.  

“We wanted the stories  
to be somewhat quirky,  

with dashes of humour and 
sympathy. This makes  

them memorable.”

Commercial – HolidayCheck – The blue lagoon

Check out the  
commercials here:

The blue lagoon

Julio

Actors in the commercial “Julio”
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1 2 3
How does the travel 
industry differ from 
others in the advertis-
ing world?

There is a greater focus on 
attracting attention than 
in other industries. It is not 
enough for an online travel 
portal to be solely available to 
users through search engine 
results, and, due to increasing 
prices for search engine ad-
vertising, that would also be 
too expensive. It’s all about 
becoming an active search 
term or getting the user to en-
ter your web address directly 
into their browser. If you want 
to have success here, your 
brand must represent some-
thing. Something that nobody 
else represents. In this regard, 
the travel industry, which has 
now been digitalised for a very 
long time already, is much fur-
ther ahead than other indus-
tries. That provides opportu-
nities but also challenges.

As brand professionals, 
how do you rate  
HolidayCheck as a 
brand?

When considering the com-
petition within the travel in-
dustry, it must be said that 
there are hardly any real 
brands at all. A lot of provid-
ers are defined by their logos 
and interchangeable service 
catalogues. They can’t tell 
the customer what they – 
and only they – really stand 
for. Therefore, the customer 
has little reason to make one 
provider their first choice and 
develop loyalty. However, 
HolidayCheck is different. 
HolidayCheck stands out 
through its reviews and tips 
from holidaymakers for hol-
idaymakers. The things that 
set this brand apart are inte-
grated in what it offers. This 
gives us an advantage that 
allows us to develop an even 
stronger brand by providing 
a focused and consistent in-
vestment in the brand core. 

What is your overall ap-
proach to customers and 
new projects? Is there a 
Jung von Matt principle?

The Jung von Matt principle is 
that there is no principle. In-
dividual customers and mar-
kets have their own individual 
challenges. To deal with this, 
we always concentrate on 
the customers of our cus-
tomers that we need to win 
over. What they want cannot 
be deduced from marketing 
models or solely from quan-
titative market studies. Keep-
ing strategy, creation and 
consultation together for the 
duration of a task rather than 
separating them is a recipe for 
success. And our motto “We 
remain unsatisfied” is natu-
rally always relevant; we are 
not merely satisfied with the 
very first solution that comes 
along.

3  Q U E ST I O N S  FO R

S e n i o r  S t ra t e g i c  Pl a n n e r 

a t  J u n g  v o n  M a t t
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ZO OV E R  &  M ET EOV I STA

Philipp, how were the first six months  
in the Netherlands?

P H I L I P P  G O O S :  Very intense. I moved to the Netherlands with 
my wife and three children. It obviously meant having to leave 
my comfort zone to live and work within a new culture. The 
Dutch are very open and friendly, both in their private and in 
their  professional lives. My new colleagues gave me a warm 
welcome and stress-free start. However, I must also admit that 
I‘m happy the introductory phase is now over and I‘m able to fo-
cus all my energies on the further development of the company.  

Why did you pick the CEO position at Zoover  
and Meteovista?

P H I L I P P  G O O S :  There were two reasons. Firstly, I have always 
had a positive relationship with Zoover and Meteovista. I visited 
the company a number of years ago in order to perform an 
evaluation for a potential takeover by TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG. In addition to the successful business model, I was above 
all impressed by the positive energy of the employees. I felt 
comfortable straight away. The second reason was that I had 
developed jameda into a very successful, well established com-
pany and was therefore looking for a new challenge. 

As the new CEO, you have initiated a process of change 
within the company. Why?

P H I L I P P  G O O S :  The company is very successful, but the Dutch 
travel market is very competitive and you must not allow yourself 
to get left behind. In order to ensure future success and growth, 
the company requires a new direction. First of all, I spoke to the 
employees about their ideas for the future. A lot of them had 
concrete suggestions. We jointly developed our mission and 
vision for the company in a workshop; this was the foundation 
for the process of change.  >

ince August 2014, Philipp Goos has been CEO of 
WebAssets B.V., operator of the Dutch travel rating 
and booking portal Zoover, as well as the Meteovis-

ta/weeronline weather portal. He made the switch to the 
Netherlands from the Munich-based physician ratings portal 
jameda, where he previously held the position of managing 
director. In his new role as WebAssets B.V. CEO, Goos has 
initiated a process of change within the company. During the 
interview, we spoke to him about his first six months in the 
Netherlands and his plans for WebAssets B.V.  

”The fresh breeze  
in the company is good for us.”

H e a d  o f  M e t e o v i s t a

Interview

”Our new approach  
gives me more reason  

to think about what I do.  
I really like it!”

C a m p a i g n  &  Yi e l d  M a n a g e r  
a t  Zo o v e r

S



>>>>>>

P H I L I P P  G O O S

CEO of WebAssets B.V.
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What should be changed?
P H I L I P P  G O O S :  We are currently focusing on two factors for 
the long-term success of the company: Employee and product. 
We want to develop and foster talents within the company and 
become an attractive employer for new talents. Secondly, we 
want to improve our products through the introduction of a 
consistently user-focused and fully agile product development 
process. 

Which steps have already been implemented?
P H I L I P P  G O O S :  Firstly, we set out the organisational require-
ments for an effective process of change. Two teams were es-
tablished. One was the Core-Change-Team and the other was 
the so-called Sounding Board. The Core-Change-Team is the 
control circuit, so to speak. It consists of our Chief Operating 
Officer Sven Terpstra, our Head of Personnel and Talent Devel-
opment Martin Dielemann, and me. We determine the objec-
tives and coordinate the time of implementation. The Sounding 
Board consists of 20 employees, one from each department 
within the company. Their tasks are to provide us with feedback 
on the implementation, and the development and implementa-
tion of individual initiatives. However, the most important thing 
is that each employee can suggest changes and also volunteer 
to participate in a change project at any time.   

Has this started to bear fruit?  
P H I L I P P  G O O S :  Yes, we achieved the 2014 organisational 
requirements for change and also the first visible results. For 
example, we were able to triple the speed in the area of product 
development. Employee satisfaction has gone up and we were 
able to recruit the first new talents. In 2015, we will focus on the 
consistent implementation of our ideas and projects.  

The offices of Zoover and Meteovista in Zeist.

“Zoover focused  
too much on short-term goals.  

Now we focus on long-term  
as well.” 

M a n a g e r  Tra v e l  O p e ra t i o n s  
a t  Zo o v e r
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White Christmas 
in Almelo

The weather portal Weeron-
line/Meteovista brought a 
White Christmas to the chil-
dren in the Dutch city of Al-
melo, despite a temperature 
of over 12 degrees. Two 
trucks delivered snow to Al-
melo on 23rd of December 
for sledding, and naturally 
there was hot chocolate for 
the children and mulled wine 
for the parents. The snow 
delivery was auctioned off 
by radio station 3FM as part 
of the charity event ‘Serious 
Request 2014’ for the In-
ternational Red Cross. The 
residents of Almelo donated 
2.051,50 Euros for the snow. 
The money was used for the 
benefi t of women who had 
been victims of sexual abuse 
in confl ict zones.  

Best Dutch holiday website 

The travel rating and booking portal Zoover won The Best Web-
site of the Year award 2014 in the category Holiday and Tourism 
in the Netherlands. The Award is presented by the Dutch inter-
net magazine, Emerce, and is based on voting amongst inter-
net users. “We are very proud of this award because it comes 
from the users and it means that they are very satisfi ed with 
Zoover,” says Marthijn Tabak, Communication and PR Manager 
at Zoover in Zeist.

10 years of HolidayCheck’s online 
travel agency

Since 2004, the HolidayCheck hotel rating and booking portal 
has been running an online travel agency with 70 travel agents, 
offering excellent advice to holidaymakers concerning all travel 
matters. “From the very fi rst hour, we saw ourselves as a travel 
agency and not a call centre”, says Claudia Haller, the team 
leader. Although bookings are completely processed online, 
plenty of clients appreciate personal contact with the advisors. 
At the vote for Service Champion 2014 carried out by the inde-
pendent institute Service Value GmbH, the online travel agency 
came in at 36th place after competing against 1,500 German 
service providers. Congratulations on ten successful years!

10
Years

Travel agency

Meteovista brings snow

to Almelo

H O L I D AYC H E C K

HolidayCheck launched  a 
new mobile platform in fall 
2014. The dedicated mobile 
site is part of a comprehen-
sive IT platform transition that 
the hotel rating and booking 
portal is currently working on. 
HolidayCheck recently re-
ceived positive feedback for 
the mobile platform through 
a test. Together with the Ans-
trengungslos agency, Seven-
val Consulting conducted an 

investigation into the usability 
and performance of mobile 
internet offerings from twelve 
German travel providers. Holi-
dayCheck was awarded by far 
the best mark for the mobile 
booking process, fi nishing 
miles ahead of its rivals in this 
category. Overall, Holiday-
Check came in at third place 
as best online travel agency 
behind two large travel oper-
ators. 

Best mobile
booking process 

H O L I D AYC H E C K

Z O O V E R

M E T E O V I S TA  /  W E E R O N L I N E
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he news sector is characterised by a flood of technical 
innovations and a stream of new competitors. As a 
result, the manner in which news is consumed has 

changed radically within merely a few years. In order for a 
news medium to enjoy sustainable success in such a chal-
lenging environment, it must have the ability and willingness 
to change constantly. In 2014, the portal’s employees suc-
ceeded in impressively demonstrating that the FOCUS Online 
news service possesses both of these qualities.

New monetisation strategy

In 2014, the online advertising market experienced a dramatic 
shift. The previously dominant digital advertising form, the 
banner, lost ground. Other digital advertising formats became 
increasingly important. This is a significant challenge for on-
line portals, because up until now, the banner ad was the main 
source of revenue. FOCUS Online anticipated these changes 
early in the game, and quickly adapted its monetisation strategy 
to the new market conditions. The team quickly established new 
advertising formats, and with great success. 

Watch more, read less

“We consistently focus our work on the needs of our users. We 
discovered early on, to our surprise, that people mostly want 
to watch videos, especially on their smartphones. Almost 70% 
of our video views come through our mobile offering. As the 
advertising sector is desperately searching for moving images, 
we have excellent preconditions for a strong monetisation”, 
says Oliver Eckert, Managing Director of TOMORROW FOCUS 
News+ GmbH. 

In 2014, FOCUS Online consistently expanded its video content 
and as a result, the reach within this area increased to approx. 
35 million video views per month (primarily through its mobile 

offering). Because of this, video views more than doubled within 
a year. Furthermore, the current video team was increased, new 
partnerships with outside providers concerning video content 
were initiated and all editors were trained in video production. 
“Each one of our editors is now capable of independently pro-
ducing videos of high quality”, says Oliver Eckert. “Therefore, 
we have one of the largest online video editorial departments 
in the world”.

The partner studio

Together with video advertising, the new digital advertising 
form “Native Advertising” is becoming increasingly important at  
FOCUS Online. With native advertising, readers are provided 
with interesting advertising content similar to an editorial article, 
but with a clear advertising label. Because the marketing of na-
tive ads requires comprehensive consultation, the Key Account 
Team was increased. The content for the Native Ads is produced 
in the new Partner Studio. The team has experienced writers 
that are completely separate from the editorial side but possess 
the same tools and skills. It also has a grasp of the extensive 
know-how of web analysis as well as social media and search 
engine optimisation. “Both advertising clients and users benefit 
equally here. Native advertising is a highly innovative, exciting 
and effective form of advertising. It is also better integrated with 
what we are offering. Our users value this a lot. Lots of our native 
campaigns are amongst those that are most frequently clicked 
on”, says Oliver Eckert.                        >
  

Focus on change
FO C U S  O N L I N E

T
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O L I V E R  EC K E RT

Managing Director of TOMORROW FOCUS 

Publishing GmbH

>>
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Hierarchy and network

A further important factor in the success of FOCUS Online 
and its editorial sister portals is the new organisational struc-
ture of the publishing segment, introduced in 2014. The newly 
founded TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH combines all of 
its own editorial portals, such as FOCUS Online, Finanzen100 
and NetMoms, under one roof. The German edition of the 
Huffington Post also belongs to the publishing operation. The 
reason for  merging was the increase of growth synergies. “We 
have bundled our expertise within teams spanning our portals, 
in the areas of software development or marketing for exam-
ple. If necessary, individual employees can work on projects 
for various portals in order to avoid capacity bottlenecks”, says 
Oliver Eckert. The new structure has also helped FOCUS Online 
adapt to the changed market conditions. “Firstly, we have an 
organisation that is clearly portal-orientated, and this ensures 
high rates of efficiency and effectiveness. Secondly, we have 
also established a network structure that speeds up change 

The FOCUS Online Actionroom

*  Market media study Internet facts, AGOF (Working Group for  
Online Research)

and innovation. Independently of their positions, employees 
can join up with small teams of experts to advance new projects 
themselves. This guarantees flexibility, innovative products and 
brings a touch of variety to the day-to-day work”, says Oliver 
Eckert.

A record of success

FOCUS Online can boast an impressive track record for 2014. 
In terms of reach*, the news portal had already significantly 
overtaken rival Spiegel Online by January. Furthermore,  
FOCUS Online gets more than 50% of its revenue from its new, 
lucrative video, native advertising and transaction-based oper-
ations. These are advertising-independent revenue streams 
such as price comparisons or classified ads. In 2013, sales from 
video advertising were still in the lower six-figure area. For 2015, 
the plans envisage a fifteen-fold increase in comparison. The 
portal expects a sales figure in the upper single-digit millions 
range for the native advertising segment, double that of 2014. 
“With our new strategy, we have more than compensated for 
the decline in banner business. Our offering has become con-
siderably more attractive for our users and advertising clients”, 
beams Oliver Eckert.  

35 million
downloaded videos per month  

on Focus Online

70 %
mobile devices

come from

JUN  
14‘

AUG  
14‘

OKT  
14‘

DEC  
14

FEB  
14‘

APR  
14‘

OCT  
13

DEZ  
13‘

 FOCUS Online

 Spiegel Online

In January 2014, FOCUS Online sur-
passed its rival Spiegel Online for the 
first time in the AGOF Reach Ranking

13 million
Unique 

User
12
11
10

9
8
7

64
9 million 

Unique 
User

January 2014
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Neuroscience
research: what 
are internet users 
really thinking?

hat actually goes on in our minds when we view a 
website? How do we perceive website advertis-
ing? What do we pay attention to and what emo-

tions do we feel? The answers to these questions can be 
found in the market research conducted by digital marketer 
TOMORROW FOCUS Media, which teamed up with Hamburg 
Media School’s Think Tank Media Management to carry out a 
neuroscience research project. Two studies were published 
on cross-digital advertising and native advertising in Septem-
ber and December 2014. >

W
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Eye tracking and EEG readings 

Researchers at the Neuro Competence Center (NCC), the 
interactive research laboratory that was jointly set up as part of 
the project, study the implicit responses and eye movements 
of study participants using eye-tracking glasses and EEG 
technology. Eye-tracking glasses record eye movements and 
determine how often and for how long test subjects view a 
particular object, while EEG readings make it possible to de-
tect the cognitive processes involved here in real time. These 
measures enable researchers to gain a deeper insight into the 
emotional responses of internet users and the manner in which 
they perceive digital advertising.

The fi rst study: Benini Sports Water
 
The fi rst project study examined the end devices, e.g. laptops, 
tablet computers and smartphones, on which advertising most 
effectively reaches consumers. The study focused on advertis-
ing for an imaginary product made by Benini, a mineral water 
brand invented by TOMORROW FOCUS Media. Neither the 
Benini Sports Water product nor the Benini brand were known 
to the study participants prior to the study. The test subjects 
were fi rst given the task of surfi ng the stationary and mobile 
website of TV magazine “TV Spielfi lm”. They were not aware 
that this was for the purpose of studying the effect of digital 
advertising. All of the study participants were equally exposed 
to advertising for Benini as they surfed the website – the only 
difference was the end device being used. The second stage 
of the study involved showing the participants a virtual store 
shelf containing a range of water brands. Eye movements were 
tracked and EEG readings taken at both stages. 

Finding: cross-digital advertising is 
more effective

The study results showed that, overall, cross-digital advertis-
ing for Benini Sports Water, i.e. advertising that was displayed 
on both stationary devices (PCs and laptops) and mobile de-
vices (smartphones and tablet computers) was viewed more 
often, for longer and more intently. Despite all advertising 
being equally visible, advertising that could only be viewed 
on stationary end devices attracted less attention. This was 
demonstrated by the participants’ eye-tracking measurement 
results, which provide information on the length and intensity of 
eye contact with advertising. The EEG readings also indicated 
that visual stimuli were processed to a greater extent, more 
attention was paid and emotional responses were stronger in 
the case of cross-digital advertising campaigns. “Heightened 
reactive emotions such as curiosity, interest and attention were 
triggered in test subjects who were exposed to the cross-dig-
ital advertising campaign,” explained Sonja Knab, Director of 
Research & Marketing at TOMORROW FOCUS Media. The 

subsequent shelf test revealed that the cross-digital advertising 
group recognised the advertised product on the shelf much 
faster and looked at it for considerably longer and more intently 
than rival products. 

Eye-tracking glasses with 
EEG technology

Virtual store shelf with 
water brands 

“Benini Sports Water” - Ads on different devices
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The second study: a review of 
native advertising

In the second study, market researchers examined the effect 
of native advertising. Native advertising is a form of advertising 
where advertisers, working in close consultation with the edi-
torial staff of a website, prepare content and incorporate it into 
the website in article form.  As part of this study, researchers 
examined a brand page of hotel portal HRS comprising mul-
tiple articles. Study participants were given the task of surfi ng 
the German edition of The Huffi ngton Post and, in doing so, 
came across the HRS brand page and associated sponsored 
posts. Sponsored posts are posts on the portal’s homepage that 
contain links to articles on the brand page. Traditional banner 
advertising for the client (HRS) was also visible on the page. 
This task was followed by the choice test, in which the test sub-
jects were shown the Google search results page for the search 
term “hotel” and asked which of the displayed search results or 
providers they would click.

Finding: native advertising works

Eye-tracking results revealed that the hotel portal’s native ad-
vertising campaign attracted users’ interest. Study participants 
spent 22% more time viewing native advertisements than they 
did viewing editorial articles. The number of participants who 
would book a hotel through HRS rose by more than 36% fol-
lowing exposure to the native advertising campaign. This clear 
tendency was also confi rmed by the eye-tracking results in the 
choice test. Study participants who had previously seen the 
HRS native advertising campaign subsequently viewed the 
Google search ads for HRS for considerably longer than those 
participants who had not seen the campaign. This study also 
showed that a mix of different advertising formats works best. 
On average, users who had seen both the native advertising 
campaign and the corresponding banner campaign looked at 
sponsored posts on the homepage for 37.9% longer than those 
who had only seen the native advertising campaign. When the 
advertising formats were mixed, EEG readings also indicated 
that test subjects were more engaged with the advertising and 
displayed greater enthusiasm for the advertising content.   

“The fi rst two studies conducted at the Neuro Competence 
Center have brought with them many new insights. In the past, 
our studies relied primarily on users’ self-assessment, as they 
could only be conducted using surveys,” said Ms Knab. “The fact 
that we are now able to measure unconscious emotions such 
as enthusiasm, interest or excitement represents a milestone 
in our market research.”  

Sponsored post on the homepage of 
The Huffi ngton Post

36 %
of those surveyed would 
book a hotel at HRS after 
being exposed to the native 
advertising campaign

An additional 
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Check out the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Media 

research here:
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Searching
for the good
Internet

H U F F I N GTO N  PO ST

FO C U S  O N L I N E

2 million fans

In September 2014, FOCUS 
Online acquired its two mil-
lionth fan on Facebook. This 
means that more than two mil-
lion fans are receiving current 
news and service articles on 
a daily basis directly through 
their Facebook newsfeeds on 
24 channels. The news portal 
already generates more than 
18 % of its site visits through 
Facebook. “We are extremely 
happy with the large number 
of fans we have acquired on 
Facebook so far. Thanks to 
all those that like, read, share 
and view our articles and vid-
eos on a daily basis. Social 
media has become a fi xed 
part of our daily editorial op-
erations. Breaking news and 
sustainable service topics are 
prepared specifi cally for this 
channel by our editors”, says 
Daniel Steil, editor-in-chief of 
FOCUS Online.

With its Lab Around the World initiative, the online donation 
platform Betterplace.org would like to show the world that the 
Internet is more than just E-commerce and gossip. That is why 
Betterplace experts are travelling the world in search of digital 
innovations that help solve social or ecological problems and 
then write on them in the international editions of the Huff-
ington Post.  For example, they report on the MPesa mobile 
payment service, which every third Kenyan now uses, or the 
SMS-controlled well pumps in India. But don’t the people in 
the digital world feel primarily drawn to negative reports? “Our 
experiences in the last 15 months have taught us differently. 
Some of the most successful text or video features from the 
German edition of the Huffi ngton Post had a positive approach. 
This is especially evident on social media channels through 
which, in the meantime, we reach one third of our readers”, 
says Sebastian Matthes, editor-in-chief of the German edition. 

You can check out the reports of 
the Betterplace experts here: 

This video offers an insight 
into the FOCUS-Online 

editorial offi ce: 
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display that is easy to navi-
gate. It shows the movement 
of stock markets, foreign cur-
rencies and raw materials, 
and also allows a comparison 
over different time periods. 
The stock markets are not 
only broken down by region, 
but also by sector. Shares, 
funds, ETFs, warrants and 
knock-outs (amongst other 
things) can be searched and 
compared according to differ-

ent criteria with the app’s new 
search feature. In the section 
“Portfolio & Watchlist”, each 
item can be worked  on with 
one click. This ensures a quick 
processing of purchases and 
sales, recognition of earnings 
and management of limits.

New NetMoms cycle calendar app

The mother and parent portal NetMoms has developed a new 
app for the analysis of the female cycle. The app functions ex-
tend beyond those of current fertility calendars. It is possible, 
for example, to record external influences on the body and the 
cycle. These include symptoms such as headaches or stomach 
aches, personal mood and the influences of stress or alcohol. 
Furthermore, results from pregnancy and ovulation tests are 
also recorded. The app is sponsored by the “Femibion” brand 
of pharmaceutical company Merck.  

F I N A N Z E N  1 0 0

You can check out  
the cycle calendar app 

from NetMoms here: 

You can check out  
the Finanzen100 app 

for iOS users here: 

N ET M O M S

Finanzen100, the mobile 
market leader amongst fi-
nancial and market portals, 
has released a new, innovative 
iOS app for iPhone and iPad. 
Investors can use it to find 
the right information more 
quickly. The app utilises a tile 

Quicker access to the right financial

and market information
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Pioneer of 
the digital health 
market

oving to a new city. An unfulfilled desire to start a 
family. A sudden emergence of discomfort. There 
are plenty of reasons why one may choose to look 

for a new doctor. In the past, this was primarily done based 
on recommendations from friends or the business directory. 
In recent years, the search for a doctor has, to a large extent, 
taken place online. This is reflected by the number of hits ac-
quired by jameda, Germany’s largest physician review portal. 
Close to 6 million patients use it each month in order to find 
the doctor that is right for them. Furthermore, a significant 
number of them publish their experiences with medical pro-
fessionals on the portal. In total, there are already more than 
1 million doctor reviews on jameda. That is more than three 
times as many as their remaining competitors. And there are 
also signs of growth for the coming years. A highly motivated 
team and the strong management board, which took office in 
August 2014, are to thank for this. Since then, the new man-
agers Dr. Florian Weiß and Fritz Edelmann have been working 
with determination to further advance the digitalisation pro-
cess within the healthcare market. They take advantage of 
jameda’s market leadership as the biggest physician ratings 
portal and the frontrunner of the health portals displayed on 
the independent working group on online research AGOF. 

The new management team

“The first sixth months at jameda were exciting, not least be-
cause of the rapid business development in the last year. The 
company now finds itself in a strong phase of growth. Revenue 
went up by 70% compared to the previous year”, enthuses Flo-
rian Weiß, who became CEO at jameda in August 2014. Since 
then, he has been responsible for sales, PR and marketing as 
well as personnel topics. Fritz Edelmann has been a part of 
jameda since 2011. In his role as Head of Product Management 
and as a member of the management, he has made a decisive 
contribution towards the positive development of jameda in re-
cent years. Along with Florian Weiß, he has now been appointed 
to the management board. As COO, Edelmann is responsible 
for the product, development, quality control and online mar-
keting departments. “Florian and I make an excellent team. We 
have the same understanding of values and the same goals 
concerning, for example, growth, personnel and leadership. 
Nevertheless, we approach issues in different ways and focus 
on various points during their assessment. It is important to be 
able to reach the best decision for the company in the end”, says 
Fritz Edelmann about working with his colleague. >

JA M E DA

M
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D R .  F LO R I A N  W E I S S

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

at jameda 

F R I TZ  E D E L M A N N

Chief Operating Officer (COO) 

at jameda
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Appointment at a click

The strong growth also triggered company-related changes. 
jameda was therefore able to attract plenty of new talent in 
2014, and doubled its staff to currently about 30 employees 
within one year. This meant that the previous offi ces were no 
longer able to accommodate the company’s needs, and so 
jameda moved to a new, modern offi ce that provides much 
better working conditions for the team and suffi cient space 
for further employees. The growth in personnel also meant 
that a new team structure with a focus on strong leadership 
was necessary. On the product side, 2014 was an important 
year for jameda. “With our new online appointment booking 
feature, jameda users can schedule legally binding medical 
appointments with just a few clicks. It is a feature that is equally 
valuable for both patients and doctors”, explains Fritz Edelmann. 
“The digitalisation of the health market is still in its infancy. As a 
result, there are numerous growth opportunities both at home 
and abroad. We don’t wish merely to accompany this devel-
opment at the interface between doctor and patient, we also 
want to actively drive it forward”, stresses Florian Weiß. “We 
want to bring lasting change to the market by making it more 
transparent and effi cient. This can only happen if we focus on 
the most relevant needs of patients and doctors, and become 
synonymous with an excellent user experience, meaning us-
ability”, adds Fritz Edelmann. 

The new offi ces of jameda

“With our new online appointment 
booking feature, jameda users 
can schedule legally binding 

medical appointments with just 
a few clicks.”

Fr i t z  Ed e l m a n n
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One million reviews

The portal’s traffi c shows  that jameda’s services and offers pos-
sess high relevance. 75 million doctor searches were carried 
out on the portal in the last year alone. In addition, just shy of 
400,000 new reviews were published on the portal, meaning 
that the company was able to celebrate its millionth doctor rating 
in February 2015. “Choosing a doctor is a hugely important and 
frequently emotional topic for patients. In order to be able to 
make use of their right to a free choice of doctor, it is essential 
that they are able to comprehensively inform themselves about 
professionals in this fi eld. Because of a lack of objective qualita-
tive criteria, the experiences of other patients in the form of doc-
tor ratings play a signifi cant role in achieving this transparency 
with regard to quality of health care”, says Florian Weiß. jameda’s 
relevance was also confi rmed by the Federal Court of Justice 
in September 2014. The “jameda ruling” reinforced the right to 
freedom of both communication and speech on the Internet, 
and confi rmed the view of jameda that the general public has a 
legitimate interest in obtaining quick and complete access to in-
formation on doctors. Doctors are obviously also aware of its im-
portance, and therefore jameda registers a steadily increasing 
interest on the part of doctors, particularly in comparison with 
classic business directories. “Doctors are increasingly seeing 
themselves as entrepreneurs, and view the jameda ratings as 
constructive suggestions concerning the optimisation of their 
range of services. jameda gives them a platform so that they 
can present their services and win patients over”, adds Fritz 
Edelmann. 

“In the future, we plan to further develop our products, features 
and services in order to open up new fi nancial opportunities at 
home and abroad. We also want to strengthen awareness of 
jameda among patients and doctors and maintain close inter-
action with other players in the market such as health insurance 
companies and associations; this ensures that we fulfi l our role 
as a leading force and partner within a changing market”, says 
Florian Weiß.  

“We want to strengthen 
awareness of jameda among 

patients and doctors.”

D r .  F l o r i a n  We i ß

jameda employees are getting their fi rst look at the new offi ces.

Audio tour in the new offi ce
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Singles with profile

E L I T E PA RT N E R

Photos on Alexandra’s IchzeigProfi l page

Check out 
her profi le

Alexandra, a native Austrian, studied 
International Business, works in 
Munich for a plane manufacturer and 
loves being outdoors. The perfect 
partner? “Loves animals and is not 
afraid to get his shoes dirty,” the 
37-year-old says. 

hen ElitePartner was founded ten years ago, hardly 
anybody would have wanted to admit to looking 
online for a lifelong partner. The fear of what col-

leagues, neighbours and friends would think about it was too 
great. Nowadays, the Internet is present in almost all facets 
of life and looking for love online has consequently become 
as normal as using a mobile phone. 

On the website www.ichzeigprofi l.de (I’m presenting my-
self), Elite Partner singles present themselves outside of the 
closed member area of the platform and provide a glimpse 
into their lives. 

No snobs

“With the IchzeigProfi l page, we want to provide insight into who 
our users are, and also what amazing, affable and varied people 
are registered with ElitePartner. In contrast to what some people 
may think, ElitePartner members are not purely status-orien-
tated snobs. They are simply people who value certain things, 
have lots of experience and who accordingly have interesting 
stories to tell”, explains Anna Kalisch, ElitePartner’s Head of 
Brand and Communications. Amongst the listed singles you can 
fi nd, for example, a businessman who would like to run a winery 
with his new partner, a sales manager with a penchant for back-
packing trips, a former French  prima ballerina or a single parent 
from Burkina Faso who would like to start life a new in Germany. 

W



37

TOMORROW FOCUS AG | Annual Report 2014

Photos of your favourite place

Every Friday, a new portrait of a single is published on the Ich-
zeigProfi l site. ElitePartner editors visit the singles at home and 
chat to them about their lives, experiences, special experiences 
and take photos of their favourite place, their pet or a particular 
keepsake. Pictures of a single’s home are especially popular.  
“In the beginning, we approached the singles and asked them 
whether they would like to take part. In the meantime, we are 
getting more and more applications through the form on the 
IchzeigProfi l site. We are extremely happy that our idea is going 
down well“, says Anna Kalisch.

Eight times more inquiries

Several thousand users visit Ichzeigprofi l.de each week. When a 
new portrait is put online, the clicks go through the roof. “From 
a survey, we know that our members like the feature, they fi nd 
the featured singles likeable and enjoy the appearance of the 
site”, explains Anna Kalisch. The portrait is a further opportunity 
for participating singles to fi nd the partner of their dreams. After 
publication, they get an average of eight times more inquiries 
than before. “Some of our IchzeigProfi l singles have found a 
partner by taking part in this. Naturally, that makes us particularly 
happy”, says Anna Kalisch contentedly.   

Check out 
his profi le

Snapshots of Hayo’s residence on IchzeigProfi l

Hajo from Westphalia usually 
goes by his gut feeling, which is 
rather unusual for an entrepre-
neur. The 63-year-old business 
angel is looking for a woman who 
can imagine living a few weeks 
annually on his vineyard.
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Ten facts about German singles
What are German singles like? This question, amongst others, was answered by the ElitePartner online matchmaking service with 
Germany’s largest relationship study, featuring more than 10,000 participants. Every year, the study investigates German attitudes 
and behaviour concerning love and relationships. 

Ten facts about
2015’s single man

Ten facts about
2015’s single woman

72 %

71 %

60 %

51 %

48 %

47 %

45 %

39 %

42 %

21 %

80 %

72 %

69 %

64 %

46 %

46 %

40 %

38 %

38 %

29 %

want everlasting love 

think sex is especially important 
in a relationship

think the most important thing 
in life is to have good friends

want lots of sexual encounters

would really like to fi nd a new 
partner this year

want to start a family

are happy with their lives

are happy with what they 
look like

cook at least once a week for 
themselves

go on at least one date a month

are looking for a relationship 
with intellectual exchange

want everlasting love 

think the most important thing 
in life is to have good friends

say they have an excellent circle 
of friends

would like to lose weight in 
the near future

are happy with their lives

regularly go away with 
their friends

would really like to fi nd a new 
partner this year

want to start a family

want lots of sexual encounters

Check out the 
ElitePartner study
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The changeover to the SEPA 
European payment system 
features a rather irritating 
side effect: the entry of the 
22-character IBAN code. This 
is now a thing of the past: With 
the newest version of the 
 iPhone app, the Munich-based 
start-up organize.me has 
launched an intelligent pay-
ment function that allows 

quick and easy payment of 
bills. For this, all you need to 
do is scan the bill. organize.me 
recognises payment-relevant 
data, such as IBAN codes or 
the amount, and automati-
cally fi lls in the transfer fi eld.

Scan, store
and pay directly

O R G A N I Z E . M E

As Germany’s fi rst doctor review portal, jameda has now 
reached a milestone of one million reviews. That means the 
number of given and verifi ed reviews from patients on Germa-
ny’s biggest doctor recommendation service having doubled 
within merely a year and a half. “This extremely rapid increase 
further illustrates jameda’s importance for patients on the look-
out for doctors”, says Fritz Edelmann, Managing Director of 
jameda GmbH.

jameda celebrates its
millionth review

Check out the new 
Organize.me app here: 

JA M E DA

doubled in a year and a half

The number of patient opinions 
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R A M O N A  JAC O B

Head of Quality Management 

at jameda

A N JA  K EC K E I S E N

CCO of HolidayCheck

K E R ST I N  T R OT T N O W

Commercial Manager at  

TOMORROW FOCUS AG
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Interview

T he compatibility of family and work has been a hot 
topic for years, especially when it concerns women 
in management positions. Politics and businesses 

are always looking for models that work. However, it appears 

that the fundamental problems still haven‘t been solved. We 
asked three female managers of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group about their experiences on the matter and where the 
biggest challenges lie. 
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To start with, what is important to you in your professional 
lives? And what must your working environment look like in 

order for you to feel happy? 
A N J A :  For me, flexibility is the most important thing, with re-
gard to both time and location. I divide a lot of my time between 
my family in France and my place of work at HolidayCheck in 
Bottighofen. This only works if the focus is on the results of my 
work, and not where and when I work. I want to be able to de-
cide that for myself. 
R A M O N A :  I agree. It is also particularly important to have a 
motivating working atmosphere that facilitates and promotes 
working independently as well as a good team with which you 
can trustfully collaborate.
K E R S T I N :  It is similar for me. Independence is important to 
me. It is a significant driving force in both my daily work and 
professional development. I would even say that you get a cer-
tain degree of independence only in management positions, 
so this was the right choice for me. 

Did you consciously plan your careers?  
Yes or no? And why?

R A M O N A :  Yes and no. Yes, because I’ve always wanted to 
develop professionally. No, because I didn’t consciously do it 
to advance in my job, but rather to develop my skills. But one 
probably triggers the other. 
K E R S T I N :  I can’t honestly say whether I consciously planned 
my career or not. But one thing I can say for certain is that my 
gut feeling always points me in the right direction in this mat-
ter. If you listen to your head too much, particularly if you are 
a woman, then the classic doubts start to creep in: ‘Is this too 
much responsibility’ or ‘Am I ready’. My gut feeling can always 
resolve doubts like these. 
A N J A :  For me, it’s a mix. The first step in tourism was by chance, 
but after that I definitely took my opportunities consciously. I 
accepted an offer from Microsoft because the company fas-
cinated me. This was due to my gut feeling, just like Kerstin 
described. In turn, Microsoft predestined me for the manag-
ing director role at Expedia, and things just went from there. 
I didn’t plan my career as a whole, but rather from position to 
position.  It is also important to make career moves based on 
how they will fit into your private life in addition to viewing them 
from a professional point of view. 

Have there been situations in your professional lives  
where “being female” has been an explicit advantage  

or disadvantage? 
K E R S T I N :  In my life, I’ve never had the feeling that it played a 
role. So far, I have not been sexually discriminated against, nor 
have I been passed over professionally. I also believe that my 
gender has not resulted in me enjoying any kind of special ad-
vantage.
A N J A :  I also haven’t experienced any preferential treatment or 
prejudice, but I perhaps became more well known. When I was 

at Expedia, there were virtually no female managing directors 
in the industry. During negotiations or lobbying, I would very 
often be the only woman at the table. I inevitably attracted at-
tention in these situations.

In your opinion, are there any typically male or female  
behavioural traits at work or with regard to personnel  

management? 
R A M O N A :  It’s said that higher levels of empathy and solidar-
ity are typically female, whereas men are more practical and 
reserved. The reality is actually much more complex. You find 
just as many women who show little emotion, and just as many 
men who act very emotionally. I’d therefore say that there are 
hardly any typical male or female behavioural traits, or even 
none. 
K E R S T I N :  I agree with Ramona. Men perhaps take more risks; 
this is not necessarily a disadvantage, but in some situations 
it’s no advantage either. Incidentally, men and women comple-
ment each other very well here. 
A N J A :  I also don’t believe that there are any typical male or 
female behavioural traits. I think that behaviour and manage-
ment style are shaped by the respective life situation. For ex-
ample, somebody who has children at home might be more 
aware that their colleagues have similar needs and conse-
quently might be more sensitive to the topic of work and family 
than somebody dedicated exclusively to their job.

Are you preoccupied by the issue of compatibility of work 
and family ? Where do you see the biggest challenges?

R A M O N A :  As a mother of two children, I have to deal with it dai-
ly. The biggest problems are time clashes. For example, when 
the children need to be picked up at a particular time from the 
nursery or day centre, and I either have an upcoming meeting 
at the same time or need to complete a project. Here, flexible 
working hours and telecommuting possibilities are a big help. 
There is still a fundamental lack of available places in crèches, 
nurseries, day centres and care facilities during the holidays or 
in the event of illness.
K E R S T I N :  I agree with Ramona. The biggest challenge is the 
lack of care facilities, not only with regard to crèche places but 
also their limited opening times. Therefore, lots of women just 
don’t have the opportunity to even come close to working full-
time hours. I’m lucky that there is a crèche located directly in 
my work building, open from 8am to 6pm. However, I’m also 
aware that this is not the norm.
A N J A :  When I had my son, I was working independently as a 
consultant and interim manager because it was clear to me 
that a managing director position, especially one with a start-
up business,  wouldn’t provide me with the flexibility I required. 
My current managing director position at HolidayCheck 
provides me with excellent flexibility. My son is older and my 
husband doesn’t have to travel so much any more. However, 
balancing everything remains a constant challenge,  > espe-



44

TOMORROW FOCUS AG | Annual Report 2014

At Microsoft, Anja Keckeisen was one of the co-founders of the Ex-
pedia travel portal. From 2001 until 2006, she was vice president and 
managing director of the portal’s German operations. Following this, 
Anja Keckeisen was a freelance consultant and interim manager for 

several companies within the tourism industry. She was also the direc-
tor of e-commerce activities for Thomas Cook and developed online 

sales strategies for the Europäische Reiseversicherung AG (European 
travel insurance business). She has been CCO of HolidayCheck AG 
since November 2014. The 47-year old lives near Paris, France with 

her husband and three sons. 

Ramona Jacob is a trained physiotherapist. During her maternal leave 
in 2007, she decided to study Cultural Studies at the distance teaching 
University of Hagen. After completing her studies, she started work in 
the area of quality management in 2011 at jameda GmbH. She was 
promoted to head of quality management in 2014. The 37-year old 

lives near Munich with her husband and two children. 

cially when something doesn’t quite go according to plan, like 
Ramona says. Lots of women have extremely high demands 
of themselves and tend to have more of a guilty conscience 
with regard to their families and colleagues than men do. Most 
of the time, the trick is to remain calm and not tear yourself up 
inside. 

How are you currently achieving compatibility? Do you have 
any tips for others on how to make it work?

K E R S T I N :  It is important to have a partner on the same wave-
length as you. My husband took paternity leave from the fifth 
month after the birth, so I could get back into the swing of 
things more quickly. He is self-employed and can work from 
home. That way we share the responsibility. 
R A M O N A :  It’s the same for us. My husband and I share family 
duties. He frequently works from home.
A N J A :  I would advise people to keep everything as simple as 
possible and never shy away from seeking support wherever 
possible, for example in the household. You have all the more 
quality time with the family.

What is the best way for an employer to provide support?
K E R S T I N :  My employer cooperates with a private crèche. This 
is of great help. It’s also important to establish acceptance on 
this issue within the whole company, even with regard to the 
small things. For example, to be considerate of people with 
different working hours or arrangements when scheduling 
meetings. This signals appreciation.
R A M O N A :  Yes, I agree with Kerstin. I particularly find that em-
ployees with the double burden of family and work are usually 
characterised by flexible thinking and a particularly structured, 
efficient working method.
A N J A :  Basically, it is give and take. The employer must provide 
the required flexibility for an employee with family commit-
ments and the employee must show the necessary dedication 
to the company. Both parties need to trust each other. 

In your opinion, why are there still few women in  
management positions?

A N J A :  I think there are a lot of reasons. In some industries, the 
tradition of male managers still prevails.  Now and again, struc-
tures need to be broken up. Perhaps this is where the women’s 
quota might help. Furthermore, networking is often important 
when it comes to advancing one’s career. However, network-
ing is time-consuming and must be done regularly. For wom-
en with the double burden, this often falls by the wayside. Also, 
woman are often the busy bees who think that their good work 
will get noticed on its own. They don’t take opportunities to 
present and position themselves. Women could learn some-
thing from men here.
K E R S T I N :  That’s right. It’s also a fact that women still mostly 
feel responsible for their families and take a step back from 
their work as a result. I believe that it’s almost impossible for 

After the successful conclusion of her studies in the field of business 
economics (specialising in taxes and auditing), Kerstin Trottnow 

started work at the Ernst & Young AG auditing company in 2001. She 
was appointed team leader in October 2004, taking responsibility for 
audits as well as their planning and organisation. She then became 

financial controller at TOMORROW FOCUS AG. In September 2010, 
she became the group’s commercial manager. The 36-year old lives 

near Munich with her daughter and husband. 
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both partners to work full-time when they either don’t have 
a grandma in the same area or can’t afford any external help. 
And, if we are honest, a management position demands a cer-
tain number of working hours per week. Part-time hours and 
management only work together to a limited extent. 

Does the Internet industry offer women greater or fewer 
opportunities than other industries?

A N J A :  I think that women definitely have more opportunities 
within the Internet industry because it is still new. Amongst the 
younger generation, it has become much more of an accept-
ed fact that women are occupying management positions. For 
example, my sons think it’s normal for women to work and for 
men to help out at home. I think that people are viewing the 
issue in a different way nowadays. 

The public debate concerning women in management  
positions has significantly intensified in recent years. In your 

opinion, has this had effects on the working reality?  
R A M O N A :  Yes, I think it‘s had a significant effect in recent years. 
At jameda, three of the six managers are women. 
A N J A :  I think that the ongoing discussion is speeding up 
change within this area. As women, we should therefore press 
ahead with the issue.  

managing directors
2 54

managers

56
Female managers at  
TOMORROW FOCUS AG

41%
Percentage of women at  
management level

B E N E F I TS  FO R  E M P LOY E E S  W I T H  C H I L D R E N :

  Co-operation with childcare centre in Munich
 

  Childcare cost grants for children not yet  
of school age at all locations

  Flexible working hours, opportunities to work 
both at home and part-time; 8 percent of man-
agers are currently working part-time

  5 days per year and child for care in event of 
illness, in addition to the legal opportunities.
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Christmas 2014 saw TO-
MORROW FOCUS AG tell-
ing its own version of the 
Christmas story, as well as 
shooting a video. Would Mary 
and Joseph have met each 
other through ElitePartner, 
prepared themselves for the 
Immaculate Conception with 
netmoms and written a review 
of the barn on HolidayCheck?

The entire Christmas story 
is available in HD quality on 

our YouTube channel:

Every year, employees from all of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group’s subsidiaries come together at the TOMORROW FO-
CUS AG Summit and Summer Party to exchange ideas and 
inform themselves about the company’s newest developments 
through talks and presentations. At the 2014 Summit, there 
were also creative workshops in which participants developed 
new product ideas for the travel, health, matchmaking and news 
sectors. 

Employee Summit and
Summer Party

TO M O R R O W  FO C U S  AG

The following video gives you a glimpse behind 
the scenes of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group, and 

also acquaints you with four new employees:  

TO M O R R O W  FO C U S  AG

The digital

Christmas story
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For its study “The Psychology 
of Reviewing”, TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG surveyed more 
than 3,000 Internet users on 
the topic of online reviews. 
The key results: Travel is the 
main review topic. 61.7 % 
of those surveyed have re-
viewed a trip or hotel at least 
once. After that come online 
retailers (61.3 %), restaurants 
(46.9 %), doctors (35.9 %), 
electronics (34.7 %) and 
clothes (34.3 %). For those 
surveyed, the main motivation 
for reviewing is to help oth-
ers. 45 % of participants said 
this. In second place came 
the desire for improvement. 
18 % of participants said they 
published reviews because 
the service providers should 
have the opportunity to im-
prove their products. 78.2 % 
state that they mostly publish 
positive reviews. This is more 
common amongst women 
(81.9 %) than it is amongst 
men (73.9 %). Therefore, 
men tend to be more neutral. 
Women publish positive re-
views slightly more frequently 
than men. The participants 
primarily use their laptops to 
read and write reviews. How-
ever, almost a quarter have 
used their smartphones and 
tablets for reviews. 

TO M O R R O W  FO C U S  AG

The Psychology of Reviewing

We asked 3023 Internet users

74 %
have submitted an 

online review.

Those surveyed can be separated 
into different reviewer types. 

17 %
11 %

45 %

18 %

The Top 4

The  
helper

The  
optimizer

The  
emotional one

The  
motivator

Study on Internet rating behaviour

How do you review most of the time?

78.2 % 15.8 % 6.0 %
positive negativeneutral

You can find the complete 
results of the study here:
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E S SAY

Essay

Why change processes are not to everyone’s taste –  
but are nevertheless good for you
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nitiating change processes 
in a company presents na-
ture with a tricky problem. 

On the one hand, we have 
known at least since Darwin 
that evolution only occurs by 
constantly adapting to new 
surroundings. “Adopt or die” 
is sometimes taken quite liter-
ally in the animal kingdom. At 
a corporate level, demises are 
usually limited to falling sales 
and returns. Whoever wants 
to move forward must change 
and adapt.

On the other hand, the human 
brain is not exactly enthusias-
tic about change. Neuropsy-
chology and images from CT 
scans show the great extent to 
which we are attached to the 
familiar. Scientists call these 
“patterns”. These are pretty 
much everything that is famil-
iar – from a mother‘s smell, 
the design of a car and the 
buttons on a website all the 
way through to coordination 
processes within a company. 

G U E ST  C O N T R I B U T I O N  F R O M

We trust the familiar. We fear 
the unknown. Familiar is good. 

Management change pro-
cesses need to take account 
of this ambivalence between 
Darwin and familiar patterns. 
We can fi nd our bearings 
during this uncertain transi-
tional period if we uncover 
the purpose of change. If 
we communicate and un-
derstand which beliefs and 
values are behind change. If 
we recognise why it might be 
worthwhile to accept uncer-
tainty and risk.

The purpose of change can-
not be found in cold fi gures, 
data and facts alone. Change 
processes are not Excel ta-
bles. They go much deeper 
– right down into the limbic 
system, which controls our 
motivations. Change pro-
cesses affect needs such as 

autonomy and freedom, con-
trol and power, security and 
status. The answers to why 
a change process is required 
therefore lies, above all, in the 
emotions and needs of the 
people involved.

Change requires strong foun-
dations, which organisations 
frequently fi nd in middle 
management. Middle man-
agement is able to use its 
powers of perseverance to 
keep issues on the agenda 
while equally having everyday 
contact with employees. Mid-
dle management maintains 
the change process and im-
plements it at an operational 
level when senior manage-
ment turns to its next objec-
tives. The team leader level 
must therefore be involved, 
taken seriously, mobilised and 
strengthened. 
Another key to successful 
change is fairness. We are all 
willing to accept even diffi cult 
facts in life. However, this is 
only if we have the impression 
that decision-making pro-
cesses are fair. Respectfully 
interacting with all parties in-
volved and exchanging infor-
mation between one another 
are essential. Employees 
must be given a “voice”. And 
having a voice does not mean 
direct co-determination. It is 
more important that employ-
ees have the opportunity to 
explain their own points of 
view and be heard. 

Change processes require tact 
and empathy, with managers 
also needing to display disci-
pline and stamina. Above all, 
they require brave instigators. 
Managers who encourage 
creativity and outcome impar-
tiality at every stage of change.

All of these components build 
trust. Trust is the catalyst for a 
lively change process through 
which organisations evolve by 
moving out of their comfort 
zones and into the next excit-
ing stage of their development. 
Trust makes people want to 
adapt to new “patterns”. Trust 
is the link between rejection 
and necessity. Between leth-
argy and Darwin.

During a recent seminar, 
I asked my clients what a 
change process tastes like. 
“Bittersweet!” came the 
unanimous response. Much 
like rocket and chocolate.  

“Change requires 
strong foundations.”

“Trust is the 
catalyst for a lively 
change process.”

C h a n g e  ex p e r t

I

A B O U T

Dr. Kirsten Gabriele Schrick is 
a change expert and founder 

of DSMC - Dr. Schrick
Management Consulting. 

She has almost 30 years‘ experi-
ence in advising companies
on management roles and 

assisting in consulting projects 
focusing on change and

culture management, as well as 
corporate social responsibility. 

In addition, her particular areas of 
interest are management-
level training, development 

and coaching.
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The slogan we have chosen for our 2014 annual report is Be 
the change! At the heart of this recurring theme is the idea 
that instead of seeing change as a threat, we should see it 
as an opportunity to help shape the future and perhaps even 
create something completely new. 
 The report introduces some very exciting projects and 
promising new products. Above, all, however, we are proud 
to show you the people behind those projects – employees 
of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group who have managed to 
overcome even difficult situations by following the call to be 
the change.

Looking back over financial 2014, there are many reasons to 
be pleased: once again, HolidayCheck generated above-av-
erage growth; Zoover played on its strengths to deliver a 
strong performance in difficult circumstances; ElitePartner 
boosted its earnings in a consolidated market; jameda again 
set new records for revenue and earnings; and our news 
portals, Focus Online and The Huffington Post, not only 
improved their reach figures but also delivered substantial 
growth in revenue.
 Although our digital marketing specialist, TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media, was unable to meet its growth targets for 
2014 due to the stagnating market in display advertising, it 
nevertheless managed to return a profit, and steps have al-
ready been taken to focus on new sources of income such as 
native and video advertising.

With much regret, we had to make a very tough but in our 
view correct decision on RPC Voyages. In view of the difficult 
market environment and an unpromising outlook, we decid-
ed to stop financing RPC Voyages, withdraw from the French 
travel market and target our capital expenditure instead on 
more promising markets that offer good prospects for our 
travel portals. 

In spite of sometimes difficult circumstances, we were able 
to boost the Group’s total revenue and operating EBITDA by 
7 percent and around 13 percent respectively and therefore 
reach the targets we had set ourselves in the previous year.

Travel segment: 
HolidayCheck and Zoover deliver strong per-
formance in the German speaking area and in 
the Benelux countries

After a generally quiet start to 2014, the German travel sec-
tor experienced a noticeable upswing in demand as the year 
progressed. Our travel portal, HolidayCheck, benefited par-
ticularly from this trend and was able to expand its market 
share, partly thanks to the successful introduction of a new 
mobile platform. 
 During the year under review and somewhat earlier than 
anticipated, we increased our stake in Zoover, the leading 
Dutch travel portal, from 51 percent to 100 percent. Dr Philipp 
Goos moved from jameda to take over as CEO at the compa-
ny. In terms of its operating activities, Zoover had a success-
ful year, expanding its market share, maintaining its revenue 
and pushing up its earnings despite a modest contraction in 
the Benelux travel market. By contrast, revenue and earnings 
both suffered at the Group’s Dutch holiday booking portal, 
Tjingo, where the difficult market situation posed an even 
greater challenge. We took steps to counter this in summer 
by integrating Tjingo into the Zoover infrastructure, the aim 
being to leverage network synergies and therefore reduce 
costs.

Publishing segment:  
a successful year for editorial portals but the 
display market remains difficult

Reach, revenue and earnings were all in line with confident 
expectations at the Group’s editorial portals such as FOCUS 
Online and The Huffington Post. As well as significantly ex-
panding their market share in terms of reach, they success-
fully established new income streams in the fields of video 
advertising, transactions and native advertising.  
 For TOMORROW FOCUS Media, the Group’s digital 
marketing specialist, 2014 was marked by a transition away 
from the conventional but stagnating display market towards 
a new role as a provider of integrated digital marketing ser-

Dear Shareholders,

Letter to
Shareholders
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Christoph Schuh
Member of the Executive Board

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer
Chief Financial Offi cer

Toon Bouten
Chief Executive Offi cer

vices. Its focus on new sources of income such as native and 
video advertising showed initial signs of success, allowing the 
company to reduce its dependence on standard display ad-
vertising by a very substantial margin.

Subscription segment: 
jameda records further strong growth

While our premium online dating agency, ElitePartner, delib-
erately chose to accept a small decline in revenue in order to 
boost profi tability in the face of a generally stagnant yet highly 
competitive market environment, jameda delivered yet an-
other strong performance in fi nancial 2014. As the clear mar-
ket leader in an attractive segment, the German healthcare 
market, the physician rating portal attracted a large number 
of premium subscriptions from physicians. This allowed it to 
generate clear double-digit increases in both revenue and 
profi ts. 

Holding/Other segment: 
management buy-out at Cellular

In November, as part of our strategy to focus on business 
models and services for end users, we announced the dis-
posal of our entire stake in the Hamburg-based mobile agen-
cy Cellular, which specialises in products for business cus-
tomers. The management buy-out was led by the company’s 
two managing directors, who are also its original founders.

Main focus on travel operations

In 2015, refl ecting the importance of the Group’s Travel seg-
ment, we plan to focus consistently on measures to develop 
our travel brands and products. 
 With regard to the companies that make up the Publishing 
and Subscription segments, we will be carefully examining all 
our options in order to devise the most effective growth strat-
egy for each individual brand.
 Our clear objective is to achieve sustainable increases in 
the Group’s total revenue and income. At the same time, we 
will make every effort to reduce what we see as the ‘conglom-
erate discount’ affecting the Group’s valuation by positioning 
and structuring our business divisions even more clearly in 
order to lift the current share price. 

We would like to thank all our shareholders for your loyalty 
over the past fi nancial year. We hope you will stay with us as 
we head further into 2015 and beyond. 

Yours sincerely

The Management Board

TOMORROW FOCUS AG | Annual Report 2014
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Active road show participation and
an award-winning annual report
Dear Shareholders,

We kept in touch with investors, analysts and business jour-
nalists with the same high level of enthusiasm and transpar-
ency as always during the 2014 fi nancial year. 

We took part in a total of eight investor conferences over the 
course of 2014 in the scope of our investor relations activi-
ties. What’s more, we also participated in fi ve investor road 
shows, including in the USA.
 In addition, the Management Board presented the com-
pany to interested analysts, institutional investors and press 
representatives at two corporate events in Frankfurt and 
Munich.
 As you know, we attach great importance to providing 
our shareholders with comprehensive information: our 2014 
annual report is just one example of this. Speaking of which, 
our 2013 annual report on the theme “Uncharted Territories” 
won numerous awards, including Gold at the prestigious 
LACP 2013 Vision Awards. 

In addition to our reports, we have made extensive details 
about our company available online at www.tomorrow-focus.
de. For instance, our website is where you can fi nd informa-
tion on our annual general meetings as well as presentations 
on key investor events and road shows. 
 We also provide followers of our Facebook, Twitter, Xing 
and Google+ pages with regular updates on what’s happen-
ing here at TOMORROW FOCUS and would be delighted for 
you to join us on one of our social media channels.

Best regards,

Armin Blohmann

I N V E STO R  R E L AT I O N S

Investor & Public Relations contact

Armin Blohmann
phone: +49 (0) 89 9250-1256
fax: +49 (0) 89 9250-2403
email: a.blohmann@tomorrow-focus.de

Sabine Wodarz
phone: +49 (0) 89 9250-1208
fax: +49 (0) 89 9250-2403
email: s.wodarz@tomorrow-focus.de 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG
Neumarkter Straße 61
81673 Munich, Germany

www.tomorrow-focus.de
www.facebook.de/tomorrowfocus
www.twitter.com/tomorrowfocus
www.youtube.com/tomorrowfocus
www.plus.google.com/tomorrowfocus 

Analyst ratings of 
TOMORROW FOCUS share*

RECOMMEN-
DATION

TARGET 
PRICE

Bankhaus Lampe Research Hold € 3.70
Berenberg Bank Research Buy € 4.20
Deutsche Bank Research Hold € 3.90
Hauck & Aufhäuser Research Buy € 4.10
HSBC Global Research Hold € 4.10
Warburg Research Buy € 6.00

* As at 28 February 2015. No liability assumed for completeness of information.



* As at 31 December 2014; ** As at 4 June 2014. No liability assumed for completeness of information.

Free float  
40.46 %

Burda Digital  
GmbH 
58.84 %**

Management Board 
and Supervisory Board  
0.70 %*

2005  € 89.2 million

2006  € 105.0 million

2007  € 134.6 million

2008  € 120.2 million

2009  € 177.6 million

2010  € 191.4 million

2011  € 177.6 million

2012  € 205.2 million

2013  € 253.7 million

2014  € 221.0 million

2014: TOMORROW FOCUS share price performance chart
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Market capitalisation since 2005 Shareholder structure  
(rounded)

KEYDATA
SHARE PRICE  
DEVELOPMENT 2014

DEVELOPMENT  
OF THE YEAR-END  
CLOSING PRICE*

Security identification number: 549532 Open in 2014: € 4.30 2005: € 2.09

ISIN: DE0005495329 Low in 2014: € 2.64 2006: € 2.45
Stock symbol: TFA High in 2014: € 4.45 2007: € 3.14
Market segment: Prime Standard Close in 2014: € 3.79 2008: € 2.55
Indices: CDAX, Technology All Share, Prime All Share Market performance in 2014: 

-11.9 %
2009: € 3.35

Designated Sponsor: HSBC Trinkaus 2010: € 3.61
Number of shares at 31 Dec 2014: 58,313,628 no-par-value bearer shares 2011: € 3.35
Market capitalisation: € 221,0 million (as at 31 December 2014) 2012: € 3.87

2013: € 4.35
2014: € 3.79

* Basis: Last year-end closing price for TOMORROW FOCUS share on Xetra

Basic data on TOMORROW FOCUS share
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Report of the Supervisory Board
for the 2014 fi nancial year

R E PO RT  O F  T H E  S U P E R V I S O RY  B OA R D 

Dear Shareholders,

The 2014 fi nancial year was a year of both highs and lows. 
For instance, while the Holiday-Check and Zoover hotel rat-
ing and reservations portals performed well despite intense 
competition, the diffi cult conditions faced by the French 
travel market weighed heavily on French holiday platform 
Ecotour. With no prospect of improvement, it was the Man-
agement Board‘s view that the only remaining option was to 
take the painful but necessary step of withdrawing from the 
French travel market.
 The situation was much the same in the publishing seg-
ment. The move by customers away from traditional display 
advertising to digital advertising formats, which has been 
ongoing since the fi rst quarter of 2014, posed a major chal-
lenge for digital marketing specialist TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media and its content portals. By contrast, the latter, led by 
Focus Online and Huffi ngton Post, performed encouraging-
ly well thanks to the diversifi cation of their sources of reve-
nue, in particular. TOMORROW FOCUS Media is also well on 
its way to becoming a cross-digital marketing specialist. 
 The sale of mobile service provider Cellular at the end of 
the reporting year represented an important strategic move 
towards focusing on offerings for end consumers as previ-
ously decided.

Main issues discussed by the 
Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG per-
formed the activities incumbent upon it under German law 
and the company’s articles of association during the 2014 
fi nancial year. It regularly conferred with the Management 
Board and diligently supervised its activities. The Manage-
ment Board regularly provided the Supervisory Board with 
written reports and verbal accounts containing information 
on the business plan, the course of business operations, fu-
ture strategic development, risk management and all of the 
company‘s major business transactions. The Supervisory 
Board was directly involved in all decisions of fundamental 
importance to the company. 

All resolutions proposed by the Management Board were 
approved after detailed examination.  

Outside the regular Supervisory Board meetings, the Chair-
person of the Supervisory Board remained in close contact 
with the Chairperson of the Management Board in the form 
of face-to-face and telephone meetings several times a 
month to remain up to date with the business situation and 
signifi cant business transactions. 

The Supervisory Board held a total of fi ve regular meetings 
on 20 March 2014, 4 June 2014, 1 July 2014, 15 October 
2014 and 4 December 2014. The Supervisory Board also 
passed 12 resolutions by way of written circulation during 
the course of the year.

The main issues discussed during the regular Supervisory 
Board meetings were revenue, earnings and employment 
levels, as well as the fi nancial position and liquidity of TO-
MORROW FOCUS AG and the Group.

On 27 January 2014, the Supervisory Board gave its approv-
al by way of written circulation to the extension of the ap-
pointment of Dr Schmelzer to the company‘s Management 
Board and Dr Schmelzer‘s employment contract, which had 
both been due to end on 31 December 2014, to 31 Decem-
ber 2018.

The Supervisory Board meeting on 20 March 2014 focused 
on the Audit Committee report, the contents of which in-

Stefan Winners
Chairperson of the 
Supervisory Board

 TOMORROW FOCUS AG
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cluded the findings of an audit of the consolidated financial 
statements for 2012 and 2013 by the German Financial Re-
porting Enforcement Panel (Deutsche Prüfstelle für Rech-
nungslegung, DPR). Moreover, the Supervisory Board dis-
cussed business performance in the 2013 financial year as 
well as the financial statements and management reports of 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG and the Group as at 31 December 
2013. It approved the findings of the audit and formally ad-
opted the single-entity financial statements, the consolidat-
ed financial statements, the management reports and the 
dependent company report. The Supervisory Board also 
approved the proposal made by the Management Board to 
propose a dividend payout in the amount of € 0.06 per share 
for the 2013 financial year at the annual general meeting in 
June 2014. 
 Furthermore, the Management Board explained the cur-
rent market and business performance to the Supervisory 
Board, focusing on the travel segment, in particular. The Su-
pervisory Board approved the proposal made by the Man-
agement Board to enter into negotiations with the minority 
shareholders of WebAssets B.V. to acquire the remaining 
49% share in the company.
 Lastly, the Management Board informed the Superviso-
ry Board of the current liquidity and financing situation. The 
Supervisory Board approved the proposal made by the Man-
agement Board to enter into negotiations with banks for a 
syndicated loan of €50 million. 
The Management Board also reported on the sales process 
at B2B holding Cellular.
 The final matter to be discussed was the agenda of the 
2014 annual general meeting. The Supervisory Board issued 
its approval of the agenda for the 2014 annual general meet-
ing on 25 April 2014 by way of written circulation.

Following the annual general meeting on 4 June 2014, the 
Supervisory Board re-elected its former Chairperson, Mr 
Stefan Winners, in its inaugural meeting. The Superviso-
ry Board also elected Dr Dirk Altenbeck as its new Depu-
ty Chairperson after the incumbent Dr Andreas Rittstieg 
stepped down as Deputy Chairperson with effect from the 
end of the Supervisory Board meeting. After Annet Aris re-
signed as a member of the Supervisory Board with effect 
from the end of the annual general meeting on 4 June 2014, 
and therefore also as a member of the Audit Committee, the 
Supervisory Board unanimously elected Dr Andreas Ritt-
stieg to the Audit Committee. 
 Another item to be addressed during the Supervisory 
Board meeting was the Audit Committee report. 
 Furthermore, the Management Board informed the Su-
pervisory Board of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group‘s cur-
rent market and business performance and Forecast I. Mat-
ters reported by the Management Board included the status 
of the sale of B2B holding Cellular, with the report focusing, 

in particular, on the willingness of Cellular‘s management to 
purchase the company in a management buy-out. The Su-
pervisory Board and Management Board also extensively 
discussed the business performance of RPC Voyages SAS, 
the persistently poor outlook for the French travel market 
and potential courses of action here. In conclusion, the Man-
agement Board reported to the Supervisory Board on the 
progress of contract negotiations to acquire the remaining 
shares in WebAssets B.V. The share purchase was approved 
by the Supervisory Board. Additionally, it approved the pro-
posal made by the Management Board to appoint Dr Philipp 
Goos CEO of WebAssets B.V. with effect from 1 September 
2014 and subsequently end his position as Managing Direc-
tor of jameda GmbH on 1 August 2014 by mutual agreement.
The Supervisory Board also approved the appointment of 
Mr Florian Weiss to succeed him as Managing Director and 
CEO of jameda GmbH with effect from 1 August 2014. The 
appointment of Mr Fritz Edelmann as Managing Director and 
COO of jameda GmbH was likewise approved by the Super-
visory Board.
 To conclude, the Management Board updated the Super-
visory Board on the restructuring of the publishing segment, 
the implementation of which was approved by the Superviso-
ry Board in June 2014. The primary purpose of restructuring 
is to group content offerings together in one company and 
marketing activities in another company, each under the roof 
of a yet-to-be-founded parent company under the name of 
TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH. 

In its strategic meeting on 1 July 2014, the Supervisory Board 
and Management Board extensively discussed possible stra-
tegic courses of action concerning the refinement and en-
hancement of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group‘s B2C activi-
ties, particularly in the travel segment. 

The Supervisory Board meeting on 15 October 2014 fo-
cused on the Audit Committee report. In addition, the Super-
visory Board and Management Board examined the tense 
situation at RPC Voyages SAS at great length, particularly 
with respect to the creditor protection proceedings launched 
under French law. 
 Furthermore, the Management Board informed the Su-
pervisory Board of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group‘s cur-
rent market and business performance and Forecast II. The 
Management Board also notified the Supervisory Board of 
the conditions attached to the sale of the company as ne-
gotiated with the management at Cellular. The Supervisory 
Board approved the management buy-out.  
 To conclude, Dr Jost Schwaner, Managing Director of 
EliteMedianet GmbH, reported to the Supervisory Board on 
the current business performance of ElitePartner and on its 
future strategy, particularly in the mobile segment.
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The item addressed in the Supervisory Board meeting on 4 
December 2014 was the current Audit Committee report. In 
addition, the Management Board informed the Supervisory 
Board of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group‘s current market 
and business performance. It also presented TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG‘s business plan for 2015, including expected 
liquidity, to the Supervisory Board. Following extensive dis-
cussion, this was approved by the Supervisory Board. 
 Another topic of this Supervisory Board meeting was 
compliance with the recommendations of the German Cor-
porate Governance Code as last amended on 24 June 2014. 
It approved the declaration of conformity with the Corporate 
Governance Code, which was jointly prepared with the Man-
agement Board, and discussed the efficiency of its activities 
at length pursuant to the Code‘s recommendation. 

Composition of the Management Board

The composition of the Management Board did not change 
during the reporting year. On 27 January 2014, the Supervi-
sory Board approved the extension of the appointment of Dr 
Schmelzer, which was due to end on 31 December 2014, to 
31 December 2018. 

Composition of the Supervisory Board

Mr Holger Taubmann was elected a member of the Super-
visory Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG in a by-election 
held during the company‘s annual general meeting on 4 June 
2014. It was necessary to hold a by-election after Superviso-
ry Board member Ms Annet Aris resigned her seat with effect 
from the end of the annual general meeting. 

Holger Taubmann is Senior Vice President Distribution of the 
listed Amadeus IT Group S.A., a global provider of IT solu-
tions for the tourism industry. 

Committees

An Audit Committee was formed once again in the the 2014 
financial year. Its members were: Dr Dirk Altenbeck (Chair-
person of the Audit Committee), Annet Aris (up to 3 June 
2014), Dr Andreas Rittstieg (as of 4 June 2014) and Stefan 
Winners. 

No other committees were formed in the 2014 financial year.

Corporate governance 

No member of the Supervisory Board attended fewer than 
half of the Supervisory Board meetings. 

In instances where relationships with companies in the Burda 
Group were relevant to discussions held by the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board on the strategic direction and 
future development of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group in 
specific business areas, the Supervisory Board members 
Mr Winners, Dr Rittstieg and Mr Welte did not participate in 
discussions in order to avoid any appearance of a conflict of 
interest. In addition, no conflicts of interest arose in 2014 on 
the part of Supervisory Board members in connection with 
their membership of the Supervisory Board of TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG. 

The Supervisory Board reviewed the efficiency of its activi-
ties in accordance with the German Corporate Governance 
Code during its meeting on 4 December 2014 

The Management Board and Supervisory Board issued a 
joint declaration of conformity with the Corporate Gover-
nance Code on 4 December 2014 pursuant to section 161 
of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG). 
The declaration has been made permanently available to the 
public on the company‘s website. Reference is also made to 
the corporate governance report on the company‘s website.

Annual financial statements and consolidated
financial statements 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG prepared its annual financial 
statements and management report in accordance with the 
statutory requirements of the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB). The consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report were pre-
pared in accordance with the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS). 

The Munich-based branch office of PricewaterhouseCoo-
pers Akiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
(PwC), Frankfurt am Main, Germany, audited the single-en-
tity financial statements and management report for the fi-
nancial year from 1 January to 31 December 2014 and the 
consolidated financial statements and Group management 
report for the same financial year. The auditor was requested 
at the time of the appointment to focus its audit on the key 
areas of the 2014 audit by the German Financial Reporting 
Enforcement Panel (Deutsche Prüfstelle für Rechnungsle-
gung, DPR), including the calculation and impairment values 
of deferred tax assets and liabilities. Other focal points com-
prised the impairment value of goodwill in the consolidated 
financial statements and of the long-term equity investment 
valuations in the single-entity financial statements, the rec-
ognition and valuation of intangible assets in the consolidat-
ed financial statements, additions to financial assets following 
the acquisition of the remaining shares in WebAssets B.V. and 
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their respective valuations, the disposal of shares in Cellular 
GmbH and RPC Voyages SAS and the deconsolidation of the 
aforementioned companies, the accounting of the long-term 
incentive programme according to the requirements of Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standard 2 (IFRS2), the reve-
nue recognition of jameda GmbH and TOMORROW FOCUS 
News+ GmbH, segment reporting, the Group management 
report, the restructuring of TOMORROW FOCUS Media 
GmbH and the impairment value of financial assets. 

Pursuant to section 317 (4) of the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetz, HGB), the auditor carried out a review and 
found that the Management Board has put in place a moni-
toring system, that the company fulfils the statutory require-
ments for the early detection of risks that might jeopardise 
the existence of the company and that the Management 
Board has taken appropriate steps to identify developments 
and counteract risks at an early stage. 

The auditor submitted the declaration of independence re-
quired under the German Corporate Governance Code to 
the Supervisory Board, and disclosed the audit and consul-
tancy fees for the corresponding financial year. 

The auditor detailed the auditing principles in the audit re-
port. It concluded that TOMORROW FOCUS AG complied 
with the statutory requirements of the German Commercial 
Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB) and the International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The auditor did not raise 
any objections in connection with the audit. 

The single-entity financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements received the auditor‘s unqualified ap-
proval. The single-entity financial statements, consolidat-
ed financial statements, single-entity management report, 
Group management report and auditor‘s report were made 
available to all members of the Supervisory Board. The fi-
nancial statements were discussed in detail during the Su-
pervisory Board‘s balance sheet meeting on 19 March 2015 
in the presence of an auditor, who also provided a report. The 
Supervisory Board went on to consider the findings of the 
audit on the impairment value of goodwill in the consolidated 
financial statements and of the long-term equity investment 
valuations in the single-entity financial statements before go-
ing on to discuss the deconsolidation of Cellular GmbH.

The financial statements and management reports for both 
the single entity and the Group were examined by the Super-
visory Board. This scrutiny focused on the acquisition of the 
remaining shares in WebAssets B.V. and the sale of Cellular 
GmbH. The Supervisory Board also examined the calcula-
tion and impairment of deferred tax assets and liabilities.
No objections were raised upon conclusion of this examina-

tion. The Supervisory Board therefore approved the result of 
the examination during its meeting on 19 March 2015. The 
single-entity financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements prepared by the Management Board were en-
dorsed and adopted by the Supervisory Board. The Super-
visory Board approved the single-entity management report 
and the Group management report and agreed with the as-
sessment of the company‘s future development. The Super-
visory Board agreed with the proposal of the Management 
Board for the appropriation of net income.

Audit of the dependency report pursuant to
section 314 (2) and (3) of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG)

In its meeting on 19 March 2015, the Supervisory Board 
also examined the TOMORROW FOCUS AG‘s Management 
Board report pursuant to section 312 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz; AktG) on the disclosure of 
related-party transactions in the 2014 financial year (depen-
dency report). 

The Supervisory Board examined this report and no objec-
tions were raised. The Management Board explained the 
advantages and possible risks associated with the transac-
tions specified in the dependency report to the Supervisory 
Board, which then examined them and weighed them up. 
The Supervisory Board also requested an explanation of the 
principles according to which the services provided by the 
company and the consideration received are determined. 

The auditor also examined the dependency report and is-
sued the following opinion:

“Following our statutory audit, it is our considered judgement 
that: 
1. the factual information contained in the report is accurate, and 
2. in terms of the legal transactions shown in the report that 
were conducted under the circumstances known at the time, 
the consideration paid by the company was not inappropri-
ately high.” 

The auditor submitted the audit report to the Supervisory 
Board. The dependency report and audit report were made 
available to the Supervisory Board in good time. The auditor 
attended the meeting of the Supervisory Board on 19 March 
2015 and outlined the main findings of its audit of the depen-
dency report. 

The Supervisory Board, for its part, examined the Manage-
ment Board‘s dependency report and the audit report pro-
duced by the auditor.
The Supervisory Board agreed with the audit findings and 
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approved the report based on the concluding results of its 
own examination. Following the concluding result of the au-
dit, there are no objections from the Supervisory Board to 
the declaration of the Management Board at the end of the 
dependency report.

Thanks

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Management 
Board and all employees of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
for their hard work in 2014 and wishes both management and 
staff the very best of success in the 2015 fi nancial year.

Munich, March 2015

On behalf of the Supervisory Board

Stefan Winners
Chairperson
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1. Group structure and business model

1.1  Organisational structure 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG is an Internet group with operations 
in Central, Western and Eastern Europe. Its core activities are in 
the fields of travel, online advertising, online dating and physi-
cian searches and ratings. Some of our brands have established 
a market-leading position. We have been an exchange-listed 
Internet company for around fifteen years. In 2014, our average 
workforce was 698 full-time equivalents (excluding employees 
in discontinued business units) at eight sites in Germany, the 
Netherlands, Poland and Switzerland. In financial 2014 we gen-
erated consolidated revenue of EUR 161.5 million. We operate 
over fifty European and international Internet portals.

The TOMORROW FOCUS Group is made up of the parent 
company TOMORROW FOCUS AG, which is a joint-stock com-
pany under German law, and 20 subsidiaries.

The registered office of the company is in Germany; the head-
quarters of the Group are located in Munich. The TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group is led by a Management Board comprising the 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO), the Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) and one other Management Board member.

The Management Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG manages 
the company’s business in accordance with the law, the articles 
of association and its own rules of procedure. The latter includes 
a schedule of responsibilities, in which individual business areas 
are allocated to members of the Management Board. 
The Management Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG is the 
only body with overall responsibility for the governance of the 
company according to the German Stock Corporation Act (Ak-
tiengesetz, AktG). By contrast, at all other levels of the Group, 
management responsibility is always assigned to individuals, 
who make independent decisions based on Group guidelines 
and rules of procedure and take personal responsibility for their 
own areas of the business. 

Within their particular remit and to the extent permitted by law, 
senior managers at TOMORROW FOCUS AG (including the 
heads of Finance, Controlling and Human Resources) have 
unlimited authority to issue instructions to all parts of the Group 
beyond their specific roles set out in the guidelines and their 
individual control and coordination duties.

Chief Executive Officer Antonius Bouten’s responsibilities in-
clude the management support functions:
- corporate development;
- human resources;
- Group internal audit;
- Group communications;

and the operating units:
- Zoover;
- MeteoVista;
- Tjingo;
- HolidayCheck;
- Ecotour (up to its sale in December 2014).

In his position as Management Board Member, Christoph 
Schuh has responsibility for the management support func-
tions:
- marketing and sales;
- trade association links;

and the operating units: 
- ElitePartner;
- jameda;
- organize.me;
- Cellular (up to its sale in December 2014);
- TOMORROW FOCUS Media;
- Finanzen100;
- NetMoms;
- editorial portals;
- marketing activities including client marketing;
-  subsidiaries and long-term equity investments with advertising 

business models (national and international).
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The Management Board responsibilities of the Chief Financial 
Officer Dr Dirk Schmelzer include the support units:
- controlling;
- reporting;
- risk management;
- internal control systems;
- investor relations;
- financial management of long-term equity investments;
- financing and bank relations;
- legal, contract and tax management;
- general administration and purchasing.

1.2  Segments

This management report contains a number of key financial 
indicators for the four segments: 
- Travel;
- Publishing;
- Subscription;
- Holding/Other.

In terms of geographic segmentation as at 31 December 2014, 
TOMORROW FOCUS was subdivided into National and Inter-
national. 

1.3  Description of business operations

Travel segment
The Travel segment encompasses all the companies that mainly 
generate revenue from transaction-based online business 
models in the field of travel. 

HolidayCheck AG (Bottighofen, Switzerland), Tomorrow Travel 
B.V. (Woerden, Netherlands) and WebAssets B.V. (Zeist, Neth-
erlands) operate a range of hotel rating and holiday booking 
portals that generate revenue in the form of commission for 
package tours and hotel bookings and from website links that 
take visitors to other booking portals.

The core sales markets for these web portals are Austria, Bel-
gium, Germany, the Netherlands, Poland and Switzerland.

WebAssets B.V. also operates advertising-based weather por-
tals. These are consolidated in the Publishing segment. 

In financial 2014 the Travel segment generated external rev-
enue of EUR 95.8 million (financial 2013: EUR 85.9 million). 
This was equivalent to around 59.3 percent of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group’s total revenue for the year.

Publishing segment
The Publishing segment is made up of all the companies whose 
revenue mostly comes from online advertising-based business 
models in the fields of news, finance, parenting and weather and 
from the marketing of online advertising space.

TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH (Munich, Germany) mar-
kets online advertising space on various web portals, some 
of which belong to the Group. TOMORROW FOCUS Media 
generates most of its revenue in the form of commission. 

TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH (Munich, Germany) op-
erates the news portal FOCUS Online, the finance and stock 
market information portal Finanzen100 and the parent portal 
NetMoms. Its own subsidiary TOMORROW FOCUS Content 
& Services GmbH (Munich, Germany) acquired a licence to 
operate the German online edition of The Huffington Post, a 
news portal and platform for blogs, in October 2013. 
These portals derive most of their income from stationary and 
mobile online advertising. 

Both TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH and TOMORROW 
FOCUS News+ GmbH are subsidiaries of TOMORROW FO-
CUS Publishing GmbH.

The core sales market for all these companies is Germany.

As well as the travel portals consolidated in the Travel segment 
under the Zoover brand, WebAssets B.V. operates various 
weather portals that are consolidated in the Publishing seg-
ment. All these portals generate most of their income from 
online advertising. Their core sales markets are Belgium, Ger-
many and the Netherlands.

In financial 2014 the Publishing segment generated external 
revenue of EUR 33.7 million (financial 2013: EUR 33.1 million). 
This was equivalent to around 20.9 percent of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group’s total revenue for the year.

Subscription segment
The Subscription segment includes all the companies in the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group whose revenue is mainly gener-
ated from subscription-based online models. 

EliteMedianet GmbH (Hamburg, Germany) operates the on-
line dating agency ElitePartner. Revenue is mainly derived from 
the sale of subscriptions to premium members. The company’s 
core markets are Austria, Germany and Switzerland.
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jameda GmbH (Munich, Germany) operates a physician search 
and rating portal by the same name. Revenue is predominantly 
generated by the sale of subscriptions to physicians. The core 
market is Germany.

organize.me GmbH (Munich, Germany) - formerly organice.me 
GmbH - offers an online document storage service by the same 
name and a scanning app called Scan me. The company began 
operating in February 2014 and aims to generate most of its 
revenue from the sale of subscriptions for premium services.

In financial 2014, the Subscription segment generated external 
revenue of EUR 31.9 million (financial 2013: EUR 31.9 million). 
This was equivalent to 19.8 percent of the TOMORROW FO-
CUS Group’s total revenue for the year.

Holding/Other segment
Following the sale of Cellular GmbH in December 2014 and its 
subsequent treatment in the balance sheet as a discontinued 
operation, the Holding/Other segment is now made up solely 
of the non-operating companies TOMORROW FOCUS AG and 
TF Digital GmbH, both of which are based in the German city of 
Munich. Neither of these companies generated any significant 
amounts of revenue in 2013 or 2014.

1.4  Financial control system and finan-
cial indicators 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG has developed a financial control sys-
tem to control and develop each of its subsidiaries. The aim is for 
those companies to grow faster than the market average. The 
financial control system defines a series of indicators for growth 
in sales revenue, profitability and capital efficiency and for the 
optimisation of our capital structure. To this end, a number of 
key financial indicators are analysed either every month, as in 
the case of consolidated revenue, Group operating EBITDA 
(earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation) 
and Group EBIT (earnings before interest and tax), or every 
quarter, as in the case of return on equity, the equity ratio and 
the capital structure. These indicators are then compared with 
the Group’s annual forecast figures and the twice-yearly extrap-
olation forecast (lagging indicators). 
 In addition, further non-financial key performance 
indicators are calculated each month for control purposes and 
are used within all the operating companies of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group (leading indicators). External indicators such as 
inflation rates, interest rates, general economic trends and mar-
ket-specific business developments are also regularly analysed 
for company management purposes. Regular meetings (jours 
fixes) and shareholder meetings are held with the individual 
subsidiaries.

1.4.1  Growth and revenue

For TOMORROW FOCUS AG, profitable revenue growth is an 
important contributor to long-term growth in enterprise value. 
Our aim is to exceed average sector growth in our sales markets.
 The indicator used to compare the Group’s perfor-
mance with that of each sector is the rate of growth in sales 
revenue as shown in the Group’s financial statements.

Growth in revenue*

 (Sales revenue for the reporting period / Sales revenue for the same 
period in the previous year) x 100 percent
*Revenue comparison based on revenue from continuing operations

1.4.2 Profitability

TOMORROW FOCUS AG endeavours to maintain or improve 
the profitability of its business. At Group and segment level, 
the indicators used to measure and control profitability are the 
change in Group EBITDA and Group EBIT. These indicators 
have the biggest impact on capital market communications.

Group operating EBITDA* and Group EBIT

*Further information on Group operating EBITDA can be found in section 
2.2.2.1.4 of this report under the heading Balances transferred to Group 
EBITDA and Group operating EBITDA.

1.4.3 Capital efficiency 

Another important financial indicator used by TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG is capital efficiency, which measures the return on 
equity. This indicator looks at the Group’s achieved earnings 
from the perspective of shareholders. 

FY 2014
€ million

FY 2013
€ million

Group operating EBITDA 23.5 20.7
Group EBIT 17.4 19.9

 FY 2013  12.4 %

FY 2014  6.9 %
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Return on equity

(Group earnings after taxes from continuing operations / equity) x 100 
percent

(Group earnings after taxes / equity) x 100 percent

1.4.4 Capital structure

A healthy capital structure is a prerequisite for sustained growth 
in revenue and earnings. In order to manage our capital struc-
ture, it is essential that we have broad access to a range of 
external financing on the capital markets and that we service 
our debts. 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG has established a target 
corridor between 0 and 3.0 for its capital structure. This figure 
is defined as the ratio of credit-based (i.e. interest-bearing) net 
debt (excluding earn-out and put/call liabilities) to EBITDA. As 
a financial control indicator, it tells us the approximate length of 
time needed in years to repay credit-based (interest-bearing) 
net debt from earnings without taking into account interest, 
taxes, amortisation and depreciation. 
 Further information on how this capital structure indi-
cator is calculated and what it comprises can be found in section 
2.2.2.2.1 of this Group management report under the heading 
Capital structure.

Capital structure

(credit-based net debt / EBITDA) x 100

In order to maintain a healthy capital structure, the company 
has also established a second target of keeping its equity ratio 
(equity / total capital x 100 percent) to at least 40 percent. 
 Information on how the equity ratio is calculated can 
be found in section 2.2.2.2.1 of this Group management report 
under the heading Capital structure.

Equity ratio

(equity / total capital) x 100 percent

1.4.5  Non-financial performance indi-
cators

In addition to an efficiently managed organisation, the following 
non-financial performance indicators make an important con-
tribution to the long-term success of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group.

Customer satisfaction 
Taking customer needs into account is an elementary aspect 
of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s business philosophy. The 
objective is to create optimum added value for customers by 
working precisely, to deadline and delivering high quality results 
while remaining flexible and aware of costs. In all this, we never 
lose sight of our customers’ interests. 
 Customer satisfaction with the services offered by 
our brands ElitePartner, Focus Online, Finanzen100, jameda 
and HolidayCheck, and with competing services, is analysed 
centrally each year on the basis of a net promoter score (NPS). 
This method involves asking a representative group of custom-
ers how likely they would be to recommend a given brand to a 
friend or colleague. The minimum target is an above-average 
NPS for our own services, while the ideal scenario is to lead the 
rankings. In financial 2014 there were no significant changes in 
this indicator compared with the previous year.
 Some of the companies that make up the TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group have established decentralised methods 
of gauging the satisfaction of their customers. 
 Members of the German Circle of Online Marketers 
(OVK), one of which is the digital marketing specialist TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Media, commission it to conduct a detailed cus-
tomer satisfaction survey every year. The survey results (not 
published here for contractual reasons) are evaluated in great 
detail by TOMORROW FOCUS Media, which then decides on 
and implements whatever measures are deemed necessary to 
make further improvements in customer satisfaction. 
 In addition, HolidayCheck is the first hotel ratings 
platform to have been awarded a certificate from the German 
Technical Control Board (TÜV Süd). The latest certificate is 
dated September 2014. It has come out on top in many tests 
such as the hotel brokerage portal comparison conducted 
most recently by the German consumer organisation Stiftung 
Warentest in May 2012. Second place went to Zoover, which 
became part of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group in July 2012. 

 FY 2013  0.41 

FY 2014  1.12

 FY 2013 52.1 %

FY 2014  53.7 %

Return on equity from continuing operations – 
financial year 2014 8.4 %

Return on equity from continuing operations – 
financial year 2013 9.4 %

Return on equity including discontinued  
operations – financial year 2014 -2.9 %

Return on equity including discontinued  
operations – financial year 2013 9.0 %
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The premium dating agency ElitePartner was awarded a new 
certificate by the German Technical Control Board (TÜV Süd) 
in September 2014.
 jameda was the first physician rating portal to gain 
TÜV certification (TÜV Saarland) in September 2012.

Sector and employee know-how
One of the main factors contributing to the sustainable develop-
ment of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group has been its extensive 
knowledge of the markets that are relevant to the company, and 
this will come to be even more important in the future. Con-
sequently, the TOMORROW FOCUS Group strives to recruit 
people with a good level of technical and industry knowledge for 
positions within the Group and to provide regular opportunities 
for professional development. We have established specific 
training regimes to help our people develop new personal and 
professional skills. 
 To this end, a wide range of training seminars is of-
fered for employees and managerial staff to support their pro-
fessional development and strengthen their commitment to the 
company. 
 Target agreement and feedback interviews are held 
between employees and superiors on an annual basis. 
 These measures form part of a corporate culture that 
is characterised by scope for creativity, flat hierarchies, and open 
and constructive communication.
 In financial 2014 there were no significant changes 
in this indicator compared with the previous year.

Product and service quality
The TOMORROW FOCUS Group is committed to delivering 
products and services marked by excellent quality and total 
customer orientation. To this end, regular in-house training is 
provided to the employees of the Group. In addition outside 
inspectors regularly carry out checks in relation to the quality 
of services rendered by individual companies and brands of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group. By way of example, the websites 
www.holidaycheck.de and www.elitepartner.de were awarded 
the s@afer shopping certificate by the German Technical Con-
trol Board (TÜV Süd) in recognition of their quality, security and 
transparency. We know that ongoing innovation, which allows 
us to keep improving our products and services, is vital to our 
long-term success. 
 In financial 2014 there were no significant changes 
in this indicator compared with the previous year.

1.5  Research and development activities

Development activities in the Travel, Publishing und Subscrip-
tion segments are conducted on a decentralised basis within 
the Group companies. To a large extent, TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG’s subsidiaries draw on their own development resources. 
The work performed by Group employees in this field is capital-

ised as software developed in-house, while the remaining work 
is recognised as personnel expenses. Whenever subsidiaries 
make use of externally supplied development services, that 
work is also capitalised, while the remaining development costs 
are recognised under cost of materials. In general, there are no 
specific research expenses. As at 31 December 2014, based 
on an internal estimate (excluding discontinued operations), 
around 140 staff were employed by the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group in development roles (31 December 2013: approxi-
mately 110).

Capitalised development costs for 2013 and 2014 are shown 
in the table below. In the financial year 2014, the change in 
cumulative amortisation on own work capitalised was minus 
EUR 1.1 million (financial year 2013: EUR 2.6 million).

Own work capitalised

2.  Economic report

2.1  Macro-economic and industry situ-
ation

2.1.1  Macro-economic situation
 
The overall picture of economic activity in the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group’s core sales markets in 2014 was one of mod-
erate growth. 
 According to Deutsche Bank’s Global Market Re-
search unit, inflation-adjusted gross domestic product (GDP) 
in the Netherlands rose by 0.7 percent (GDP 2013: down 0.7 
percent). The analysts put inflation-adjusted growth in Belgian 
GDP at 1.0 percent (GDP 2013: 0.3 percent). Again after ad-
justing for inflation, economic growth in Austria was weak at just 
0.3 percent (GDP 2013: 0.2 percent). The figure for Germany 
was 1.6 percent (GDP 2013: 0.1 percent), while Switzerland’s 
total output grew by 1.7 percent (GDP 2013: 1.9 percent). 
 The GDP figures quoted above are based on esti-
mates published by Deutsche Bank’s Global Market Research 
unit on 18 February 2015.

 FY 2013  €  2,653 thousand

FY2014   €  4,736 thousand
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2.1.2  Industry situation

The overall picture for financial 2014 in the core markets tar-
geted by the Travel segment’s transaction-based travel portals 
was uneven. While Austria, Germany and Switzerland all re-
ported modest revenue growth in tourism, the Netherlands re-
ported a decline owing to difficult economic and industry-spe-
cific conditions. Compared with the previous year, competitive 
pressures in the segment’s core sales markets were higher, 
largely as a result of increased marketing expenditure and the 
entry of new competitors. 
 Despite this, based on assessments by the compa-
nies concerned, TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s travel portals were 
able to consolidate their respective market positions and thus 
maintain their predominant role within the TOMORROW FO-
CUS Group as a whole.
 These assessments are based on the company’s own 
estimates.

There was an equally varied performance in the core sales mar-
kets targeted by the subscription-based portals that make up 
the Subscription segment.
 The markets on which the online dating agency Elite-
Partner is focused showed clear signs of saturation in 2014. 
The company’s own figures suggest a complete absence of 
revenue growth in the online dating sector in Austria, Germany 
and Switzerland. The picture in 2012 and 2013 was roughly 
similar. 
 As in the previous year, competitive pressures in 
the segment’s core sales markets were again strong, mainly 
due to consistently high marketing expenditure. Nevertheless, 
ElitePartner’s market position among the premium online dat-
ing agencies remained fairly stable, with an estimated share of 
around 30 percent of the German market. 
 In 2014, the physician search and rating portal 
jameda again generated stable, moderate revenue growth in 
its own sales markets.
 Compared with the previous year, there was a slight 
easing in competitive pressures. Accordingly, jameda was able 
to extend its leading position among Germany’s physician 
search and rating portals in 2014.
 These assessments are based on the company’s own 
estimates.

The overall picture for 2014 in the core sales markets targeted 
by the Publishing segment’s advertising-based online portals 
and the Group’s own digital marketing specialist was positive. 
Nielsen Media Research expects total gross expenditure on 
advertising in Germany to have been around EUR 31.3 billion 
in 2014, an increase of 4.0 percent compared with the previ-
ous year’s figure of EUR 30.1 billion. The total figure spent on 
fixed and mobile online advertising was around EUR 3.2 billion 
compared with EUR 3.1 billion in 2013 (up 3.2 percent), roughly 

10 percent of all gross advertising expenditure. TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG estimates that the gap between gross and net rev-
enue growth widened slightly in 2014. As a result, the net rate 
of growth in percentage terms is likely to be somewhat below 
this figure. 
 2014 was dominated by an unrelentingly high level 
of competitive pressure that affected both advertising-based 
online portals and digital marketing firms. At the same time, a 
clear trend emerged towards the automated booking of online 
advertising space. Based on the type of advertising medium 
booked, customers appeared to be moving away from con-
ventional display advertising towards new digital formats such 
as video and native advertising. The generally tough market 
environment in financial 2014 posed a great challenge not only 
to the digital marketing specialist TOMORROW FOCUS Me-
dia but also to the group’s in-house content portals. The latter 
nevertheless managed to generate a good set of results overall 
(especially Focus Online and The Huffington Post) by diversify-
ing their income streams. By contrast, results at TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media remained below expectations.
 These assessments are based on data from Nielsen 
Media Research and the company’s own estimates.

2.2  Business developments and perfor-
mance

Overall, the financial year 2014 was in line with the Management 
Board’s expectations. As anticipated, there was greater com-
petition in key business areas, and this led to higher marketing 
expenses as a proportion of total revenue. At 6.9 percent, the 
year-on-year increase in revenue from continuing operations 
was at the bottom end of the Management Board’s forecast of 
between high single-digit and low double-digit growth. How-
ever, Group operating EBITDA from continuing operations rose 
by 13.5 percent to EUR 23.5 million in line with the forecast of 
a double-digit increase. At EUR 17.4 million, Group EBIT (for 
which no forecast had previously been issued) was down by 
12.6 percent year on year (2013: EUR 19.9 million). 
 The company’s capital structure remained positive. 
At 53.7 percent, the equity ratio was up on the previous year’s 
figure of 52.1 percent and well above the minimum target of 40 
percent. Credit-based net debt was 1.12 times Group EBITDA 
and thus within the target corridor of 0 to 3.0.
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2.2.1  Business developments

Travel segment

TOMORROW FOCUS AG acquires remaining 49.01 per-
cent of WebAssets B.V.
On 5 June 2014, TOMORROW FOCUS AG acquired the re-
maining 49.01 percent of WebAssets B.V. from the former 
shareholders. It held 100 percent of the company’s shares until 
December 2014, when it sold a 2 percent stake to the managing 
director of WebAssets B.V. as part of an incentive programme. 

The shares were acquired in return for a total payment of EUR 
20.6 million comprising a fixed price of EUR 18.2 million and 
a variable earn-out component of EUR 2.4 million. As a result 
of the early exercise of the existing put/call option, the com-
pounded purchase price liability for the put/call option was can-
celled, thus realising other non-recurring operating income of 
EUR 1.6 million.

Loss of control at RPC Voyages SAS
In October 2014, after the failure of sale negotiations with po-
tential investors and the refusal of RPC Voyages SAS’s minority 
shareholders to provide further liquidity in order to maintain 
the company’s business operations, TOMORROW FOCUS AG, 
which at the time held a 55 percent stake in the company, also 
decided not to make any more funds available.
 Consequently, on 15 October 2014, judicial pro-
ceedings (redressement judiciaire) were initiated to protect the 
creditors of TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s then French subsidiary, 
and the court appointed an administrator. Following this loss 
of control RPC was deconsolidated on 15 October 2014, after 
which point it was classed as a discontinued operation. 

On 1 December 2014, TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s stake in RPC 
Voyages SAS was acquired by Karavel SA, Paris, France, which 
received EUR 1.2 million from TOMORROW FOCUS AG for the 
restructuring of RPC Voyages. TOMORROW FOCUS AG also 
had to provide EUR 1.3 million to cover warranty obligations 
assumed by the company.
 Intangible assets totalling EUR 13.2 million were 
written off before the creditor protection proceedings. This 
produced a loss on disposal of EUR 0.8 million and a net cash 
outflow of EUR 3.9 million.

Publishing segment

Restructuring in Publishing segment
As part of our wider growth strategy and in order to control our 
activities more effectively in this area, we made a number of 
changes to the legal structure of the companies that make up 
the Publishing segment. 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG concluded an agreement with TO-
MORROW FOCUS Media GmbH (now TOMORROW FOCUS 
Publishing GmbH) for the transfer of its shareholdings in Fi-
nanzen100 GmbH and NetMoms GmbH. The deal is linked to 
a capital increase by TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH that 
has now been concluded. In line with the spin-off plan, TO-
MORROW FOCUS Media GmbH (now TOMORROW FOCUS 
Publishing GmbH) split its Sales and Portal units into two new, 
legally separate entities. The marketing business was spun off 
into TOMORROW FOCUS Media Sales GmbH (now TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Media GmbH), while the editorial portals are 
now combined in TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH. Both 
new companies are wholly owned by TOMORROW FOCUS 
Publishing GmbH, and control and profit transfer agreements 
have been signed. 

Finanzen100 GmbH and NetMoms GmbH have been merged 
into TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH.

New company formations
The following companies were formed by TOMORROW FO-
CUS Publishing GmbH (formerly TOMORROW FOCUS Media 
GmbH) in August 2014 and are consolidated in the Publishing 
segment:

- TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH 
-  TOMORROW FOCUS Media Sales GmbH  

(now: TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH)

Subscription segment

Dr Florian Weiß and Fritz Edelmann form new manage-
ment team at jameda GmbH
In June 2014, the Management Board of TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG appointed Dr Florian Weiß, formerly Head of Corporate 
Development at the parent company, to the position of Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) at jameda GmbH. Dr Florian Weiß took 
over from Dr Philipp Goos, who in September 2014 went on to 
assume the role of Chief Executive Officer (CEO) at the Group 
subsidiary WebAssets B.V. in the Netherlands. The Manage-
ment Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG also appointed Fritz 
Edelmann, former Head of Product Management at jameda, to 
the position of Chief Operating Officer (COO) at the company. 
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Holding/Other segment

Sale of Cellular GmbH
TOMORROW FOCUS AG sold its holding in Cellular GmbH to 
the company’s managing directors in a management buy-out 
deal that took effect on 30 November 2014. The disposal was 
in line with the Group’s strategic focus on B2C business mod-
els and led to the closure of its B2B division. Cellular GmbH 
was subsequently classed as a discontinued operation. It was 
deconsolidated on 30 November 2014. Following write-downs 
of EUR 1.8 million under IFRS 5.23 rules, the loss on disposal 
was EUR 0.9 million.

Discontinued business units 
a) Withdrawal from B2B operations 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s realignment strategy involves con-
centrating on business models for end users (B2C) based on 
its Travel, Publishing and Subscription segments. In line with 
this strategy, TOMORROW FOCUS AG sold Cellular GmbH, 
which specialised in business customers, in December 2014. 
This followed the sale of TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies 
GmbH in December 2013.

b) Withdrawal from French travel market 
After TOMORROW FOCUS AG lost control of RPC Voyages 
SAS on 15 October 2014 as a result of the judicial creditor 
protection proceedings, the Group’s former French subsidiary 
was deconsolidated on the same date and was therefore no 
longer part of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group. This entailed 
the Group’s withdrawal from the French travel market and ef-
fectively closed off a large geographical area.

c) Analysis of results from discontinued operations (IFRS 
5.33)
Neither of the above two business units was previously clas-
sified as a ‘discontinued operation’ or as ‘held for disposal’. 
Following disposal, given their importance for the earnings, 
assets and financial position of TOMORROW FOCUS AG, they 
constitute discontinued operations within the meaning of IFRS 
5. For this reason, the Group’s total earnings from discontinued 
operations have been combined and shown separately in the 
statement of income for both 2013 and 2014.

Changes to the composition of the Supervisory Board
At the annual general meeting of TOMORROW FOCUS AG on 
4 June 2014, Holger Taubmann was elected to the Supervisory 
Board by the shareholders attending the meeting in order to fill 
the position left vacant following the announcement in March 
last year by Annet Aris, a former member of the Supervisory 
Board, that she intended to step down at the end of the annual 
general meeting of shareholders.

Holger Taubmann is Senior Vice-President Distribution at the 
stock-exchange listed Amadeus IT Group S.A., a leading global 
provider of IT solutions for the tourism industry.

New segment structure adopted from financial 2014
The new segment structure adopted by the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group took effect at the beginning of financial 2014. 
The new structure comprises the Travel segment (all transac-
tion-based travel portals), the Publishing segment (all adver-
tising-based portals including the digital marketing specialist 
TOMORROW FOCUS Media), the Subscription segment (all 
subscription-based portals) and the Holding/Other segment, 
which includes the parent company TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
and TF Digital GmbH.

The Travel segment brings together the following subsidiaries:
- HolidayCheck AG (Bottighofen, Switzerland)
-  WebAssets B.V. (Zeist, Netherlands) excluding the subsidiary 

MeteoVista B.V. (Zeist, Netherlands)
- TOMORROW Travel B.V. (Zeist, Netherlands)
- TOMORROW Travel Solutions GmbH (Munich, Germany)

The Publishing segment includes the following subsidiaries:
- TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH, (Munich, Germany)
- TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH, (Munich, Germany)
- TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH, (Munich, Germany)
-  TOMORROW FOCUS Content & Service GmbH, (Munich, 

Germany)
- MeteoVista B.V. (Zeist, Netherlands)

The Subscription segment comprises:
- EliteMedianet GmbH (Hamburg, Germany)
- jameda GmbH (Munich, Germany)
- organize.me GmbH (Munich, Germany)

The Holding/Other segment is made up of the following  
companies: 
- TOMORROW FOCUS AG (Munich, Germany)
- TF Digital GmbH (Munich, Germany)
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The tables below provide an overview of the Group’s previous 
and new segment structures and their most important brands:

SEGMENT TR ANSACTIONS ADVERTISING TECHNOLOGIES HOLDING

KEY  
BR ANDS

HolidayCheck TOMORROW FOCUS Media Cellular TOMORROW FOCUS AG
MietwagenCheck Focus Online organize.me TF Digital
Zoover Amica Online TFT (up to November 2013)  
Meteovista Netmoms  
Tjingo Finanzen100  

Ecotour The Huffington Post  
Deutschland

 

ElitePartner      
jameda    

Previous segment structure of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group (up to 31 December 2013)

SEGMENT TR AVEL PUBLISHING SUBSCRIPTION HOLDING/OTHER

KEY  
BR ANDS

HolidayCheck TOMORROW FOCUS Media ElitePartner TOMORROW FOCUS AG
MietwagenCheck Focus Online jameda Cellular (up to 30 November 2014)

Zoover Amica Online organize.me  TF Digital

Ecotour (deconsolidated on  
15 October 2014)

Netmoms  

Tjingo Finanzen100  

The Huffington Post  
Deutschland  

Meteovista    

New segment structure of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group (from 1 January 2014)  
including discontinued operations

SEGMENT TR AVEL PUBLISHING SUBSCRIPTION HOLDING/OTHER

KEY  
BR ANDS

HolidayCheck TOMORROW FOCUS Media ElitePartner TOMORROW FOCUS AG
MietwagenCheck Focus Online jameda  TF Digital
Zoover Amica Online organize.me
Tjingo Netmoms  

Finanzen100  

The Huffington Post  
Deutschland  

Meteovista    

New segment structure of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group (from 1 January 2014)  
excluding discontinued operations

The following companies were classed as discontinued 
operations and are therefore no longer included in the latest 
segment reports: see on the right.

- RPC Voyages SAS and its brand Ecotour
- Cellular GmbH
-  TIE Kinetix GmbH (formerly TOMORROW FOCUS  

Technologies GmbH) and its brand TFT
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2.2.2  Performance

The following comparisons of income and assets are based in 
all cases on continuing operations. 
 Although the income and asset forecasts contained 
in the 2013 Group management report in respect of financial 
2014 partly included discontinued business units, the company 
takes the view that the forecasts remain essentially unchanged 
even after excluding those discontinued operations.

2.2.2.1 Income

2.2.2.1.1 Revenue

At EUR 161.5 million, consolidated revenue at TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG for the financial year 2014 was up by 6.9 percent 
from EUR 151.0 million in the previous year. This was just inside 
the target of high single-digit to low double-digit sales growth 
set out in the Group management report for 2013.

Revenue in the Travel segment rose by 11.6 percent from EUR 
85.9 million in 2013 to EUR 95.8 million.
 This was mainly due to an excellent performance by 
HolidayCheck AG, which generated a year-on-year increase 
in revenue of around 13 percent thanks to a buoyant German 
travel market.
 By contrast, against a background of sluggish mac-
ro-economic and industry conditions in the Netherlands, the 
revenue generated by WebAssets B.V.’s travel operations was 
roughly on a par with 2013, while revenues at Tomorrow Travel 
B.V. end the year well down. 
 The portfolio of tour operators marketing their holi-
days through the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s booking plat-
forms was almost unchanged on the previous year.

Publishing segment revenue stood at EUR 33.7 million, equiv-
alent to a modest rise of 1.9 percent on the figure of EUR 33.1 
million in 2013.
 With many advertising customers moving away from 
conventional display advertising towards other digital formats, 
a trend that was particularly noticeable from the first quarter 
of 2014, the Group’s digital marketing specialist TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media faced a considerable challenge. In response, 
it began to reposition itself as a cross-digital specialist in the 
marketing of advertising space, a strategy that showed some 
initial success during the course of the year.
 The in-house content portals operated by TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS News+ GmbH responded successfully to the 
same challenge by focusing consistently on measures to boost 
their reach and establish alternative sources of income such 
as video and native advertising.  As the year continued, this 
strategy clearly began to pay off. 
 The WeerOnline and MeteoVista weather portals op-
erated by WebAssets B.V. and consolidated in the Publishing 
segment derive most of their income from online advertising. 
Compared with the previous year, they were able to increase 
their revenue by around 18 percent and therefore contribute to 
the segment’s overall revenue growth.

At EUR 31.9 million, revenue in the Subscription segment for 
2014 was on a par with the previous year.
 EliteMedianet GmbH, which operates the premium 
online dating agency ElitePartner, deliberately accepted a sin-
gle-digit decline in revenue in 2014 as a way of improving its 
operating result.  
 By contrast, jameda GmbH, which operates a phy-
sician rating portal by the same name, achieved a high dou-
ble-digit percentage increase in its revenue.
 organize.me GmbH, a start-up company that spe-
cialises in document management, was not yet able to make a 
contribution to the segment’s revenue in financial 2014. 

FY 2014
€ ‘000

FY 2013
€ ‘000

CHANGE 
 in %

External revenue Travel segment 95,813 85,891 +11.6
External revenue Publishing segment 33,713 33,073 +1.9
External revenue Subscription segment 31,925 31,917 +0.0
External revenue Holding/Other segment 42 134 -68.7
Total revenue for the TOMORROW FOCUS Group 161,493 151,015 +6.9

Sales revenue – individual segments and Group totals
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2.2.2.1.2 Consolidated statement of income

The earnings figures for 2014 include a number of exceptional 
items. The main details are outlined below.

Earnings in financial year 2014 were boosted by other income 
totalling EUR 2.2 million resulting from new agreements on 
earn-out and put/call obligations and a corresponding revalu-
ation of those obligations towards the former minority share-
holders of WebAssets B.V. and jameda GmbH. In financial 2013, 
earnings were boosted by other income totalling EUR 8.8 mil-
lion following a revaluation of earn-out and put/call obligations 
towards the former minority shareholders of WebAssets B.V.

Group EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortisation) for financial 2014 was down 12.6 percent 
year on year at EUR 25.6 million (2013: EUR 29.3 million).

Group operating EBITDA (earnings from operating activities 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation) rose 
by 13.5 percent in financial 2014 to EUR 23.5 million (2013: 
EUR 20.7 million) in line with the forecast of a double-digit 
percentage increase.

Group EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) stood at EUR 
17.4 million for the financial year 2014, 12.3 percent lower com-
pared with the figure of EUR 19.9 million for 2013.

The consolidated financial result of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group for the financial year 2014 was minus EUR 3.5 million 
compared with minus EUR 4.8 million in the previous year.
 This improvement was caused by a reduction of EUR 
1.1 million in financial expenditure. In turn, this was mainly due 
to a fall of EUR 0.4 million in dividend payments to non-Group 
shareholders once TOMORROW FOCUS AG acquired all the 
remaining shares in HolidayCheck AG in 2013 and to a EUR 
1.5 million decline in the compounding of put/call obligations 
towards the pre-takeover minority shareholders of WebAssets B.V.

Group EBT (earnings before taxes) for the financial year 2014 
was 8.0 percent lower at EUR 13.9 million compared with EUR 
15.1 million in 2013.
 
Group earnings after taxes from continuing operations for the 
financial year 2014 were EUR 10.6 million, down 14.3 percent 
on the previous year’s figure of EUR 12.4 million.

Consolidated earnings after taxes from the discontinued op-
erations RPC Voyages SAS and Cellular GmbH (both sold in 
financial 2014) and from TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies 
GmbH – now TIE Kinetix GmbH – (sold in 2013) were minus 
EUR 14.3 million in financial 2014 compared with minus EUR 
0.5 million in the previous year. 

Group earnings after taxes for the financial year 2014 were 
minus EUR 3.7 million (2013: EUR 12.0 million).

Group comprehensive income for the financial year 2014 was 
minus EUR 3.7 million compared with EUR 12.4 million in 2013.

Consolidated earnings per share from continuing operations 
for the financial year 2014 were EUR 0.18 (2013: EUR 0.21).

Consolidated earnings per share from discontinued opera-
tions for the financial year 2014 were minus EUR 0.25 (2013: 
minus EUR 0.01).

Notes to other items in the statement of income

The TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s other income declined from 
EUR 12.6 million in financial 2013 to EUR 6.9 million in the year 
under review.
 In financial 2014, this item contained non-recurring 
income totalling EUR 2.2 million from the revaluation of earn-
out obligations towards the minority shareholders of jameda 
GmbH and from the revaluation of put/call obligations towards 
the minority shareholders of WebAssets B.V. following the deci-
sion by TOMORROW FOCUS AG to exercise the put/call option 
before maturity as part of its takeover of the remaining shares 
in WebAssets B.V. 

Other income reported for 2013 contained non-recurring in-
come totalling EUR 8.8 million from the revaluation of earn-out 
and put/call obligations towards the minority shareholders of 
WebAssets B.V.

Other own work capitalised rose to EUR 4.7 million in finan-
cial 2014 (2013: EUR 2.7 million). This was mainly due to an 
increase in own work capitalised in connection with improve-
ments to HolidayCheck’s booking platform and with the expan-
sion of the start-up company organize.me.
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Cost of materials at the TOMORROW FOCUS Group stood at 
EUR 20.9 million in financial 2014 compared with EUR 19.2 
million in the previous year. This rise was mainly due to an in-
crease in the total fees paid to freelance staff.

The TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s personnel costs for the 
financial year 2014 increased to EUR 46.0 million compared 
with EUR 43.8 million in 2013. This was primarily due to a small 
increase in the total workforce from 681 to 698.

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible as-
sets was down from EUR 9.4 million in 2013 to EUR 8.2 million 
in 2014. This year-on-year fall was mainly due to a EUR 1.7 
million write-down in the goodwill value of Tomorrow Travel 
B.V. in 2013. 

Other operating expenses at the TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
rose from EUR 73.9 million in 2013 to EUR 80.7 million. The 
main factor here was a EUR 6.6 million increase in marketing 
and sales costs. 

Actual taxes stood at EUR 3.0 million, up EUR 0.5 million on 
the figure for 2013. This was due to improved local results at 
HolidayCheck AG and WebAssets B.V. that led to an increase 
in tax expenses.

Deferred tax expenses rose by EUR 0.2 million to EUR 0.3 
million in year on year.

Consolidated statement of income

FY 2014
€ ‘000

FY 2013
€ ‘000

CHANGE 
 in %

TOMORROW FOCUS Group revenue 161,493 151,015 +6.9
Other income 6,910 12,606 -45.2
Other own work capitalised 4,736 2,653 +78.5
Cost of materials -20,876 -19,197 +8.7
Personnel costs -45,983 -43,836 +4.9

Depreciation and amortisation of  
tangible and intangible assets -8,150 -9,409 -13.4

Other expenses -80,681 -73,944 +9.1
Other taxes -9 -2 +350.0
Operating result 17,440 19,886 -12.3
Financial income 283 130 +117.7
Financial expenses -3,819 -4,911 -22.2
Financial result -3,536 -4,781 -26.0
Earnings before taxes 13,904 15,105 -8.0
Actual taxes -3,003 -2,539 +18.3
Deferred taxes -252 -137 +83.9
Tax result -3,255 -2,676 +21.6

Consolidated net profit after taxes from  
continuing operations 10,649 12,429 -14.3

Consolidated net profit after taxes from  
discontinued operations -14,327 -450 -3,083.8

Consolidated net profit/ (loss) after taxes -3,678 11,979 -130.7

Basic and diluted earnings per share from  
continuing operations 0,18 0,21 -14.3

Basic and diluted earnings per share from  
discontinued operations -0,25 -0,01 -3,083.8
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2.2.2.1.3 Segment information

There follows a breakdown of the earnings situation for financial 
2014 in each of the business segments.

Travel segment
TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s subsidiaries in the Benelux coun-
tries, both WebAssets B.V. (Zoover) and Tomorrow Travel  B.V. 
(Tjingo), faced a sluggish macro-economic situation and above 
all weak sector growth rates. Against this background and de-
spite strong competition, WebAssets B.V. maintained its reve-
nue and achieved a double-digit increase in its operating result. 
However, the situation facing Tomorrow Travel B.V. and its travel 
portal Tjingo was more difficult. Under pressure from tough 
competition, Tjingo recorded a sharp fall in revenue, resulting 
in a negative operating result. 

By contrast, based on TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s own esti-
mates, the travel sector in the German-speaking area (Austria, 
Germany and Switzerland) generated moderate growth. At 
HolidayCheck AG, which operates in this region, revenue 
was up by around 13 percent and therefore recorded an in-
crease above the market average. Another factor affecting the 
travel market in the German-speaking area in financial 2014 
was tough marketing competition between the leading travel 
portal operators. This helped to drive up prices for Google’s 
auction-based AdWords service by a substantial margin, thus 
increasing HolidayCheck’s marketing costs. In turn, this meant 

that HolidayCheck AG could only achieve a modest improve-
ment in its operating result.

At EUR 22.0 million, overall Travel segment EBITDA for the 
financial year 2014 was on a par with the previous year. By 
contrast, the segment’s EBIT rose by 12.2 percent to EUR 16.7 
million thanks to a reduction of EUR 1.8 million in the figure 
for amortisation and depreciation. This increase was due to a 
write-down of EUR 1.7 million in the goodwill value of Tomorrow 
Travel B.V. that reduced segment EBIT in 2013.

Publishing segment
With many advertising customers moving away from conven-
tional display advertising towards other digital formats, a trend 
that was particularly noticeable from the first quarter of 2014, 
the Group’s digital marketing specialist TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media faced a considerable challenge in financial 2014. In re-
sponse, it began to reposition itself as a cross-digital specialist 
in the marketing of advertising space, a strategy that showed 
some initial success during the course of the year.

The in-house content portals operated by TOMORROW FO-
CUS News+ GmbH responded successfully to the same chal-
lenge by focusing consistently on measures to boost their reach 
and establish alternative sources of income such as video and 
native advertising. As the year continued, this strategy clearly 
began to pay off. 

FY 2014
€ ‘000

FY 2013
€ ‘000

CHANGE
 in %

External revenue 95,813 85,891 +11.6
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 21,980 21,987 +/-0.0
Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs -5,299 -7,120 -25.6
Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 16,681 14,867 +12.2

Travel segment

FY 2014 
€ ‘000

FY 2013
€ ‘000

CHANGE
in %

External revenue 33,713 33,073 +1.9
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 5,255 5,532 -5.0
Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs -1,852 -1,710 +8.3
Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 3,403 3,822 -11.0

Publishing segment
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The WeerOnline and MeteoVista weather portals operated by 
WebAssets B.V. and consolidated in the Publishing segment 
derive most of their income from online advertising. Compared 
with the previous year, WebAssets B.V. was able to increase its 
revenue by around 18 percent and deliver an above-average 
increase in its operating result.

Total Publishing segment EBITDA for the financial year 2014 
was slightly down on the previous year at EUR 5.3 million (2013: 
EUR 5.5 million). At EUR 3.4 million, the Publishing segment’s 
EBIT also ended the year lower compared with the figure of 
EUR 3.8 million in 2013.

Subscription segment
Despite a highly competitive market environment in 2014, Eli-
teMedianet GmbH, which operates the premium online dating 
agency ElitePartner, deliberately refrained from aggressive 
marketing and therefore accepted a modest downturn in reve-
nue as a way of improving its operating result. 

Thanks to its strong market position in Germany, jameda 
GmbH, which operates a physician rating portal by the same 
name, achieved a high double-digit percentage increase in its 
revenue and a substantially improved operating result.

Initial operating losses in 2014 were in line with expectations at 
organize.me GmbH, a start-up company specialising in docu-
ment management.

Total EBITDA for the Subscription segment rose from EUR 
2.2 million in 2013 to EUR 2.9 million in the year under review. 

Segment EBIT showed a year-on-year improvement from EUR 
1.8 million in 2013 to EUR 2.1 million.

Holding/Other segment
EBITDA for the non-operating Holding/Other segment came 
to minus EUR 4.6 million in the financial year 2014 compared 
with minus EUR 0.4 million in the previous year. EBIT was minus 
EUR 4.7 million (2013: minus EUR 0.6 million). The segment’s 
earnings figures for 2014 contain non-recurring income of EUR 
2.2 million from the revaluation of earn-out obligations towards 
the pre-takeover minority shareholders of jameda GmbH and 
from the revaluation of earn-out and put/call obligations to-
wards the pre-takeover minority shareholders of WebAssets 
B.V. This income was realised when TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
acquired the remaining shares in the company.
 The segment’s earnings figures for 2013 contained 
non-recurring income totalling EUR 8.8 million from the reval-
uation of earn-out and put/call obligations towards the former 
minority shareholders of WebAssets B.V.

FY 2014
€ ‘000

FY 2013
€ ‘000

CHANGE
 in %

External revenue 42 134 -68.7
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) -4,567 -438 -942.7
Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs -182 -194 +6.2
Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) -4,749 -632 -651.5

Holding/Other segment

FY 2014
€ ‘000

FY 2013
€ ‘000

CHANGE 
 in %

External revenue 31,925 31,917 +/-0.0
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 2,922 2,214 +32.0
Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs -817 -385 +112.2
Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 2,105 1,829 +15.1

Subscription segment
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2.2.2.1.4 Balances transferred to Group EBITDA and 
Group operating EBITDA

The table above provides additional information on exceptional 
items that have an impact on earnings and on earnings be-
fore taxes. The balances are transferred to Group EBITDA and 
Group operating EBITDA (both from continuing operations). 
We use Group operating EBITDA as a key performance indi-
cator. 

2.2.2.2 Asset and financial position

Financial management objectives  
The main financial management objective of the TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group is to safeguard liquidity at all times in or-
der to ensure that the Group is able to perform its day-to-day 
business operations. Another objective is the optimisation of 
profitability to attain the maximum possible credit rating with a 
view to obtaining favourable refinancing terms.

2.2.2.2.1 Capital structure

The table below shows the capital structure of the TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group as at 31 December 2014 and 2013. 

Information on changes in equity and financial liabilities can be 
found in section 2.2.2.2.4 Asset position.
 A healthy capital structure is a prerequisite for sus-
tained growth in revenue and earnings. In order to manage our 
capital structure, it is essential that we have broad access to a 
range of external financing on the capital markets and that we 
service our debts. 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG has established a target 
corridor between 0.0 and maximum 3.0 for its capital structure. 
This figure is defined as the ratio of credit-based net debt (ex-
cluding earn-out and put/call liabilities) to Group EBITDA. As 
a financial control indicator, it tells us the approximate length 
of time needed in years to repay credit-based net debt from 
earnings (excluding the effect of interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortisation).

1 JAN 2014  
TO  

31 DEC 2014
€ ‘000

1 JAN 2013  
TO  

31 DEC 2013
€ ‘000

Operating result 17,440 19,886

Plus: depreciation and amortisation of tangible  
and intangible assets 8,150 9,409

Group EBITDA 25,590 29,295
Minus: other income from sale of long-term equity investments/assets
Plus: other expenses from sale of long-term equity investments +161 +187

Minus: other income from revaluation of earn-out or  
put/call obligations -2,243 -8,768

Group operating EBITDA 23,508 20,714

Balances transferred to Group EBITDA and Group operating EBITDA

Capital structure

31 DEC 2014
€ ‘000

31 DEC 2013
€ ‘000

CHANGE
in  %

Total equity 125,493 132,648 -5.4
As a percentage of total capital 53.7% 52.1% +3.0
Non-current liabilities 65,758 79,891 -16.4
Current liabilities 42,657 42,079 +1.4
Total liabilities 108,415 121,970 -11.1
As a percentage of total capital 46.3% 47.9% -3.2
Total capital (equity plus liabilities) 233,908 254,618 -8.1
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In order to maintain a healthy capital structure, the company 
has also established a second target of keeping its equity ratio 
(equity / total capital x 100 percent) to at least 40 percent.

In June 2014, as part of a wider plan to restructure the way 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG finances its activities, the company 
entered into a syndicated loan agreement. Under the terms 
of this agreement, it can borrow up to EUR 50 million on a 
flexible basis for repayment until 2019. The company used an 
initial tranche of this facility totalling EUR 40 million to partly 
repay its existing long-term loans of EUR 10 million. A further 
EUR 18 million was used to finance the consideration paid for 
the acquisition of the remaining minority shares in WebAssets 
B.V. In addition, the variable interest rate tranches of an existing 
bonded loan totalling EUR 12 million dating back to financial 
2011 were cancelled and replaced by tranches of an equal 
amount from the syndicated loan.
 Interest on the remaining portion of the bonded loan 
is fixed at 4.83 percent. The interest payable on the syndicated 
loan is stipulated for each interest period. As at 31 December 
2014, the rate was 1.58 percent.
 This is a year-on-year improvement of 0.72 percent 
in the variable rate applied.

2.2.2.2.2 Investment

Reflecting considerable investment in technology, additions 
to software developed in-house rose from EUR 5.5 million to 
EUR 8.3 million in financial 2014 after excluding discontinued 
operations in 2013 and 2014.
 The main focus of investment in the Travel segment 
was on improvements costing approximately EUR 5.9 million 
to the range of services offered by HolidayCheck.
 In the Publishing segment, EUR 0.9 million was in-
vested in measures to optimise the range of services offered 
by FOCUS Online.
 In the Subscription segment, approximately EUR  
1 million was invested in expansion of the start-up business 
organize.me.

31 DEC 2014
€ ‘000

31 DEC 2013
€ ‘000

Current liabilities to banks 842 1,377
Plus: non-current liabilities to banks 54,500 36,770
Minus: marketable securities (classified as current assets) 0 0
Minus: cash and cash equivalents -26,640 -26,068
Credit-based net debt 28,702 12,079

Group EBITDA 25,590 29,295

Credit-based net debt / Group EBITDA 1.12 0.41

Ratio of credit-based net debt to Group EBITDA

31 DEC 2014
€ ‘000

31 DEC 2013
€ ‘000

CHANGE
in %

Total equity 125,493 132,648 -5.4
Total capital 233,908 254,618 -8.1
Equity ratio 53.7% 52.1%   +3.0

Equity ratio
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2.2.2.2.3 Liquidity

Cash flows
The following section contains an analysis of cash flows from 
operating, investing and financing activities in the financial years 
2014 and 2013.

Net cash from operating activities in 2014 rose from EUR 18.7 
million in 2013 to stand at EUR 23.5 million. This was mainly due 
to a year-on-year reduction in the non-cash income created by 
the revaluation of obligations of a remunerative nature linked to 
the purchase or sale of long-term equity investments.

Net cash used in investing activities rose from EUR 11.2 million 
in 2013 to EUR 17.6 million in 2014. 
 The main factors here were an increase of EUR 1.1 
million to EUR 12.0 million in the level of investment in intan-
gible and tangible assets (including software developed in-
house) and payments of EUR 5.1 million, predominantly due 
to the sale of shares in Cellular GmbH (cash outflow: EUR 0.8 
million) and RPC Voyages SAS (cash outflow: EUR 3.9 million). 
In addition, EUR 0.4 million from the 2013 sale of TIE Kinetix 
GmbH (formerly TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH) 
was repaid to the buyer. In 2013, the above sale generated a 
net cash inflow of EUR 3.0 million.
 By contrast, the figure for cash outflows for the acqui-
sition of consolidated entities less cash acquired stood at EUR 
0 million, down by EUR 2.4 million on the previous year.
In 2013, net cash outflows were used for the complete takeover 
of NetMoms GmbH.

Net cash from financing activities in 2014 stood at minus 
EUR 5.3 million, slightly down from the figure of minus EUR 
4.8 million in the previous year. Cash inflows of EUR 40 million in 

connection with new bank borrowings were partly offset by loan 
repayments and dividend payments in 2014 that produced cash 
outflows of EUR 22.7 million and EUR 3.5 million respectively.
 In 2013, net inflows of EUR 18.5 million from a cash 
capital increase were partly offset by cash outflows of EUR 1.2 
million for loan repayments and EUR 3.5 million in respect of 
dividends.
 There was a small increase in cash ouflows for the 
acquisition of additional shares in companies that were already 
consolidated. These rose by EUR 0.9 million to EUR 18.2 million 
year on year. At EUR 15.2 million, net cash outflows in financial 
2013 were mainly used to purchase the remaining shares in 
HolidayCheck AG. TOMORROW FOCUS AG also settled an 
earn-out obligation of EUR 2.0 million linked to the purchase 
of shares in RPC Voyages SAS. In 2014, net cash outflows were 
used entirely for the early purchase of the remaining shares in 
WebAssets B.V.

As a result, cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year 2014 stood at EUR 26.6 million, slightly up from EUR 26.1 
million at the end of financial 2013.

Financial resources
Our financial resources are based on a variety of current and 
non-current financial instruments. These include bank loans, 
the remaining fixed-rate portion (EUR 14.5 million) of the 
bonded loan - the variable-rate portion of this bonded loan 
totalled EUR 12 million and was cancelled in financial 2014 
before maturity - and credit lines. In addition to cash and cash 
equivalents and financial assets available for sale, liquidity is 
also provided out of future cash flows from operating activities.
 We need capital in order to service our financial li-
abilities in line with repayment schedules; to fund regular in-
vestment; to cover ongoing capital requirements linked to our 

FINANCIAL YEAR END  
2014

€ ‘000

FINANCIAL YEAR END  
2013

€ ‘000

CASH FLOW FROM

operating activities 23,538 18,694
investing activities -17,635 -11,167
financing activities -5,343 -4,813

Cashflows
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operating activities; to make dividend payments; to arrange 
financing; and to fund cash outflows related to portfolio activi-
ties.

The main components of our total liabilities are: liabilities to 
banks; trade payables; prepayments in connection with trades; 
personnel liabilities; and tax liabilities. Our total liabilities to 
banks are made up of the following items as shown in the con-
solidated balance sheet: current liabilities to banks; the portions 
of non-current liabilities to banks with current maturities; and 
non-current liabilities to banks.

The figure for total liquidity relates to the liquid assets that 
were available to us on a given balance sheet date to finance 
our operating activities and to pay current liabilities. These are 
made up of cash and cash equivalents and current financial 
assets that can be sold at short notice, as shown in the con-
solidated balance sheet. Credit-based (interest-bearing) net 
debt is calculated by deducting total cash and cash equivalents 
and marketable securities (classified as current assets) from 
total liabilities to banks. Our senior management team uses 
credit-based net debt as an indicator both for internal financial 
management purposes and in external communications with 
investors and analysts, for whom we believe it provides useful 
information. Nevertheless, it should not be regarded in isolation 
or as an alternative to current and non-current financial liabili-
ties, as shown in accordance with IFRS rules. 

In June 2014, as part of a wider plan to restructure the way 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG finances its activities, the company 
entered into a syndicated loan agreement. Under the terms of 
this agreement, it can borrow up to EUR 50 million on a flexible 
basis for repayment until 2019. The company used an initial 
tranche of this facility totalling EUR 40 million to partly repay 
its existing long-term loans of EUR 10 million. A further EUR 
18 million was used to finance the consideration paid for the 
acquisition of the remaining minority shares in WebAssets B.V. 
In addition, the variable interest rate tranches of the existing 
bonded loan totalling EUR 12 million were cancelled. The total 
remaining liabilities under the terms of the March 2011 bonded 
loan are EUR 14.5 million, comprising EUR 13.0 million at 4.832 

percent p. a. and EUR 1.5 million at 4.984 percent fixed rate 
bonded loans, both repayable in March 2016.

As at 31 December 2014, TOMORROW FOCUS AG could draw 
on unused credit lines totalling EUR 9.0 million for general cor-
porate financing purposes.

In order to finance its acquisition of the remaining shares in 
WebAssets B.V. in 2014, TOMORROW FOCUS AG signed a 
new agreement stipulating a fixed purchase price and a variable 
earn-out obligation based on a valuation of EUR 2.4 million 
(revalued at the end of the year at EUR 2.0 million). Another 
earn-out obligation of EUR 3.8 million remains in place towards 
the pre-takeover shareholders of jameda GmbH. These obli-
gations are shown in the balance sheet as a total of EUR 5.8 
million under other liabilities. The previous year’s figures contain 
residual earn-out and put/call obligations totalling EUR 29.3 
million dating back to the corporate takeovers in 2012. 

We limit the risk of changes in the fair value of future cash flows 
in connection with our loans and bonds by employing deriva-
tive financial instruments that involve swapping variable-rate 
interest payments for fixed-rate interest payments. Our Group 
Treasury unit has established a comprehensive Group-wide 
system of interest-rate risk management with a view to optimis-
ing the Group’s interest income and expenses and controlling 
its overall exposure to interest-rate risks. This encompasses 
both valuation risks that affect net income and economic risks 
created by changes in interest rates.

31 DEC 2014
€ ‘000

31 DEC 2013
€ ‘000

Current liabilities to banks 842 1,377
Plus: non-current liabilities to banks 54,500 36,770
Minus: cash and cash equivalents -26,640 -26,068
Minus: marketable securities(classified as current assets)   0 0
Credit-based net debt 28,702 12,079

Credit-based (interest-bearing) net debt
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Contractual liabilities
With regard to the Group’s ordinary business activities, the main 
contractual liabilities affecting cash flow are its obligations to 
service liabilities to banks.

Liabilities to banks 
As far as liabilities to banks are concerned, TOMORROW FO-
CUS had outstanding current and non-current liabilities to 
banks totalling EUR 55.3 million as at 31 December 2014, 
of which EUR 0.8 million are repayable within the next twelve 
months. Current liabilities to banks include a bank loan with a 
current maturity and deferred interest payments.

2.2.2.2.4 Asset position

On the assets side of the consolidated balance sheet, non-cur-
rent assets were down by 7.8 percent from EUR 192.6 million 
in 2013 to EUR 177.5 million as at 31 December 2014. This 
was primarily attributable to a decrease of EUR 11.1 million in 
total goodwill following write-downs of EUR 10.6 million and 
EUR 0.5 million respectively for RPC Voyages SAS and Cellular 
GmbH, both of which were sold in the year under review. An-
other factor was a decrease in the item ‘Concessions, industrial 
property rights and similar rights and assets as well as licences 
to such rights and assets’. This balance sheet item ended the 
year EUR 6.0 million lower, partly due to the write-down and/or 
disposal of trade marks valued at EUR 2.7 million in the case of 
RPC Voyages SAS and EUR 1.4 million for Cellular.  
 At the same time, software developed in-house 
rose by EUR 2.1 million to EUR 14.9 million. This was largely 
attributable to an increase in own work capitalised following 
improvements made to HolidayCheck’s booking platform and 
measures to expand the start-up company organize.me.
 At EUR 1.7 million, the balance-sheet figure for de-
ferred tax assets was down by EUR 0.4 million, mainly owing to 
the disposal of RPC Voyages SAS.

At EUR 56.4 million, current assets as at 31 December 2014 
were 9.0 percent lower compared with the previous year’s figure 
of EUR 62.0 million.
 One of the key factors here was a decrease of EUR 
1.4 million in trade receivables, which ended the year at EUR 
26.1 million, mainly as a result of the disposal of discontinued 
operations. If these disposals are excluded, trade receivables 
show an increase roughly matching that of total Group revenue.

Other assets ended the year down EUR 4.1 million, primarily 
due to a reduction of EUR 2.9 million in prepayments. The pre-
vious year’s figure contained other receivables totalling EUR 0.9 
million at RPC Voyages SAS and a receivable of EUR 0.6 million 
under a profit transfer agreement with TIE Kinetix GmbH, which 
was sold in 2013. A EUR 0.5 million decline in sales tax receiv-
ables (partly from discontinued operations) also contributed 
to the overall downturn.
 By contrast, there was a modest increase of EUR 0.5 
million in cash and cash equivalents, which ended the year at 
EUR 26.6 million (see 2.2.2.2.3). 

On the liabilities side of the consolidated balance sheet, equity 
was EUR 125.5 million as at 31 December 2014, which is 5.4 
percent lower than the year-end figure of EUR 132.6 million 
for 2013.
 This was mainly due to a reduction of EUR 7.2 million 
in consolidated retained earnings, which stood at minus EUR 
15.1 million. This reduction is the total of consolidated earnings 
after taxes (minus EUR 3.7 million) and the dividend payment 
(EUR 3.5 million). 
 Although equity ended the year slightly lower, a sharp 
decline in liabilities pushed the equity ratio up from 52.1 percent 
in 2013 to 53.7 percent as at 31 December 2014. As in the 
previous year, it was therefore well above the forecast minimum 
40 percent target regarded as necessary to maintain a healthy 
capital structure.
 As an indicator of capital efficiency, the return on 
equity from continuing operations declined from 9.4 percent in 
2013 to 8.5 percent in the year under review. Nevertheless, it 
remained within the target corridor of between 5 and 7 percent 
forecast for the financial year 2014. 

Non-current liabilities fell sharply by 17.7 percent from EUR 
79.9 million to EUR 65.8 million as at 31 December 2014.
 The main factor here was a decrease of EUR 32.7 
million to EUR 3.7 million in other liabilities. This was primarily 
caused by TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s decision to exercise the 
put/call option linked to its acquisition of the remaining shares 
in WebAssets B.V. before maturity. This option was previously 
recognised under other liabilities at EUR 22.1 million. Another 
factor was the reclassification of liabilities totalling EUR 3.8 mil-
lion towards the founders of jameda GmbH. These are shown in 
the financial statements for 2014 under other current liabilities. 
Derecognition of the put/call option and the associated claims 
to remuneration of the minority shareholders of RPC Voyages 
SAS following the instigation of creditor protection proceedings 
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at that company also contributed EUR 4.7 million to a decrease 
in total other liabilities. 
 Overall, these reductions outweighed a number of 
increases in non-current liabilities. These mainly concerned 
liabilities to banks, which rose by EUR 17.7 million following the 
restructuring of TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s total borrowing re-
quirements, and provisions for pensions and similar obligations, 
which ended the year EUR 0.8 million higher.

Current liabilities rose by a modest 1.4 percent from EUR 42.1 
million to EUR 42.7 million as at 31 December 2014. The main 
factor here was an increase of EUR 4.6 million in other liabilities, 
primarily attributable to the reclassification outlined above (see 
non-current liabilities). In addition, other provisions rose slightly 
by EUR 0.3 million to stand at EUR 1.2 million.
 At the same time, liabilities to banks fell by EUR 0.5 
million to EUR 0.8 million; liabilities to affiliated entities by EUR 
0.4 million to EUR 3.5 million; income tax liabilities by EUR 0.3 
million to EUR 2.0 million; and trade payables by EUR 3.2 million 
to EUR 12.2 million.
 The overall reduction in trade payables was mainly 
attributable to the Group’s discontinued operations (EUR 1.9 
million).

The figure for total liabilities ended the year 11.1 percent lower 
at EUR 108.4 million compared with the year-end figure of EUR 
122.0 million for 2013.

Total assets fell by 8.1 percent from EUR 254.6 million at the 
end of 2013 to EUR 233.9 million as at 31 December 2014.

The relationship between items in the balance sheet shows a 
shift towards a higher equity ratio. Current liabilities are covered 
entirely by current assets, while non-current assets are covered 
entirely by equity and non-current liabilities.

3.  Events after the balance sheet date

TOMORROW FOCUS AG receives offer for 
TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH 
In February 2015, TOMORROW FOCUS AG received a 
non-binding offer from its main shareholder, Burda Digital 
GmbH, to buy TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH. The of-
fer price is in the region of EUR 30 million and is subject to var-
ious conditions. Although the negotiations are at an advanced 
stage, an agreement has not yet been signed. TOMORROW 

FOCUS Publishing GmbH is responsible for the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group’s main advertising-based operations, including 
the news and utility journalism site FOCUS Online; the Ger-
man-language edition of The Huffington Post, a news portal 
and platform for blogs; the stock market information portal 
Finanzen100; the parent portal NetMoms; and TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media, which specialises in digital marketing.
 No further events occurred after the balance sheet 
date that were of material significance to TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG.

4.  Report on expected developments, 
opportunities and risks

4.1  Report on expected developments 

4.1.1  Expected macro-economic developments
Our original forecasts for economic growth in 2014 in the TO-
MORROW FOCUS Group’s core sales markets were premised 
on a moderate economic recovery. In line with the forecasts 
issued by Deutsche Bank’s Global Market Research unit, we 
anticipated the following growth in GDP after adjusting for in-
flation:
- Netherlands: 0.7 percent
- Belgium: 1.2 percent
- Austria: 1.4 percent
- Germany: 1.5 percent
- Switzerland: 2.1 percent

Based on information supplied by Deutsche Bank, actual infla-
tion-adjusted growth in GDP for these countries was:
- Netherlands: 0.7 percent
- Belgium: 1.0 percent
- Austria: 0.3 percent
- Germany: 1.6 percent
- Switzerland: 1.7 percent

Overall, this confirms the forecast of moderate economic 
growth in the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s core sales mar-
kets in the financial year 2014.

For the current year, Deutsche Bank’s Global Market Research 
unit again anticipates a moderate economic recovery in the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s core sales markets. 
 Inflation-adjusted gross domestic product (GDP) in 
the Netherlands is expected to grow by 1.7 percent. Deutsche 
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Bank’s analysts forecast inflation-adjusted growth in Belgian 
GDP of 1.3 percent. Again after adjusting for inflation, Austrian 
GDP is forecast to grow by 1.2 percent and Germany’s GDP 
by 1.4 percent. According to the Deutsche Bank experts, the 
fastest growth will be in Switzerland, where inflation-adjusted 
GDP is expected to rise by 1.8 percent. 
 The GDP figures quoted above are based on esti-
mates published by Deutsche Bank’s Global Market Research 
unit on 18 February 2015.

4.1.2  Expected industry developments

In our forecast for the core sales markets of the transac-
tion-based travel portals operated by the Travel segment we 
anticipated moderate overall growth in revenue for the financial 
year 2014. We stated that the main factor would be the mod-
erate economic recovery forecast for the core sales markets of 
the travel portals and the consequently anticipated recovery in 
consumer demand for holidays. At the same time, we assumed 
that competitive pressures would increase significantly, mainly 
as a result of higher marketing expenditure by our existing com-
petitors and the emergence of new competitors.
 Overall, we believe this confirms our forecasts for the 
Travel segment’s core sales markets in the financial year 2014.

For the current year, TOMORROW FOCUS AG again antici-
pates moderate revenue growth in the core markets served 
by the transaction-based travel portals in the Travel segment. 
The main factor here will be the moderate economic recovery 
forecast for the sales markets served by those travel portals 
(see section 4.1.1 of this Group management report) and the 
corresponding likelihood of a moderate increase in consumer 
demand for travel. At the same time, the company anticipates 
strong and sustained competitive pressures, primarily as a re-
sult of continued high levels of spending by competitors on 
marketing and the entry of new competitors into the market. 
In the medium term, a possible trend towards consolidation 
could lead to some easing of the competitive situation and to a 
corresponding reduction in marketing expenditure.
 Although HolidayCheck AG is based in Bottighofen 
in Switzerland, it generates most of its sales revenue in the 
euro area. However, important costs such as salaries and rents 
are paid in Swiss francs, so any appreciation in the Swiss franc 
vis-a-vis the euro will have a negative impact on the segment’s 
and the Group’s earnings. Based on an exchange rate of CHF 
1.20 to the euro in line with current estimates, a 5 percent in-
crease in the value of the Swiss franc (i.e. CHF 1.14 to EUR 1) 
would reduce each year’s earnings by around EUR 1.0 million. 
A 10 percent increase in the value of the Swiss franc (i.e. CHF 
1.08 to EUR 1) would reduce each year’s earnings by around 

EUR 2.2 million, while a 15 percent increase in the value of the 
Swiss franc (i.e. CHF 1.02 to EUR 1) would reduce each year’s 
earnings by around EUR 3.5 million.

In our forecast for the core sales markets of the subscription-
based portals operated by the Subscription segment we an-
ticipated moderate overall growth in revenue combined with a 
slight increase in competitive pressures for the financial year 
2014. 
 According to our forecast, growth in the sales markets 
targeted by the online dating agency ElitePartner was likely to 
be marginal at best, reflecting clear signs of market saturation. 
In addition, we expected that competitive pressures would be 
likely to show a further moderate increase, primarily as a result 
of higher spending by competitors on marketing. 
 Our forecast for the core sales markets targeted by 
the physician search and rating portal jameda was based on an 
expectation of moderate growth and roughly stable competitive 
pressures in financial 2014. 
 Turning to the core sales markets targeted by the 
Group’s document management specialist organize.me, we 
forecast strong market growth and a moderate increase in com-
petitive pressures in financial 2014.
 In the company’s view, the actual results confirmed 
our forecasts for the core sales markets of jameda and Elite-
Partner in financial 2014. By contrast, it is likely that growth in 
the young and therefore relatively undeveloped sales market 
targeted by organize.me was less strong in 2014 than antici-
pated, mainly owing to the need for greater clarity of the busi-
ness models concerned. 

With regard to the current financial year, TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG again anticipates moderate revenue growth and a slight 
increase in competitive pressures in the core sales markets of 
the subscription-based portals operated by the Subscription 
segment.
 As in the previous year, the sales markets targeted by 
the online dating agency ElitePartner are unlikely to grow. This 
reflects clear signs of market saturation. In addition, competitive 
pressures are likely to show a moderate increase, primarily as a 
result of increased spending by competitors on marketing. 
 The physician search and rating portal jameda will 
probably see moderate growth in its sales market as in 2014. 
Competitive pressures are likely to remain almost unchanged.
 The sales market targeted by the digital document 
storage specialist organize.me is still very young. Overall, TO-
MORROW FOCUS AG anticipates strong market growth and 
a moderate increase in competitive pressures.
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In our previous forecast for the sales markets served by the 
advertising-based online portals and digital marketing activities 
of the Publishing segment, we expected 2014 as a whole to 
bring moderate sales growth together with a small increase in 
competitive pressures. We believed that the main factor here 
would be the moderate economic recovery forecast for the 
Publishing segment’s core sales markets. As a result, we antic-
ipated a moderate increase in corporate marketing expenditure 
for online advertising and a potentially substantial increase in 
the field of corporate mobile advertising. At the time, we be-
lieved there was likely to be a moderate increase in competitive 
pressures from existing and new competitors.
 The company is of the opinion that, all in all, subse-
quent developments provided confirmation of these forecasts 
for the Publishing segment’s core sales markets in the financial 
year 2014.

Turning to the current financial year, TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG again anticipates moderate revenue growth and a slight 
increase in competitive pressures in the core sales markets of 
the advertising-based online portals operated by the Publishing 
segment. The main factor here will be the moderate economic 
recovery forecast for the Publishing segment’s core sales mar-
kets (see section 4.1.1 of this Group management report). As 
a result, we anticipate a moderate increase in corporate mar-
keting expenditure for online advertising and a potentially sub-
stantial increase in the field of corporate mobile advertising. At 
the time, there is likely to be a moderate increase in competitive 
pressures from existing and new competitors. 

The above assessments of expected industry developments 
are based on the Group’s own estimates.

4.1.3  TOMORROW FOCUS Group

Our forecast for the TOMORROW FOCUS Group and its seg-
ments in financial 2014 was based on the expectations of mac-
ro-economic and industry developments specified for 2014 in 
last year’s annual report. In our view, subsequent developments 
also provided confirmation of these expectations for the finan-
cial year 2014.

For the current financial year, our forecast for the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group and its segments is based on the expectations of 
macro-economic and industry developments in financial 2015 
laid out in this report.
 The potential effects of legal and regulatory issues 
have not been factored in to these forecasts.

4.1.3.1  Sales revenue

Consolidated revenue at TOMORROW FOCUS AG in finan-

cial 2014 was 7.0 percent up on the previous year’s figure and 
therefore just in line with the forecast of between high sin-
gle-digit and low double-digit percentage growth set out in 
the 2013 Group management report.
 Overall, the conditions for positive revenue growth in 
financial 2015 are fairly good on the whole. On balance, despite 
an increase to some extent in competitive pressures, demand 
for the products and services offered by the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group should show a moderate recovery in response 
to the moderate economic growth predicted for its core sales 
markets as a whole.
 In this context, the percentage rise in consolidated 
revenue of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group in financial 2015 
(excluding acquisitions and disposals of equity investments) 
should lie between the high single digits and low double digits. 
The figure for 2014 was EUR 161.5 million. 

4.1.3.2  Profitability

According to the forecast, the Group operating EBITDA for 
financial 2014 (including discontinued operations) was ex-
pected to rise by at least 10 percent on the previous year’s 
figure of EUR 19.5 million. The actual increase of 20.5 percent 
to EUR 23.5 million was therefore in line with our forecast. We 
did not issue a Group EBIT forecast for financial 2014. 

In the current financial year, Group operating EBITDA and 
Group EBIT are both expected to rise by at least 10 percent 
compared with 2013. Further information on Group operating 
EBITDA can be found in section 2.2.2.1.4 Balances transferred 
to Group EBITDA and Group operating EBITDA.

4.1.3.3  Capital efficiency

In terms of return on equity, the company’s expectations for 
2014 were based primarily on its assessment of the Group’s 
likely income from continuing operations. Accordingly, it an-
ticipated that return on equity in financial 2014 would lie in a 
target corridor between 5 and 7 percent. The actual figure for 
2014 was even higher at 8.4 percent. 

Looking ahead, TOMORROW FOCUS AG believes that return 
on equity in financial 2015 will lie in a target corridor between 
5 and 9 percent

4.1.3.4  Capital structure

With regard to its capital structure, TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
set itself two objectives for financial 2014.
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The first of these involved maintaining a target corridor of be-
tween 0.0 and 3.0 for the quotient produced by dividing cred-
it-based net debt (excluding earn-out and put/call obligations) 
by Group EBITDA. The actual figure was 1.12 and was therefore 
within the specified corridor.

The second target for 2014 was to achieve an equity ratio (eq-
uity / total capital x 100) of at least 40 percent. The actual equity 
ratio for 2014 was 53.7 percent and was therefore above the 
specified minimum value.

For the current financial year, TOMORROW FOCUS AG has set 
itself the same two targets.
As in the previous year, the first of these involves maintaining a 
target corridor of 0.0 to maximum 3.0 for the quotient produced 
by dividing credit-based net debt (excluding earn-out and put/
call obligations) by Group EBITDA.
 The method used to calculate adjusted net debt is 
explained in section 2.2.2.2.1 of this Group management report 
under the heading Capital structure.
 Further information on Group EBITDA can be found 
in section 2.2.2.1.4 under the heading Balances transferred to 
Group EBITDA and Group operating EBITDA.

Again as in the previous year, the second target for 2015 is to 
achieve an equity ratio (equity / total capital x 100) of at least 
40 percent. The equity ratio for 2014 was 53.7 percent.

4.1.3.5  Non-financial performance indicators

We expected a ‘stable’ outcome for the non-financial perfor-
mance indicators Customer satisfaction, Industry and employee 
know-how and Product and service quality in the financial year 
2014. In our view this forecast has been proven correct.

TOMORROW FOCUS AG expects the above non-financial per-
formance indicators to remain stable in the current financial 
year.

4.1.4  Overall assessment of likely 
developments

TOMORROW FOCUS AG expects the overall growth picture 
for its markets in 2015 to be positive on the back of moderate 
economic growth. At the same time, however, those markets 
will remain challenging as a result of greater competitive pres-
sures linked to increased spending on marketing and the entry 
of new competitors into the market. Accordingly, TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG believes that organic growth in consolidated reve-
nue in financial 2015 will be in a range between the high single 
digits and low double digits in percentage terms. 
 Group operating EBITDA in financial 2015 should 
rise by at least ten percent in financial 2015.
 The potential effects of legal and regulatory issues 
have not been factored in to these forecasts. In response to the 
opportunities (see section 4.3.1 et seq) and risks (section 4.2.2 
of this Group management report) outlined below, the actual 
results of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group and its individual 
segments may vary in either direction from these forecasts.

4.2  Risk report

4.2.1  Risk management system

As the holding company, TOMORROW FOCUS AG is exposed 
to many different types of risk arising from the wide range of 
business activities of the individual companies making up the 
Group. These risks can result in the entire Group being unable 
to meet financial, operational or strategic business objectives. 
The TOMORROW FOCUS Group therefore has to identify and 
analyse the risks and implement suitable measures to elimi-
nate or mitigate these risks in order to safeguard its long-term 
business success.

NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATOR FORECAST FOR FINANCIAL YEAR 2015

Customer satisfaction Stable

Industry and employee know-how Stable
Product and service quality Stable

Non-financial performance indicator
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4.2.1.1  Risk policy guidelines

The Management Board has formulated a series of policy 
guidelines for the risk management system.
• Risk awareness should be consistently heightened at all 

levels of the Group and its subsidiaries.
• Risk exposure should be limited by taking appropriate 

measures to prevent potential damage.
• A risk management system should be established in each 

company to identify risks at an early stage and to assess 
and control those risks.

• Specific critical risks or those with the potential to jeop-
ardise the existence of the Group must be reported as 
and when they arise.

• Suitable risk assessment criteria (materiality limits) should 
be defined and regularly updated as part of corporate con-
trolling with regard to the classification of risks as critical or 
as a threat to the existence of the Group and to facilitate 
the process of escalation to the next higher level or to the 
Management Board.

• Where there is suspicion of criminal activity, compliance 
issues must be reported as soon as they are identified.

• The risk management system should be documented in 
the form of a risk map in addition to this handbook.

• The risks to which individual companies are exposed are 
also documented using the R2C tool. If the companies 
do not have their own access to this tool, the information 
is maintained by the Group Risk Coordinator. Otherwise, 
responsibility for maintaining and updating the risk data 
lies with the companies themselves.

• The risk management system of TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG does not cover opportunities.

4.2.1.2  Risks subject to mandatory disclosure

Risks are identified in relation to individual areas of responsibility 
or on a more general basis in workshops. Risks are classified 
using the following model: see table below.

STRATEGIC OPER ATIONAL FINANCIAL COMPLIANCE

Corporate targets Purchasing Accounting/reporting systems Laws and guidelines
• Strategic targets •  Favours to suppliers  

(kick-backs)
• Book-keeping • Data protection

• Compliance targets • Reporting • Equality law
 • Valuation and pricing • Annual financial statements • Cartel law
Business culture • Balance sheet fraud • Abuse of contract
• Mission statement Sales and distribution • Violation of law
• Brand recognition • Commission payments Treasury • Occupational safety
• Image •  (Fictitious) consulting

   agree ments
• Slush funds • Environment
• Enrichment

Corporate planning Code of conduct

• Strategic planning Finance Accounting • Ethical principles

• Budget planning • Embezzlement (Treasury) • Cancellation • Bribery and corruption
• Forecasts • Cash/slush funds • Fictitious revenue • Fraud

• Insurance (kick-backs) • Payments
Portfolio development • Double payments Violation of internal rules
• Portfolio strategy IT and data protection • Manipulation of master data • Mission statement

  and ethical principles• Location strategy • Data theft; espionage
• Abuse of data access rights Controlling/ reporting • Code of conduct

M&A • Manipulation of key figures • Financial organisation
• Valuation and pricing Personnel   
• Due diligence • Manipulation of master data   
• Implementation • Expenses

Risk classification model 
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Risks are assessed in terms of the probability of their occur-
rence and their potential to cause damage. The first table below 
shows how risks are classified in terms of the probability of 
occurrence within a planning horizon of two years.

Potential to cause damage is defined in terms of the potential 
impact on the company’s results over a two-year period. Risks 
are allocated to one of four categories depending on the po-
tential scale of the impact (see second table below).

Unless provisions have already been established covering the 
entire potential damage, all risks must be included if they jeop-
ardise the existence of the Group or exceed the thresholds 
defined as critical. Details of any existing provisions must be 
added.
 In this context, it is important to take not only individ-
ual risks but also the potential cumulative impact of several risks 
into consideration. Risks are classed as a potential threat to the 

PROBABILITY OF OCCURRENCE WITHIN PLANNING HORIZON (2 YEARS)

(Almost) certain 4 Probability >= 80 percent of the risk event occurring within the planning horizon

Probable 3 Probability >= 50 percent and < 80 percent of the risk event occurring within the planning horizon
Possible 2 Probability >= 20 percent and < 50 percent of the risk event occurring within the planning horizon
Unlikely 1 Probability < 20 percent of the risk event occurring within the planning horizon

Risk assessment – probability of occurrence

  STRATEGIC OPER ATIONAL FINANCIAL COMPLIANCE

High   
(critical/ 
threat to 
existence of 
Group)

4 Risk that most strategic 
targets may not be 
achieved

Disruption to all business 
activity (complete failure of 
IT systems, loss of data, fire, 
terrorist attack)

Threat to existence of the 
Group (e.g. large-scale 
systematic manipulation of 
balance sheet).
Single EBITDA risk 
>= EUR 10 million 

Serious violations of the 
law leading to external 
investigations and legal 
proceedings (risk to 
reputation)

Substantial 3
Risk that one or several 
strategic targets may not 
be achieved

Serious disruption to 
business activity 
(temporary failure of 
IT systems, fluctuation of 
key personnel).

Substantial risks that lead to 
an annual deficit or a 
reduction in enterprise value.
Single EBITDA risk 
>= EUR 6 million

Systematic and ongoing 
violations of the law with 
large financial penalties and 
damage to corporate image

Medium 2
Risk that one strategic 
target may not be 
achieved

Significant disruption to/ 
interruption of operating 
processes

Significant negative impact 
on annual results and 
enterprise value, manipula-
tion of valuations.
Single EBITDA risk 
>= EUR 1 million

Systematic violations of the 
law with significant financial 
penalties

Low 1
Risk has very little 
potential impact on 
achievement of targets

Little or no impact on 
operating processes

No significant impact on 
annual results or enterprise 
value, (minor reporting 
violations).
Single EBITDA risk 
< EUR 1 million

Less than full compliance 
with laws and internal rules 
(e.g. minor violations of the 
expenses code)

Risk assessment – potential damage
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existence of the Group if they could have a substantial impact 
on its asset, fi nancial and earnings position.

The following risk matrix is based on the above classifi cations.

4.2.1.3  Risk management structures

The companies making up the Group organise their processes 
and information fl ows in such a way that corporate risks can be 
identifi ed, evaluated and controlled at an early stage. The role 
of the Group Risk Coordinator is to monitor and control the risk 
management process.

4.2.1.3.1  Information fl ow / Ad hoc reporting
All risks and the status of those risks are reported to the Group 
Controlling unit together with the quarterly fi nancial statements. 
Risks are updated solely through the Group’s own risk man-
agement tool. Following consultation, this may be done by the 
companies themselves or by Group Controlling. In addition, the 
Group Risk Coordinator must be advised immediately in writing 
of any critical risks, risks that jeopardise the existence of the 
Group or potentially criminal incidents relating to compliance 
rules. The Group Risk Coordinator will forward the details to the 
Management Board.Senior management teams at the Group’s 
individual companies are responsible for reporting any new 
risks or changes in the status of existing risks at the appropriate 
meetings (e.g. shareholder meetings).

4.2.1.3.2  Role of Group Management Board and Group 
Controlling
Group Controlling will prepare a report for the Management 
Board based on the reports received from individual companies 
and any Group-level risks identifi ed. 

4.2.1.4  Responsibility for risk management system

Responsibility for updating the risk management system lies 
with the Group’s Management Board, Group Controlling and 
the senior management teams of the respective subsidiaries. 
This work may be delegated to a risk management offi cer who 
is not a member of a senior management team or the Group 
Management Board.

4.2.1.4.1  Establishing a risk management system
The subsidiaries of TOMORROW FOCUS AG have established 
their own risk management systems on this basis. These should 
be documented. Wherever possible, risk workshops should be 
held at least once a year. 

4.2.1.4.2  Maintaining risk management systems at sub-
sidiaries
Responsibility for updating the risk management systems 
of subsidiaries lies with their respective senior management 
teams. All subsidiaries have designated a risk management 
offi cer as the point of contact for Group Controlling. These risk 
management offi cers are also responsible for the ad hoc re-
porting of specifi c risks of a critical nature or with the potential 
to jeopardise the existence of their company and any breaches 
of compliance rules.

4.2.1.5  System monitoring and documentation
As evidence of the proper functioning of risk management 
systems, the corresponding documentation is continuously 
updated at both Group and subsidiary level.
 The documentation kept by individual Group compa-
nies includes details of the organisational measures necessary 
to establish and operate an effective risk management system. 
Quarterly reports are also regarded as documentary evidence 
of the effectiveness of risk management systems.
 Risk management offi cers at subsidiary level are 
responsible for documenting risks and measures and for im-
plementing the latter on the basis of a uniform scheme.
 This documentation provides evidence of the proper 
functioning of the system for internal and external audit pur-
poses. Responsibility for correct documentation lies with risk 
offi cers at subsidiary level and with Group Controlling.
 In order to facilitate a systematic response to the 
risks identifi ed within the Group and reported, the risk map is 
updated every quarter and submitted to Group Controlling. Any 
changes and new risks are highlighted.

Risk matrix
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Unlikely
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< 50 %

Probable
≥ 50 %
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(Almost) 
certain
≥ 80 %

 Probability of occurrence
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4.2.1.6  Other elements of the risk management system

In addition to the dedicated risk management system outlined 
above in sections 4.2.1.1 to 4.2.1.5, the following elements also 
serve to identify risk within the Group:
• Operational planning, including updated intra-year fore-

casts
• Quarterly financial statements
• Liquidity planning
• Monthly reporting by subsidiaries (comparing target and 

actual results) to the Group

4.2.1.7  Monitoring of risk management system

In 2009, Germany’s Accounting Law Modernisation Act (Bi-
lanzrechtsmodernisierungs-gesetz, BilMoG) imposed a duty 
on Supervisory Boards to assess the effectiveness of corporate 
risk management. In making its assessment, the Supervisory 
Board draws on the results of internal audits and information 
from Group Controlling.
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG is also subject by law to 
an inspection by the Group’s auditor in accordance with sec-
tion 317, paragraph 4 of the German Commercial Code (Han-
delsgesetzbuch, HGB). The task of the auditor is to evaluate 
whether the Management Board has implemented the mea-
sures imposed under section 91, paragraph 2 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG) in an appropriate 
form and whether the corresponding monitoring system is fit 
for purpose.

4.2.2  Risks

4.2.2.1  Market risks of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group

Innovative technologies are constantly being introduced in the 
markets where the TOMORROW FOCUS Group operates, and 
they are subject to rapid and significant change. To satisfy the 
needs and requirements of customers in these markets, the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group continually develops new prod-
ucts and services, and regularly adapts existing ones. 
 The fact that the TOMORROW FOCUS Group now 
has three pillars reduces its dependence on developments in 
any one specific sales market. The first is the Travel segment, 
which generates B2C transaction-based revenue; the second 
is the Subscription segment, which generates B2C subscrip-
tion-based revenue; and the third is the Publishing segment 
with its B2B advertising-based revenue. The Travel segment 
holds a dominant position.

Google search engine dominance
Many Internet users turn above all to search engines such as the 
market leader Google when they are looking for news, products, 

hotels, etc. Search engines are based on complex and confi-
dential algorithms, and present users with hit lists containing 
links to relevant third-party websites such as those of Focus 
Online and HolidayCheck. They also present their own web 
services such as Google Hotel Finder. Experience has shown 
that links placed high up on the first page of search results are 
clicked much more frequently than those on subsequent pages. 
A higher ranking generally means more traffic, and in turn this 
can have a positive impact on advertising and business revenue.
 As a result, search engine optimisation (SEO) is now 
a very important tool. Its aim is to ensure that an organisation’s 
web content is placed as high up as possible in the hit lists 
generated by search engines. Search engine providers regularly 
make wide-ranging changes to their search algorithms. As such, 
there is always a potential risk that the search engine rankings 
of websites operated by the Travel, Subscription and Publishing 
segments may fall temporarily or even permanently. This would 
mean a serious reduction in traffic that could significantly affect 
the revenue and earnings situation of those web portals and 
segments and of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group as a whole.
 In response, the TOMORROW FOCUS Group has 
taken various steps to reduce its dependency on search en-
gines, especially Google. One of these involves boosting the 
traffic generated through social media platforms. At the same 
time, we aim to attract visitors directly to our sites, i.e. bypassing 
search engines, by expanding our mobile presence (especially 
in the form of apps) and our brand advertising.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 
80 percent); potential damage: high (single EBITDA risk >= 
EUR 10 million).

Competition from existing and new competitors
Increased competition (for example due to more intensive mar-
keting campaigns by existing competitors, the entry of new 
competitors to the market or the introduction of innovative new 
technology) can undermine website reach and usage and/or 
the purchase of products and services through the websites 
operated by TOMORROW FOCUS Group companies in every 
segment. In turn, this can lead to a significant decline in revenue 
and earnings and may even jeopardise the existence of the 
Group as a whole.
 Companies such as Google, Facebook and Apple are 
of particular concern in this context. As described above, the hit 
lists presented by Google include its own services such as Goo-
gle Flight Search, Google Hotel Finder and Google Shopping. 
This puts Google in direct competition for traffic with other web-
sites, including those operated by the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group. If high-reach providers with a correspondingly powerful 
market presence such as Google, Facebook and Apple were 
to introduce new services in the same fields as those covered 



89

>>

TOMORROW FOCUS AG | Annual Report 2014

by the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s Travel, Subscription and 
Publishing segments, this could have a similar impact to that 
of changes in search algorithms, i.e. serious reduction in traffic 
that could significantly affect the revenue and earnings situation 
of those web portals and segments and of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group as a whole. The same applies to high-reach 
media companies (especially in the television industry) that ad-
vertise their own web content during broadcasts and may thus 
compete with the sites operated by the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group; and to competing Internet groups (including multina-
tionals) with the financial strength needed to invest heavily in 
marketing and IT in order to introduce their own products and 
expand significantly in the same sale markets as those targeted 
by the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s websites.
 In order to reduce these risks, the TOMORROW FO-
CUS Group concentrates on established, well-known brands 
and screens the market on a regular basis.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: probable (>=50 – 
<80 percent); potential damage: substantial (single EBITDA 
risk >= EUR 6 million).

Specific market risks in the Travel segment
Any temporary or longer-term stagnation in holiday travel (e.g. 
as a result of natural disasters, political unrest in popular holiday 
areas, terrorist attacks, a sharp increase in energy prices or a 
downturn in spending during periods of recession) could have a 
highly negative impact on the revenue and profits of the portals 
operated by the Travel segment and, in light of that segment’s 
dominant contribution, on the revenue and earnings of the en-
tire TOMORROW FOCUS Group.
 The portals operated by the Travel segment are also 
exposed to cost risks if considerably higher marketing expen-
diture becomes necessary, especially for television advertising 
and search engine marketing (SEM), particularly on Google. 
The portals in this segment make intensive use of these mar-
keting instruments in their marketing, so a substantial price 
increase by television broadcasters or Google would have a 
negative impact on the segment’s profit situation and that of 
the entire TOMORROW FOCUS Group.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 
80 percent); potential damage: high (single EBITDA risk >= 
EUR 10 million).

Specific market risks in the Subscription segment
Within the Subscription segment, the online dating agency 
ElitePartner is exposed to cost risks in the case of any major 
rise in its marketing expenses, especially for television adver-
tising and search engine marketing (SEM) primarily via Google. 

ElitePartner makes intensive use of these instruments for mar-
keting purposes, so a substantial price increase by television 
broadcasters or Google would have a negative impact on the 
portal’s earnings and those of the segment and the TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group as a whole.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 
80 percent); potential damage: substantial (single EBITDA risk 
>= EUR 6 million).

Specific market risks in the Publishing segment
It is thanks to the Publishing segment that the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group is one of the biggest online marketing providers 
in Germany. Following a particularly constant upswing in the on-
line advertising market over a period of some years, spring 2014 
was marked by a more subdued level of bookings for graphical 
online advertising (display advertising). This was partly caused 
by a trend towards alternative digital advertising formats. The re-
sult has been a fall in demand and prices. In the Publishing seg-
ment, the TOMORROW FOCUS Group responded by establish-
ing and expanding new sources of revenue including alternative 
digital advertising formats such as video and native advertising 
as well as subscription-based and transaction-based services. 
We cannot exclude the possibility that an economic downturn, 
even greater competition (e.g. from Google or Facebook) or a 
decline in use of the in-house or external websites marketed by 
the TOMORROW FOCUS Group will again affect the segment’s 
and the entire Group’s revenue and earnings. The highly vola-
tile nature of the online market in recent years means that this 
scenario cannot be ruled out.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 
80 percent); potential damage: substantial (single EBITDA risk 
>= EUR 6 million).

4.2.2.2  Technology and data protection risks faced by the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group

Technology risks
The use of the Group’s Internet portals and technical systems 
may be disrupted temporarily, at worst over a longer period 
or even permanently for numerous reasons, and this may be 
accompanied by the temporary or permanent loss of import-
ant content, data and information. The list of possible causes 
includes external or internal technical problems caused by fire, 
water damage, defective software and disruption to the Internet 
or electricity supplies, e.g. through electromagnetic surges and 
targeted attacks (e.g. computer viruses, hacking). Depending 
on the nature and duration of the disruption, the consequences 
would range from a more or less severe loss of revenue and 
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earnings as well as high damage repair and restore-to-service 
costs through to a potential threat to the continued existence 
of the entire Group. 

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: possible (>= 20 – < 
50 percent); potential damage: high (single EBITDA risk >= 
EUR 10 million).

Data protection risks
The websites operated by the TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
store and process personal user data, some of which may be 
highly sensitive. There is a risk that this data may be targeted 
and stolen, e.g. by hackers or Group employees or as a result 
of human error. The data may then end up in the public domain 
and in the worst scenario may be misused for criminal purposes. 
The resulting damage to our image can lead to a serious decline 
in revenue and earnings for individual portals and in the worst-
case scenario for the entire Group of companies. 
 In order to reduce this risk, the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group works with an external data protection specialist whose 
role includes checking compliance with data protection laws. 
In addition, the Group has implemented numerous security 
measures of a technical nature, e.g. state-of-the-art firewall 
and antivirus technologies. Web portals such as HolidayCheck, 
ElitePartner, jameda and organize.me are regularly certified by 
the German Technical Control Board (TÜV).

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: possible (>= 20 – < 
50 percent); potential damage: high (single EBITDA risk >= 
EUR 10 million).

4.2.2.3  Strategic risks of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group

One major strategic objective is the further improvement of the 
Group’s market position in the Travel, Subscription and Pub-
lishing segments. The target will be achieved by developing 
successful new products and business models, and implement-
ing other measures to increase the market share and achieve 
further corporate growth. However this also exposes the com-
pany to risks which may have a negative impact on its financial 
position and earnings.

The company is particularly exposed to strategic risks in con-
nection with corporate acquisitions, long-term equity invest-
ments and the organic expansion of new business models. 
These harbour intrinsic risks such as the risk of integrating 
employees, processes, technologies and products. As a result, 
it is impossible to guarantee that all bought-in or internally de-
veloped business models can be successfully integrated and 
established in the market, or that they will develop as planned. 

Corporate acquisitions, long-term equity investments and the 
organic expansion of new business models can also generate 
substantial acquisition, development, administration and other 
costs, including the cost of integrating newly acquired busi-
ness activities. Portfolio measures can also result in additional 
financing requirements, which in turn can increase debt and 
have a negative impact on the financing structure. Acquisitions 
and long-term equity investments can substantially appreciate 
the value of non-current assets, including goodwill. Impairment 
of and subsequent write-downs on these assets due to un-
foreseen business developments, e.g. a downturn in the wider 
economy, can strongly depress consolidated net profit/(loss).
 A better than anticipated performance of long-term 
equity investments can also lead to a substantial increase in 
any agreed earn-out or put/call payment obligations leading 
to pressure on liquidity.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 
80 percent); potential damage: substantial (single EBITDA risk 
>= EUR 6 million).

4.2.2.4  Economic risks of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group

Any decline in consumer spending in response to economic, 
political, legal or social crises could have a negative impact on 
the business activities and the asset, financial and earnings 
position of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group.  Germany, Central 
and Western Europe are the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s 
core markets. While in the past they have proven to be relatively 
stable economic areas offering good development opportu-
nities to the companies operating there, in 2009 Central and 
Western Europe experienced the worst economic crisis since 
the end of the Second World War, one that produced swiftly 
increasing levels of debt among the states making up the Eu-
ropean Union. Since then, the European Union and its member 
states have initiated wide-ranging measures to tackle this debt 
issue, although it remains to be seen how successful these 
measures will be in the long term. 
 If they fail, the result could be further political, legal 
and social unrest on a large scale in individual member states 
of the European Union, with a massive impact on those compa-
nies, including the TOMORROW FOCUS Group, which operate 
there.
 Natural disasters, epidemics or terrorist attacks can 
also result in economic, political and social instability. This, in 
turn, can have a negative impact on the local, regional and even 
the world economy and place constraints on the investment 
decisions of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s customers 
and their readiness to invest. However, the negative impacts 
of events of this nature on the economy in recent years have 
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been relatively short-lived, and therefore have no long-term sig-
nificance for our business development. At the same time, we 
would like to emphasise that an event such as the outbreak of a 
global flu epidemic, resulting in a high number of deaths, could 
have an extremely serious effect on the world economy and on 
the companies operating in the global markets. Terrorist attacks 
such as those targeted at the Internet’s infrastructure could also 
have a significant impact on the TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s 
results and possibly even jeopardise its going concern status. 

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: possible (>=20 – <50 
percent); potential damage: substantial (single EBITDA risk 
>= EUR 6 million).

4.2.2.5  Impairment risks of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group

TOMORROW FOCUS AG performs annual impairment tests to 
assess whether there has been any impairment in the respec-
tive valuations of long-term equity investments in its separate 
financial statements or of goodwill within the Group. This might 
result in major write-downs which would not lead to payouts, but 
could considerably depress the results of the entire TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group.
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG counteracts this as well 
as possible by way of central long-term equity investment 
controlling and monthly reports from all equity investments. 
Deviations from targets are reported to the Management Board 
promptly so that suitable countermeasures can be initiated.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 
80 percent); potential damage: medium (single EBIT risk >= 
EUR 1 million).

4.2.2.6  Financial risks of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group

In respect of financial risks, the TOMORROW FOCUS Group is 
primarily exposed to liquidity, currency and interest rate risks. 

Negative developments on the capital markets can substantially 
increase the Group’s financing costs or even restrict its ability to 
obtain financing, thus seriously reducing its flexibility with regard 
to borrowing. As a consequence, the cash and cash equivalents 
available to the Group may not be sufficient to meet its financial 
obligations within the stipulated periods.
 In Germany, the past economic and financial crisis led 
to certain restrictions on the availability of corporate finance and 
created a scenario such as that outlined above. Even against 
this background, the TOMORROW FOCUS Group was able 

to secure long-term refinancing for all its liabilities to banks on 
relatively favourable terms.
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s medium-term liquidity 
situation can be described as largely secure. 
 However, looking ahead at the longer term, it is not 
possible to completely exclude future restrictions on the TO-
MORROW FOCUS Group’s liquidity situation, especially in the 
case of a return to the scenario described above. The Group 
conducts regular simulations and analyses different scenarios 
to reduce the risk of an unexpected shortage of cash or financ-
ing.

If TOMORROW FOCUS AG fails to comply with the covenants 
specified in a loan agreement, the lender is entitled to cancel 
that agreement without notice. This could produce a shortage 
of liquidity.  
 
The TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s asset, financial and earn-
ings position is largely dependent on the performance of its 
operating segments, but also on portfolio measures. A decline 
in operating results and cash flows or an increase in net debt 
could reduce its credit rating; in turn, this could drive up the cost 
of funds and have a negative impact on the earnings situation.
 At present, the TOMORROW FOCUS Group can take 
advantage of comparatively attractive refinancing options. This 
is clear, for example, from its available credit lines.
 
HolidayCheck AG uses the euro as its functional currency, and 
the Group’s liabilities towards it are therefore charged in euros. 
The income generated by HolidayCheck AG is also calculated 
in euros. This has reduced the currency risk, although certain 
risks remain. There is a risk that the company’s salary, rent, mar-
keting and other costs could rise substantially in the event of an 
increase in the relative value of the Swiss franc against the euro, 
as was the case in January 2015, and this could have a negative 
impact on HolidayCheck AG’s profits.

The TOMORROW FOCUS Group is also exposed to a receiv-
ables default risk in connection with its operating activities. 
Accounts receivable are managed on a decentralised basis by 
the subsidiaries and long-term equity investments due to the 
sheer diversity of business areas in which the Group operates 
and the resulting diverse debtor structure. The Group counter-
acts default risks in connection with financial investments and 
accounts receivable by way of regular controls within a narrow 
time frame, continuous liquidity monitoring and liquidity control, 
and consistent debt management.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 
80 percent); potential damage: high (single EBITDA risk >= 
EUR 10 million).
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4.2.2.7  Personnel risks of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group

Highly-qualified employees and managers are essential to the 
long-term success of any business undertaking. The TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group is strongly committed to fostering its em-
ployees’ long-term loyalty to the company and to recruiting new, 
highly-qualified employees. Business development could be 
impaired if a large number of these employees leave the com-
pany within a short time span and no adequate replacements 
can be found. In particular in the event of increased competi-
tion in the labour market to recruit highly-qualified employees, 
especially people with IT and Internet expertise, there is no 
guarantee that the Group will be able to retain key personnel 
over the long term.

The TOMORROW FOCUS Group is determined to exploit all 
business opportunities that present themselves and at the 
same time counteract general personnel risks through a series 
of measures, in particular the provision of advanced training 
for further qualifications and the professional development for 
employees, rigorous succession planning and additional ben-
efits such as performance-based remuneration systems. As a 
result of these measures and the Group’s establishment of a 
solid reputation as an attractive employer over the past years, 
the company believes that it can draw on its employees’ skills 
to make effective use of the available business opportunities. It 
therefore currently classifies the risk of significant impairment 
to business development as a result of the loss of employees 
and managers as low.

Risk classification (see section 4.2.1.2 of this Group manage-
ment report): Probability of occurrence: possible (>= 20 – < 
50 percent); potential damage: substantial (single EBITDA risk 
>= EUR 6 million).

4.2.2.8  Overall assessment of risks

The risks described in the above risk report could potentially 
have a substantial impact on the earnings, assets and financial 
position of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group. 
 The overall risk situation of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group is unchanged compared with the preceding year. When 
all known facts and circumstances are taken into consideration, 
no risks currently exist, whether individually or in combination, 
that could jeopardise the company’s continued existence in the 
foreseeable future.

4.3  Opportunities report

Business opportunities are not reported as part of the risk 
management system. They are identified in the Group’s an-
nual operational planning and followed up during the year in 
its periodic consolidated reporting. Direct responsibility for the 
early identification and exploitation of opportunities lies with 
the individual business areas. The strategy process involves 
identifying opportunities for further profitable growth in the long 
term. These are then considered as part of the decision-making 
processes.

4.3.1  Economic opportunities of the TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group 

As a business in the Internet sector, consumer confidence and 
spending can have a direct or at least indirect impact on the 
revenue development. If the wider economy develops more 
positively than forecast, this can provide a boost to revenue 
and profitability of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group. The same 
applies to higher demand driven by tax policy amendments. 
Legislative alterations, such as changes to the rate of taxation 
on corporate profits, can also have a positive impact on the 
Group’s profitability.

Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 80 percent); 
EBITDA potential over two-year period: medium (>= EUR 1 
million).

4.3.2  Market opportunities of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group

As an established group of companies with a strong position 
in some areas of the Internet industry, the Management Board 
estimates that the TOMORROW FOCUS Group is well placed to 
benefit in the medium and long term from an anticipated period 
of market consolidation. This should enable it to take a greater 
share of the market and, in doing so, to increase revenue and 
profits, as expected. 
 Equally, as the stationary and especially the mobile 
Internet continue to penetrate the markets in Germany and 
in other European countries, there are opportunities for the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group to achieve a sustained increase 
in revenue and profits.
 In the Publishing segment, the continuous increase 
in Internet reach could further boost the number of visitors to 
the Group’s own portals and those it markets on behalf of its 
partners. 
 This would have a positive impact on the future rev-
enue and profit situation. In the Travel and Subscription seg-
ments, the Internet’s progressive market penetration could 
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help to intensify the use of the Group’s own transaction-based 
Internet portals, and thereby contribute to an improvement in 
the future income and profit situation. In particular, Group por-
tals such as ElitePartner, HolidayCheck, jameda, organize.me, 
Tjingo and Zoover could benefit from the growing volume of 
Internet-based transactions that would be generated as a result 
of the Internet’s progressive market penetration. At Holiday-
Check, Tjingo and Zoover, this could lead to an increase in the 
number of holiday and hotel referrals. At EliteMedianet, jameda 
and organize.me, the number of paying members would rise.

Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 80 percent); 
EBITDA potential over two-year period: substantial (>= EUR 
6 million).

4.3.3  Other opportunities arising from operat-
ing activities

The continuous optimisation of key business processes and 
strict controls on costs are crucial in assuring high levels of 
profitability and return on capital.
 At both a centralised and decentralised level, the 
Group consistently pursues new approaches with a view to 
achieving continuous improvements in profitability. In this con-
text, one of our aims is to further simplify processes across the 
entire Group and individual segments as a means of reducing 
operating inefficiencies.
 With individual companies and segments placing 
their expertise at the disposal of the Group as a whole, the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group is able to generate synergies 
that help to boost profits. One concrete example of this lies in 
Group-wide collaboration in the area of search engine optimi-
sation (SEO).

Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 80 percent); 
EBITDA potential over two-year period: medium (>= EUR 1 
million).

4.3.4  Strategic opportunities of the TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group

The Group’s corporate strategy is coordinated by TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG, and monitored and agreed on a regular basis in 
consultation with the business segments. An experienced 
management team and streamlined corporate structures also 
provide an excellent basis for the three operating segments 
to make the most effective use of potential opportunities and 
achieve sustained corporate growth. A close-knit structure and 
the ensuing interaction between the companies making up the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group also present opportunities such 
as could only be created within a diversified group of compa-
nies. This gives us an edge over those of our competitors who 
independently cover just a single market segment.

Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 80 percent); 
EBITDA potential over two-year period: medium (>= EUR 1 
million).

4.3.5  Personnel opportunities of the TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group

The TOMORROW FOCUS Group provides numerous opportu-
nities for its staff to obtain further qualifications and participate 
in professional development training programmes. It also offers 
additional benefits such as performance-based remuneration 
systems. As a result of these measures and its successful 
corporate record in past years, the company sees itself as an 
attractive employer and one that is in a position to make effec-
tive use of its employees’ skills to exploit potential business 
opportunities.

Probability of occurrence: probable (>= 50 – < 80 percent); 
EBITDA potential over two-year period: medium (>= EUR 1 
million).

4.3.6  Financial opportunities of the TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group

Favourable exchange rate and interest rate developments can 
have a positive impact on the Group’s financial result. The TO-
MORROW FOCUS Group’s centralised Finance department 
monitors developments in the financial markets closely in order 
to identify opportunities and exploit them in the interest of the 
Group as a whole.

Probability of occurrence: possible (>= 20 – < 50 percent); 
EBITDA potential over two-year period: low (< EUR 1 million).

4.3.7  Overall assessment of opportunities

It is our assessment that in the financial year 2014 the TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Group was able to slightly expand its overall mar-
ket position. This is clear from the revenue figures for continuing 
operations, which show an improvement over the preceding 
year. By contrast, consolidated net profit/(loss) was down on 
the previous year, partly as a result of write-downs on goodwill. 
 The Management Board is confident that the strate-
gic position adopted by the TOMORROW FOCUS Group as a 
broadly based Internet media group will continue to provide a 
solid foundation for positive development of the business.
 Looking ahead, in terms of opportunities, we believe 
that in the financial year 2015 the situation of the Group will be 
slightly better than in 2014.
 There is a distinct possibility that some of our key in-
dicators will exceed the levels anticipated in the Group’s forward 
planning with an additional positive impact on its earnings, asset 
and financial position.
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5.  Internal control system and risk 
management system as part of the 
Group accounting process

The objective of the internal control system (ICS) for the ac-
counting process is to ensure that the financial statements are 
drawn up in compliance with regulations. In the internal control 
and risk management system adopted by TOMORROW FO-
CUS AG, the structures and processes related to accounting 
policies are defined and implemented within the organisation. 
This ensures that accounting procedures are reliable and 
performed correctly, that business transactions are fully and 
promptly reported as prescribed by law and in the articles of 
association, and that legal standards and internal accounting 
guidelines are observed. Amendments to legislation and ac-
counting standards are continuously analysed in order to de-
termine whether they are relevant to the consolidated financial 
statements, and any resultant changes are incorporated in the 
Group’s internal processes and systems.
 
Across the entire Group, TOMORROW FOCUS AG has estab-
lished planning, reporting, controlling and early warning sys-
tems and processes that allow it to comprehensively analyse 
and manage income-related risk factors and going-concern 
threats. Functional responsibilities are clearly defined for all 
(Group) accounting processes (e.g. accounting system, fi-
nancial accounting and controlling). Wherever accounting 
processes are outsourced to service providers, their control 
and risk management systems are adapted to the particular 
requirements of our company and monitored by us on an on-
going basis.

As the company is relatively small and not particularly complex, 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG has so far decided not to set up its 
own separate audit unit. Any internal audit work that may be 
required is carried out by external service providers.
 
Basic principles of accounting-based internal 
control system
As the parent company, TOMORROW FOCUS AG produces 
the consolidated financial statements of the TOMORROW FO-
CUS Group. This process is based on the financial reports of 
the Group companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements, all of which prepare their individual financial state-
ments locally. Using a defined Group-wide reporting system, 
they are then sent to the Finance and Controlling department 
in Munich, Germany, and the Shared Service Centre in Of-
fenburg, Germany, where they are validated and checked for 
plausibility. These measures are designed to ensure that the 
financial statements produced by TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
and its subsidiaries are correct and complete.

The internal control and risk management system for the 
accounting process ensures that business data have been 
correctly entered, processed and evaluated before they are 
included in external reports.

Responsibility for compliance with Group-wide guidelines and 
procedures and for the correct and prompt implementation 
of accounting processes and systems lies with the individual 
Group companies.

Basic elements of the internal control system
• Automatic controls are in place to ensure that accounting 

practice complies with legislation and accounting stan-
dards when the consolidated and single-entity financial 
statements of TOMORROW FOCUS AG are prepared. 
These controls are supplemented by manual checks on 
the accounts and other approval and validation procedures 
(separation of functions, rules and restrictions on access, 
cross-checking and rules on payments and transfers).

• The Finance and Controlling department carries out regu-
lar completeness checks and analyses any discrepancies 
from the specified business plan. It publishes its results in 
a standardised monthly report to the Management Board. 
The Controlling department also produces a standardised 
monthly report for the Management Board examining any 
deviation from the business plan with regard to forecast 
income and expenditure.

• Uniform accounting rules and instructions are in place 
across the Group to ensure that accounts are based on 
prescribed standards. This is also achieved by means of 
centralised checks on reporting packages, analyses of any 
deviation from prescribed budgets and reports on the re-
sults of monthly and quarterly reconciliation work.

• The IT-based accounting systems are protected against 
unauthorised access. A uniform consolidation and repor-
ting system is in place for all external accounting and in-
ternal reports produced by Group companies.

• Responsibility for the overall consolidation of the Group’s 
financial statements lies with the Shared Service Cen-
tre in close cooperation with the Finance and Controlling 
department. Together, these two units implement the ne-
cessary consolidation and reconciliation measures and 
monitor compliance with the prescribed schedules and 
processes.

• Accounting support is available to Group companies from 
key contacts at the Finance and Controlling department 
in Munich, Germany.

• Any particularly technical or complex matters are clarified 
on a case-by-case basis with the help of external experts 
and consultants.

• All transactions are recognised promptly and in due time 
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so that the financial statements can be drawn up by the 
scheduled date.

• Intra-group transactions are fully recognised, reconciled 
and eliminated.

• Matters of accounting significance or those subject to 
disclosure requirements in relation to contractual agree-
ments are identified and correctly shown in the financial 
statements.

In evaluating the internal control system, processes at the 
level of the single legal entities were included where they were 
deemed to be of significance for Group reporting purposes. 
The control targets were checked against the implemented 
controls and evaluated. The effectiveness of these systems 
is continuously reviewed, further developed and improved. 
Systematic checks are performed to monitor compliance with 
the internal control system and to ensure that it remains up to 
date. The results of all accounting-related internal controls are 
summarised in a report which is made directly available to the 
Management Board and Supervisory Board.

With regard to the accounting process, it should be noted that 
the internal control and risk management system can only offer 
a relative degree of assurance. Regardless of the care taken in 
designing the system, it does not provide an absolute safeguard 
that financial reporting objectives will be met or that significant 
accounting inaccuracies will be detected or avoided.

6.  Risk reporting with regard to the use 
of financial instruments

The main financial instruments used by the company are fi-
nancial liabilities, trade payables and other liabilities. These are 
primarily required as a source of financing for the company’s 
business operations. The company’s trade receivables, other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and short-term deposits 
are directly generated as a result of the company’s business 
operations. 

Changes in exchange rates and interest rate fluctuations can 
also have a negative impact on the Group’s income, asset and 
financial position. Responsibility for managing these risks lies 
with the company’s management, which ensures that all activ-
ities of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group that are exposed to 
financial risks are conducted in line with the corresponding in-
ternal directives and that financial risks are identified, measured 
and managed in accordance with these directives and with due 
regard for the Group’s risk profile. The risk management system 
also takes account of any risk concentration affecting individual 
transactions or Group companies. 

In order to minimise the risks associated with changes in ex-
change rates and interest rates, the Group makes regular use 
of derivative financial instruments. These are solely intended to 
function as a hedge for the underlying transactions.

The principle goal of currency hedging is to hedge payment 
flows against exchange rate fluctuations. To this end, based 
on the Group’s corporate planning, payment flows in curren-
cies other than the functional currency are identified with a 
view to hedging them through the use of currency hedging 
instruments. This mainly affects the ongoing expenditure of 
HolidayCheck AG in Swiss francs. TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
makes regular use of currency forwards as cash flow hedges 
for future payments.

The aim of interest rate hedging is to reduce interest expenses. 
The Group is exposed to a risk of fluctuations in market in-
terest rates, primarily from its non-current fixed-rate loans. 
As a general rule, financial liabilities are either taken out on a 
variable-rate basis or are converted into fixed-rate borrowings 
through the use of derivatives. This helps TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG to minimise its average non-current interest expenses.

Derivative financial instruments used to hedge foreign currency 
and interest rate risks are treated as a cash flow hedge in line 
with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment. The effective portion of the profit or loss from the hedging 
instruments is recognised directly in equity and is then trans-
ferred to profit or loss as soon as the hedged cash flows from 
the underlying transaction are also reflected in profit or loss 
or if a hedged future transaction does not actually take place.

In the event that hedged future transactions (referred to in 
IAS 39 as ‘forecast transactions’) lead to the recognition of a 
non-financial asset or liability, their fair values are adjusted to 
the corresponding figure in equity from the hedging transaction.

A number of interest rate swaps were agreed in April 2011 in 
order to hedge the risk of fluctuation in the interest payable on 
variable-rate, non-current financial liabilities. These were as-
signed directly to the underlying transactions in the form of cash 
flow hedges. The interest rate swaps in place and recognised 
in equity at their market value expired on 30 December 2014 
or have a term until 9 March 2016 respectively.

As at 31 December 2014, these produced financial liabilities 
totalling EUR 267 thousand (31 December 2013: EUR 466 
thousand). Although the interest rate hedge remained in place, 
the designated hedging relationships ended on repayment of 
the previously hedged underlying transactions following the 
restructuring of TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s overall financing 
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arrangements. As such, the criteria for cash flow hedging were 
no longer met, and the hedging relationships therefore became 
ineffective. 

7.  Takeover-related disclosures and 
notes pursuant to section 289, para-
graph 4 and section 315, paragraph 4 
German Commercial Code (Handels-
gesetzbuch, HGB) 

Share capital structure
As at 31 December 2014, the company’s subscribed share 
capital amounted to EUR 58,313,628. The share capital is di-
vided into 58,313,628 no-par value bearer shares, each with 
a nominal value of EUR 1. The share capital is paid up in full. 
The shareholders have no entitlement to the issue of physical 
individual shares in accordance with article 4, paragraph 3 of 
the articles of association, except when the issue of physical 
individual shares is required under the rules and regulations 
of the stock exchange where the shares are listed. The shares 
are wholly evidenced by global certificates. All shares carry the 
same rights and obligations. Each share entitles the holder to 
one vote at the shareholders’ meeting and evidences the right 
to a portion of the company’s distributable profit. This does not 
apply to treasury shares held by the company, in respect of 
which the company does not have any rights. The shareholders’ 
rights and obligations are specified in particular in sections 12, 
53a et seq, 118 et seq and 186 of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG).

Transfer and voting rights restrictions 
The company is not currently aware of any transfer or voting 
rights restrictions. 

Disclosures relating to direct and indirect 
shareholdings
According to the German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapi-
erhandelsgesetz, WpHG), any investor whose share of voting 
capital reaches, exceeds or falls below certain thresholds as 
the result of purchases, disposals or otherwise must notify the 
company in question and the Federal Financial Supervisory 
Authority (Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht, Ba-
Fin) of this fact. In the financial year 2014, the company received 
the following notifications in respect of voting rights:

On 20 March 2014, Allianz Global Investors Europe GmbH, 
Frankfurt am Main, Germany, notified the company pursuant 
to section 21, paragraph 1 of the German Securities Trading 
Act that its share of the voting rights in TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG, Munich, Germany, on 19 March 2014 had fallen below the 
3 percent threshold and on that date had stood at 2.91 percent 
(equals 1,694,324 voting rights).

On 5 May 2014, Baden-Württembergische Versorgungsanstalt 
für Ärzte, Zahnärzte und Tierärzte (the provider for the statutory 
pension scheme in the federal state of Baden-Württemberg), 
based in Tübingen, Germany, notified the company pursuant to 
section 21, paragraph 1 of the German Securities Trading Act 
that its share of the voting rights in TOMORROW FOCUS AG, 
Munich, Germany, on 2 May 2014 had exceeded the 3 percent 
threshold and on that date had stood at 3.02 percent (equals 
1,762,000 voting rights).

On 5 May 2014, LBBW Asset Management Investmentge-
sellschaft mbH, Stuttgart, Germany, notified the company 
pursuant to section 21, paragraph 1 of the German Securities 
Trading Act that its share of the voting rights in TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG, Munich, Germany, on 2 May 2014 had exceeded 
the 3 percent threshold and on that date had stood at 3.07 
percent (equals 1,788,500 voting rights). In accordance with 
section 22, paragraph 1, sentence 1, number 6 of the Ger-
man Securities Trading Act, 3.022 percent of the voting rights 
(equals 1,762,000 voting rights) are attributable to the com-
pany. Attributed voting rights are held through the following 
shareholders, each of which has 3 percent or more of the voting 
rights in TOMORROW FOCUS AG: Baden-Württembergische 
Versorgungsanstalt für Ärzte, Zahnärzte und Tierärzte.

On 4 July 2014 we received the following notification pursuant 
to section 25, paragraph 1 of the German Securities Trading Act:

1. Listed company: TOMORROW FOCUS AG, Neumarkter 
Strasse 61, 81673 München, Germany

2. Notifier: Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management Invest-
ment GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 

3. Triggering event: Exceeding threshold
4. Threshold(s) crossed or reached: 5 percent
5. Date at which the threshold is crossed or reached: 

1 July 2014 
6. Total amount of voting rights: 

8.50 percent (equals 4,955,000 voting rights) calcu-
lated from the total number of voting rights issued: 
58,313,628

7. Detailed information on the voting rights proportion: 
Voting rights proportion based on (financial/other) 
instruments pursuant to section 25 of the German Se-
curities Trading Act: 0.04 percent (equals 21,088 voting 
rights); 
thereof held indirectly: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right) 
Voting rights pursuant to sections 21 and 22 of the 
German Securities Trading Act: 8.46 percent (equals 
4,933,912 voting rights)

8. Detailed information on (financial/other) instruments pur-
suant to section 25 of the German Securities Trading Act: –
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On 26 August 2014 we received the following notification 
pursuant to section 25, paragraph 1 of the German Securities 
Trading Act:

1.  Listed company: TOMORROW FOCUS AG, Neumarkter 
Strasse 61, 81673 München, Germany

2.  Notifier: Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management Invest-
ment GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 

3.  Triggering event: Falling below threshold
4.  Threshold(s) crossed or reached: 5 percent
5.  Date at which the threshold is crossed or reached:  

21 August 2014 
6.  Total amount of voting rights:  

0 percent (equals 0 voting right) calculated from the fol-
lowing total number of voting rights issued: 58,313,628

7.  Detailed information on the voting rights proportion: 
Voting rights proportion based on (financial/other) in-
struments pursuant to section 25 of the German Securi-
ties Trading Act: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right); 
thereof held indirectly: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right) 
Voting rights pursuant to sections 21 and 22 of the 
German Securities Trading Act: 8.50 percent (equals 
4,955,000 voting rights)

8.  Detailed information on (financial/other) instruments 
pursuant to section 25 of the German Securities Trading 
Act: –

On 9 September 2014 we received the following notification 
pursuant to section 25, paragraph 1 of the German Securities 
Trading Act: 

1.  Listed company: TOMORROW FOCUS AG, Neumarkter 
Strasse 61, 81673 München, Germany

2.  Notifier: Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management Invest-
ment GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 

3.  Triggering event: xceeding threshold
4.  Threshold(s) crossed or reached: 5 percent
5.  Date at which the threshold is crossed or reached: 

3 September 2014 
6.  Total amount of voting rights: 

8.50 percent (equals 4,955,000 voting rights) calculated 
from the following total number of voting rights issued: 
58,313,628

7.  Detailed information on the voting rights proportion: 
Voting rights proportion based on (financial/other) 
instruments pursuant to section 25 of the German Se-
curities Trading Act: 0.0009 percent (equals 548 voting 
rights); 
thereof held indirectly: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right) 
Voting rights pursuant to sections 21 and 22 of the 
German Securities Trading Act: 8.50 percent (equals 
4,954,452 voting rights)

8.  Detailed information on (financial/other) instruments pur-
suant to section 25 of the German Securities Trading Act: –

On 17 September 2014 we received the following notification 
pursuant to section 25, paragraph 1 of the German Securities 
Trading Act:

1.  Listed company: TOMORROW FOCUS AG, Neumarkter 
Strasse 61, 81673 München, Germany

2.  Notifier: Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management Invest-
ment GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 

3.  Triggering event: Falling below threshold
4.  Threshold(s) crossed or reached: 5 percent
5.  Date at which the threshold is crossed or reached: 

12 September 2014 
6.  Total amount of voting rights: 

0 percent (equals 0 voting right) calculated from the fol-
lowing total number of voting rights issued: 58,313,628

7.  Detailed information on the voting rights proportion: 
Voting rights proportion based on (financial/other) in-
struments pursuant to section 25 of the German Securi-
ties Trading Act: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right); 
thereof held indirectly: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right) 
Voting rights pursuant to sections 21 and 22 of the 
German Securities Trading Act: 8.50 percent (equals 
4,955,000 voting rights)

8.  Detailed information on (financial/other) instruments pur-
suant to section 25 of the German Securities Trading Act: –

Special rights
Shares vested with special rights, such as controlling powers or 
delegation rights, do not exist.

Voting right controls relating to shares held by 
employees
The Management Board is not aware of any voting right controls 
relating to shares held by employees of TOMORROW FOCUS AG.

Appointment and dismissal of Management 
Board members and amendments to the  
articles of association
The appointment and dismissal of Management Board mem-
bers is governed by sections 84 and 85 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG). Management Board 
members are appointed by the Supervisory Board for a maxi-
mum term of 5 years. They may be re-appointed or have their 
term extended for one or more terms of up to a maximum of 
five years each. 
 Pursuant to article 5, paragraph 1 of the articles of 
association, the Management Board is made up of one or more 
persons. The Supervisory Board appoints the members of the 
Management Board and specifies their number. It can also ap-
point deputy Management Board members. The Supervisory 
Board may appoint a chairperson of the Management Board.
 Pursuant to article 5, paragraph 2 of the Articles of 
Association, the company is represented by two members of 
the Management Board or by one member of the Management 
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Board in conjunction with another employee holding general 
commercial power of attorney (Prokurist under German law). 
In this respect, deputy Management Board members have the 
same status as ordinary Management Board members. If only 
one member of the Management Board is appointed, he or 
she represents the company alone. The Supervisory Board 
may grant one or all members of the Management Board the 
authority to represent the company alone and/or exempt them 
from the ban on multiple representation under section 181 of 
the German Civil Code (Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch, BGB) in so 
far as this is permissible pursuant to section 112 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act. The authority of sole representation 
and/or exemption from the ban on multiple representation un-
der section 181 of the German Civil Code may be revoked at 
any time.
 Pursuant to section 84, paragraph 3 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act the appointment of Management Board 
members and the appointment of the chairperson of the Man-
agement Board may be revoked if there is good cause.
 Amendments to the articles of association are sub-
ject to a resolution of the general meeting of shareholders pur-
suant to section 179 of the German Stock Corporation Act. The 
authority to make amendments to the wording only is accorded 
to the Supervisory Board in article 8, paragraph 5 of the articles 
of association. The Supervisory Board is also authorised by res-
olution of the shareholders’ meeting to amend article 4 of the 
articles of association in accordance with the use of contingent 
capital. 
 Resolutions by the general meeting of sharehold-
ers are taken by simple majority pursuant to article 18 of the 
articles of association unless a larger majority is mandatory by 
law. Resolutions on amendments to the articles of association 
require at least a three-quarter majority of share capital repre-
sented according to section 179, paragraph 2 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG), unless otherwise 
stipulated in the company’s articles of association.

Authority of the Management Board to buy 
back the company’s own shares and/or to  
issue new shares
1. The Management Board is authorised, subject to Supervisory 
Board approval, to undertake one or more increases in the com-
pany’s share capital until 11 June 2018 up to a maximum of EUR 
14,578,407 by issuing 14,578,407 new no-par value shares 
in exchange for cash or non-cash contributions (authorised 
capital 2013). The Management Board is authorised, subject to 
Supervisory Board approval, to exclude shareholders’ statutory 
subscription rights in the following circumstances:
• where required, to settle fractional amounts;

• where a capital increase in exchange for cash contribu-
tions does not exceed 10 percent of the share capital, and 
the issue price for the new shares is not significantly lower 
than the stock market price (section 186, paragraph 3, 
sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act, AktG); 
if this authority to exclude subscription rights under sec-
tion 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act is exercised, due regard should be given 
to other authorities to exclude subscription rights granted 
by section 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act;

• where a capital increase in exchange for non-cash contri-
butions is carried out for the purpose of acquiring another 
company, a long-term equity investment in another com-
pany or parts of another company or in order to purchase 
claims against the company.

Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the Man-
agement Board is authorised to specify the remaining details 
pertaining to the capital increase and its implementation. The 
Supervisory Board is authorised to amend the wording of the 
articles of association in line with the use made of authorised 
capital.

2. A conditional increase in share capital up to EUR 4,842,070 
by way of issuing up to 4,842,070  no-par value bearer shares 
has been carried out (conditional capital 2010). This condi-
tional capital increase is only implemented to the extent that the 
holders of the convertible bonds and/or bonds with warrants 
issued by the company up to 15 June 2015, on the basis of 
the authorisation of the general meeting of shareholders of 16 
June 2010, actually exercise their conversion or option rights 
or where the conversion obligations linked to such bonds are 
met and to the extent that no other methods of servicing such 
commitments are used. The new shares carry dividend rights 
from the beginning of the financial year in which they are cre-
ated by the exercise of conversion or option rights or through 
the fulfilment of conversion obligations. Subject to the approval 
of the Supervisory Board, the Management Board is authorised 
to establish the further details pertaining to the execution of the 
conditional capital increase. The Supervisory Board is autho-
rised to amend the wording of the articles of association in line 
with the use made of conditional capital.

3. By resolution of the annual shareholders’ meeting of 16 June 
2010, the Management Board has been authorised to purchase 
the company’s own shares subject to the following conditions. 
This authorisation is limited to the purchase of the company’s 
own shares worth up to 10 percent of its share capital, based 
on the accounting par value. It may be exercised in full or in 
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partial amounts, on one or more occasions, by the company or 
by third parties acting on its behalf. The authorisation expires 
on 15 June 2015. 

The purchase should be concluded on the stock exchange 
or by means of a public offering directed at all the company’s 
shareholders. 
aa) If the shares are purchased on the stock exchange, the 
consideration per share paid by the company (excluding ancil-
lary purchase costs) may not be more than 10 percent higher 
or 20 percent lower than the average closing price over the 
ten trading days on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange (Frankfurter 
Wertpapierbörse, FWB) preceding the purchase of the shares 
(on the electronic trading platform XETRA or a comparable 
successor trading system) for shares with the same features.
bb) If the shares are acquired by means of a public offering 
to all the company’s shareholders, the price per share offered 
(excluding ancillary purchase costs) may not be more than 10 
percent higher or 20 percent lower than the average closing 
price over the ten trading days on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
(Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse, FWB) preceding the publication 
of the offer. The purchase offer may stipulate further conditions.

With respect to shares in the company that are acquired on the 
basis of this authorisation or that have been acquired on the 
basis of previous authorisations, the Management Board has 
been authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to 
dispose of the shares by means of an offering to all shareholders 
or selling on the stock exchange, or in addition: 
aa) to offer them as consideration to third parties under a busi-
ness combination agreement, for the acquisition of another 
company or of a long-term equity investment in another com-
pany or parts of another company or for the purchase of claims 
against the company; 
bb) to dispose of them to third parties; the price at which the 
shares are sold to third parties may not be significantly lower 
than the stock exchange price at the time of their disposal; if 
the company decides to make use of this authorisation, the 
exclusion of subscription rights on account of other authorisa-
tions pursuant to section 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG) should 
be observed;
cc) to grant shares to members of the Management Board or 
other employees of the company or to members of the senior 
management or employees of affiliated entities as defined 
by sections 15 et seq of the German Stock Corporation Act, 
providing such persons are entitled to subscribe to the shares 
under employee stock option plans; the company’s Supervisory 
Board shall decide on any proposals to transfer treasury shares 
to members of the company’s Management Board;
dd) to withdraw the shares without a requirement for the with-

drawal or its execution to be approved by means of a further 
resolution by the shareholders’ meeting; any such withdrawal 
would lead to a capital reduction; the shares may also be with-
drawn by means of a simplified procedure without a capital 
reduction by adjusting the proportional accounting nominal 
value of the remaining no-par value shares to the company’s 
share capital; withdrawal may be limited to part of the shares 
acquired by this means.

The above authorisations concerning the use of treasury shares 
acquired by the company may be exercised on one or more 
occasions, wholly or partially and singly or together. 
 Shareholders’ subscription rights to treasury shares 
acquired by the company are excluded provided that the shares 
in question are used under the authorisations detailed above 
in aa), bb) and cc). The Management Board will in each case 
report to the shareholders’ meeting on the reasons for and the 
purpose of the acquisition of treasury shares, the number of 
shares purchased, the amount of share capital they represent 
and the consideration paid for the shares.
 The Supervisory Board is authorised to amend the 
wording of the articles of association depending on the use 
made in individual cases of the authorisation to call in shares.
 As at 31 December 2014, the company did not hold 
any treasury shares.

Significant agreements to which the company 
is party that take effect upon a change of con-
trol following a takeover bid
TOMORROW FOCUS AG is not aware of any agreements which 
take effect upon a change of control following a takeover bid.

Compensation agreements between the com-
pany and members of the Management Board 
or employees providing for the event that a 
takeover bid takes place 
If, by Supervisory Board resolution against the will of Christoph 
Schuh, the rules of procedure are changed resulting in changes 
to the business segments assigned to him or in a significant 
limitation of the scope of his powers as set forth in the rules of 
procedure, or the current or future chairperson of the Super-
visory Board is replaced by someone who is not a member of 
the current Supervisory Board, Christoph Schuh has the special 
right to give notice of terminating his service contract. 
 If Christoph Schuh exercises this special right of 
termination, he is entitled to receive a severance payment or 
bridge money. These payments may not exceed two times his 
annual salary.
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8.  Declaration on Corporate Governance

The actions taken by the management and controlling bodies 
of TOMORROW FOCUS AG are determined by the principles 
of responsible and proper corporate governance. For further 
details, please see the Declaration on Corporate Governance 
in accordance with section 3.10 of the German Corporate Gov-
ernance Code and section 289a, paragraph 1 of the German 
Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB). This declara-
tion was released by the Management Board, also on behalf 
of the Supervisory Board, and can be found on the website of 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG at http://www.tomorrow-focus.com/
investor-relations/fixed/investor-relations-corporate-gover-
nance_aid_160.html.

9.  Remuneration report

Remuneration report for the Management 
Board
The overall structure of the remuneration system for the Man-
agement Board is determined by the entire Supervisory Board. 
There is therefore no committee within the Supervisory Board 
that deals specifically with the issue of remuneration for mem-
bers of the Management Board. The remuneration paid to the 
members of the Management Board depends on the compa-
ny’s size and orientation, as well as its economic and financial 
position. It is also fixed at a competitive rate as an incentive for 
committed and effective work in a dynamic environment.
 The remuneration of Management Board members 
includes a fixed element which is not based on performance 
and a variable performance-related element of between 20 
percent and 35 percent. 50 percent of this variable element is 
based on profit targets, 25 percent on revenue targets and the 
remaining 25 percent on individual performance targets. All 
three components are specified by the Supervisory Board for 
each new financial year. 
 Since 2011, members of the Group’s Management 
Board and other senior managers have been eligible for ben-
efits under the performance share plan. The plan generates 
cash payments in annual tranches over a five-year period. The 
benefits accrue on a graded vesting basis, i.e. the first tranche 
is vested over a period of one year, while the last tranche can 
be exercised after five years. Senior employees are allocated a 
number of virtual shares in the company based on the degree 
to which earnings before tax and amortisation (EBTA) targets 
have been met. These virtual shares are subject in each case 

to a minimum holding period of three years, after which the 
members of the company’s Management Board may receive a 
cash payment (beginning in 2015 for 2011). The granting of a 
tranche does not automatically create an entitlement to further 
tranches. Equally, if the corresponding plan thresholds are not 
met in a given year, this does not automatically invalidate the 
plan for subsequent years.
The number of virtual shares awarded per tranche under the 
long-term incentive plan (LTIP) is equal to the quotient ob-
tained from dividing the underlying sum (based on EBTA) by 
the average initial reference price of the company’s shares 
(rounded up or down as per standard commercial practice to 
the nearest whole number). If the EBTA target is exceeded in 
a given year, the underlying sum is increased in line with the 
percentage by which the target is exceeded up to a maximum 
of 120 percent of the target underlying sum (which represents 
a 100 percent achievement of the target). If the EBTA target 
is not met in a given financial year, the underlying sum is re-
duced in line with the percentage shortfall. The underlying sum 
is automatically disregarded if EBTA falls below 80 percent of 
the target figure in a given financial year. Equally, there is no 
allocation of virtual shares if the figure for net debt in the Group’s 
adopted financial statements (according to IFRS) is more than 
double the figure for EBITDA. Net debt is the total of all the 
Group’s interest-bearing liabilities (including liabilities to banks 
and affiliated entities and payables under finance leases) less 
cash and cash equivalents. The initial reference price of the 
virtual shares is the average closing price for shares in TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS AG on the XETRA trading platform over the last 
100 stock exchange trading days prior to the annual general 
meeting of shareholders at which the consolidated financial 
statements for that year are presented following their approval 
by the Supervisory Board. 

The cash sum payable under the LTIP on expiry of the minimum 
holding period is calculated by multiplying the number of virtual 
shares allocated to each entitled party for the respective tranche 
by the closing reference price of the company’s shares plus the 
accumulated dividend per virtual share. The closing reference 
price is the average closing price for shares in TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG on the XETRA trading platform over the last 100 
stock exchange trading days prior to the annual general meet-
ing of shareholders at which the consolidated financial state-
ments are presented for the financial year after expiry of the 
three-year holding period for the relevant tranche following their 
approval by the Supervisory Board. The maximum payment is 
limited to three times the underlying sum (based on EBTA) for 
the tranche in question. 
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The virtual shares also qualify for dividends. At the end of each 
vesting period, the cumulative dividend for each virtual share is 
included with the cash payment for that tranche.

The fair value of the virtual shares for which the right of the 
counterparty to receive a cash sum has become unforfeitable 
was estimated using an IFRS 2-compliant valuation model (bi-
nomial model). The figures are shown in the table upper left.

The table upper right details the personnel costs for consider-
ation received during the financial year.

A company car is also provided. There are no further elements 
of remuneration.

At their general meeting on 1 June 2011 the shareholders 
decided by qualified majority to apply an opt-out clause, thus 
exempting TOMORROW FOCUS AG from the statutory obli-
gation to provide individual disclosures up to and including the 
financial year 2015.
 In the financial year 2014, the remuneration of the 
three members of the Management Board totalled EUR 1.3 
million (2013: EUR 2.2 million). This figure includes fixed remu-
neration of EUR 1.1 million (2013: EUR 1.1 million) and variable 
remuneration of EUR 0.1 million (2013: EUR 1.1 million).

Shareholdings of Management Board members
Christoph Schuh held a total of 91,600 TOMORROW FOCUS 
shares as at 31 December 2014. This corresponds to approx-
imately 0.16 percent of the company’s shares.
Dr Dirk Schmelzer held a total of 40,000 TOMORROW FOCUS 
shares as at 31 December 2014. This corresponds to approx-
imately 0.07 percent of the company’s shares.

In financial 2014, TOMORROW FOCUS AG received the follow-
ing disclosures of securities transactions involving members of 
the Management Board pursuant to section 15a of the German 
Securities Trading Act: The figures are shown in the table below. 

Other Management Board-related disclosures
The members of TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s executive bodies 
and the executive bodies of all affiliated entities are exempted 
by TOMORROW FOCUS AG from third-party claims if such 
exemption is legally admissible. The company has third-party 
liability cover (D&O insurance) in respect of the members of its 
executive bodies and its executive officers. It covers personal 
liability for claims in respect of financial loss arising from the 
managerial activities of directors and officers. There is a de-
ductible of EUR 0.55 million on the above D&O insurance for 
members of the Management Board. 
 There are no other pension commitments in respect 
of Management Board members.

Other liabilities Personnel costs

OTHER LIABILITIES
2014

€ ‘000
2013

€ ‘000

Liabilities from share-based payment 
transactions with cash settlement to Ma-
nagement Board members 1,415 1,510

Total 1,415 1,510

PERSONNEL COSTS
2014

€ ‘000
2013

€ ‘000

Cost (+) of / income (-) from share-based 
payment transactions with cash settlement 
to Management Board members -95 659

Total -95 659

Transactions in TOMORROW FOCUS shares 

PERSON SUBJECT TO
DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

TRANSACTION 
DATE TRANSACTION STOCK MARKET QUANTITY 

SHARE PRICE 
PER UNIT

Christoph Schuh 30 July 2014 Purchase OTC 9,100 EUR 3.005 
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Remuneration report for the Supervisory Board
The remuneration of the TOMORROW FOCUS AG Supervi-
sory Board is regulated in article 11 of TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG’s articles of association, which stipulates a fixed amount of 
EUR 25,000 for every member of the Supervisory Board for 
each complete financial year and double this amount for the 
chairperson. An additional sum of EUR 10,000 is paid to the 
chairperson of each Supervisory Board committee for each 
complete financial year. Each other member of the committee 
receives an additional compensation of EUR 5,000 per annum. 
A pro rata sum is paid to members of the Supervisory Board 
who do not serve for a full financial year.  

The members of the Supervisory Board received the following 
remuneration in the financial year 2014:

The company incurred EUR 55 thousand in costs (2013:  
EUR 6 thousand) in connection with a service contract with a 
firm of lawyers in which one Supervisory Board member was a 
partner up to the end of June 2014.

Shareholdings of Supervisory Board members
At the end of the financial year 2014, the total number of shares 
in TOMORROW FOCUS AG held directly or indirectly by all 
members of the Supervisory Board stood at 275,551. 
 No members of the Supervisory Board were above 
the established limit for individual disclosure of 1 percent of the 
total shares issued.

In the financial year 2014, TOMORROW FOCUS AG received 
no disclosures from Supervisory Board members of securities 
transactions as required by section 15a of the German Securi-
ties Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG). 

Other disclosures relating to the Supervisory 
Board
TOMORROW FOCUS AG has third-party liability cover (D&O 
insurance) without a deductible in respect of the members of its 
Supervisory Board. Further information about this insurance is 
provided under Other Management Board-related disclosures 
which forms part of this remuneration report.

Other disclosures
In line with the incentive programme devised for members of 
the Management Board, senior employees of TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG and the managing directors of its subsidiaries also 
qualify for long-term incentives in the form of a share price-
based performance share plan awarded in annual tranches. 
Qualifying staff are allocated a number of virtual shares in the 
company based on the degree to which EBTA targets have been 
met. These virtual shares are subject to a minimum holding 
period of three years, after which the holders receive a cash 
payment (vested after the first year).
 There are no stock option plans or similar securi-
ties-based incentive schemes for the Supervisory Board or 
other employees at TOMORROW FOCUS AG.

10.  Employees

The average headcount for the TOMORROW FOCUS Group in 
the continuing operations in 2014 was 698 full-time equivalents 
(FTEs). The corresponding figure for 2013 in the continuing 
operations was 681 FTEs. On average, 28 people worked at 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG during the year (2013: 27), including 
the members of the Management Board. 

Remuneration report for the  
Supervisory Board

MEMBER OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
REMUNERATION 
€

Stefan Winners  (Chairperson, member of  
the audit committee) 55,000.00 

Dr Dirk Altenbeck (Deputy Chairperson  
since 4 June 2014; Chairperson of the audit 
committee) 35,000.00 

Annet Aris (member of the audit committee up 
to 4 June 2014; stepped down from Supervisory 
Board on 4 June 2014) 12,833.33 

Dr. Andreas Rittstieg (Deputy Chairperson up 
to 4 June 2014; member of the audit committee 
since 4 June 2014) 27,861.11 

Holger Taubmann (member of the Supervisory 
Board since 4 June 2014) 14,305.56

Martin Weiss 25,000.00
Philipp Welte 25,000.00
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The employees of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group worked in 
the following segments (average figures for the year):

    

The TOMORROW FOCUS Group’s personnel costs amount-
ed to EUR 46.0 million in financial 2014 following EUR 43.8 
million in the previous year.

11.  Notes and forward-looking  
statements 

Definitions 
All mentions of ‘TOMORROW FOCUS AG’, ‘the group of 
companies’ or ‘the Group’ in this management report relate 
to the TOMORROW FOCUS Group.

Forward-looking statements 
This management report contains statements relating to fu-
ture business and financial performance and future events 
or developments concerning TOMORROW FOCUS that may 
constitute forward-looking statements. These statements 
may be identified by words such as ‘expects’, ‘looks forward 
to’, ‘anticipates’, ‘intends’, ‘plans’, ‘believes’, ‘seeks’, ‘estimates’, 
‘will’, ‘project’ or words of similar meaning. We may also make 
forward-looking statements in other reports, in presenta-
tions, in material delivered to shareholders and in media re-
leases. In addition, our representatives may from time to time 
make oral forward-looking statements. Such statements 
are based on current expectations and certain assumptions 
of the TOMORROW FOCUS management team, and are, 
therefore, subject to various risks and uncertainties. Numer-
ous factors, many of which are beyond the control of TO-
MORROW FOCUS, nevertheless affect its operations, per-

formance, business strategy and results and could cause the 
Group’s actual results, performance or achievements to be 
materially different from those expressed or implied in such 
forward-looking statements or anticipated on the basis of 
historical trends. These factors include in particular, but are 
not limited to, the matters described in section 4.2.2 of this 
report under the heading Risks. Further information about 
risks and uncertainties affecting TOMORROW FOCUS can 
be found in this annual report and in our most recent earn-
ings release, both of which are available on our website at 
www.tomorrow-focus.de. Should one or more of these risks 
or uncertainties materialise, or should underlying assump-
tions prove incorrect, the actual results, performance or 
achievements of TOMORROW FOCUS may vary materially 
from those described in the corresponding forward-look-
ing statements as being expected, anticipated, intended, 
planned, believed, sought, estimated or projected. TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS neither intends, nor assumes any obligation, to 
update or revise these forward-looking statements in light of 
developments which differ from those anticipated. 
   Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout 
this and other documents may not add up precisely to the 
totals shown, and percentages may not precisely reflect the 
absolute figures.

Publishing:  231 (2013: 214)

Subscription: 116 
(2013: 114)

Holding/Other: 28  (2013: 27)

Travel:  323 (2013: 326)
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G R O U P  M A N AG E M E N T  R E PO RT

12.  Responsibility statement by the le-
gal representatives in accordance with 
Section 37y, number 1 of the German 
Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhan-
delsgesetz, WpHG) in conjunction with 
Section 297, paragraph 2, sentence 4 
and Section 315, paragraph 1, sentence 
6 of the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB)

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the ap-
plicable reporting principles, the consolidated financial state-
ments as at 31 December 2014 give a true and fair view of the 
assets and liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group and the group management 
report includes a fair review of the development and perfor-
mance of the business and the position of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group, together with a description of the principal 
opportunities and risks associated with the expected devel-
opment of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group.

Munich, Germany, 19 March 2015

Antonius Bouten   Dr Dirk Schmelzer   Christoph Schuh
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer  Management Board Member
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C O N S O L I DAT E D  B A L A N C E  S H E ET

Consolidated Balance Sheet

ASSETS NOTES 31 DEC 2014
€ ‘000

31 DEC 2013
€ ‘000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Intangible assets 
Concessions, industrial property rights and similar rights and assets as well  
as licences to such rights and assets 

 
11.1.

 
31,421

 
37,403

Software developed in-house 11.1. 14,912 12,825
Goodwill 11.1. 123,296 134,382
Prepayments 11.3. 72 33

169,701 184,643
Property, plant and equipment 
Property and equivalent rights 0 6
Other plant, furniture and fixtures 11.2. 3,815 3,764
Prepayments 11.3. 30 87

3,845 3,857
Financial assets 
Shares in affiliated entities 31 31
Long-term equity investments 11.4. 459 459
Other loans receivable 11.5. 1,350 1,072

1,840 1,562
Receivables and other assets
Other assets 11.10. 868 500

868 500
Deferred taxes 11.6./11.19. 1,263 2,071
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 177,517 192,633

CURRENT ASSETS 

Receivables and other assets 
Trade receivables 11.8. 26,122 27,526
Receivables from affiliated entities 11.9. 407 976
Receivables from long-term investees  
and investors 

 
11.9.

 
69 149

Income tax receivables  19 79
Other assets  11.10. 3,134 7,187

29,751 35,917
Cash and cash equivalents  11.11. 26,640 26,068
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 56,391 61,985

TOTAL ASSETS 233,908 254,618

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
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EQUIT Y AND LIABILITIES NOTES 31 DEC 2014
€ ‘000

31 DEC 2013
€ ‘000

EQUIT Y 

Subscribed capital 11.12. 58,314 58,314
Capital reserves 11.12. 84,808 84,808
Other reserves 11.15. -2,556 -2,578
Consolidated retained earnings -15,073 -7,896

125,493 132,648
TOTAL EQUIT Y 125,493 132,648

LIABILITIES  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Provisions for pensions  and similar obligations 11.16. 1,796 990
Deferred taxes 11.6./11.19. 5,663 5,759
Liabilities to banks 11.21. 54,500 36,770
Trade payables 11.23. 58 0
Other liabilities 11.22. 3,741 36,372
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 65,758 79,891

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Other provisions 11.20. 1,189 860
Liabilities to banks 11.21. 842 1,377
Trade payables 11.23, 12,174 15,403
Liabilities to affiliated entities 11.9. 3,532 3,858
Income tax liabilities 11.19. 1,977 2,303
Other liabilities 11.22. 22,943 18,278
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 42,657 42,079
TOTAL LIABILITIES 108,415 121,970

TOTAL EQUIT Y AND LIABILITIES  233,908 254,618
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C O N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  I N C O M E

Consolidated Statement
of income

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 

NOTES 1 JAN –  
31 DEC 2014

€ ‘000

1 JAN –  
31 DEC 2013

€ ‘000 1)

Revenue 12.1. 161,493 151,015

Other income 12.2. 6,910 12,606

Other own work capitalised 12.3. 4,736 2,653

Cost of materials 12.4. -20,876 -19,197

Personnel costs 12.6. -45,983 -43,836
Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets 11.1./11.2. -8,150 -9,409
Other expenses 12.7. -80,681 -73,944
Other taxes -9 -2
Operating result 17,440 19,886

Financial income 12.8. 283 130
Financial expenses 12.9. -3,819 -4,911
Financial result -3,536 -4,781

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations before taxes 13,904 15,105

Actual taxes 11.19. -3,003 -2,539
Deferred taxes 11.6./11.19. -252 -137
Tax result -3,255 -2,676

Consolidated profit/ (loss) after taxes from continuing operations 10,649 12,429

Consolidated profit/ (loss) after taxes from discontinued operations -14,327 -450

Consolidated net profit/ (loss) after taxes -3,678 11,979

Consolidated net profit/ (loss) attributable to    
equity holders of the parent company  -3,678 11,979

-3,678 11,979

€ €

Basic and diluted earnings per share from  
continuing operations 0.18 0.21

Basic and diluted earnings per share from  
discontinued operations -0.25 -0.01

Average number of shares outstanding 58,313,628 58,313,628

Notes
1) Adjusted for the effects resulting from application of IFRS 5. Explanation in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (10). 
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Consolidated Statement
of comprehensive income

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014 

NOTES 1 JAN –  
31 DEC 2014

€ ‘000

1 JAN –  
31 DEC 2013

€ ‘000

Consolidated net profit/ (loss) after taxes -3,678 11,979

Items not subject to reclassification
to the statement of income -286 201

Revaluation of defined-benefit pension plans  -286 201
change due to revaluation -348 221
deferred tax effect 62 -20

Items subject to reclassification 
to the statement of income in future 308 241

Currency translation differences 11.15. -6 -2
Cash flow hedges 11.15. 314 243

changes in fair value recognised in equity 83 197
recognised in income 383 147
deferred taxes on cash flow hedges -152 -101

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) 22 442

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) -3,656 12,421

Comprehensive income/ (loss) attributable to 
equity holders of the parent company -3,656 12,421

-3,656 12,421
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C O N S O L I DAT E D  STAT E M E N T  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  EQ U I T Y

Consolidated Statement 
of changes in equity

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014

110

EQUIT Y ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUIT Y HOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY 

OTHER RESERVES

Subscribed
capital 
€ ‘000

Capital 
reserves 

€ ‘000

Reserves for the  
revaluation of 

defined-benefit 
pension plans 

€ ‘000

Reserves for 
currency  

translation
 differences

€ ‘000

Reserves for  
cash flow  

hedges 
€ ‘000

Notes 11.12. 11.12. 11.15. 11.15.
1 January 2013 53,012 70,628 -363 -2,100 -557
Authorised capital increase 5,302 14,862 0 0 0

Offsetting of capital increase costs against 
capital reserves (after tax effect) 0 -682 0 0 0

Net profit/ (loss) after taxes according to 
consolidated statement of income 0 0 0 0 0

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) 
according to consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income 0 0 201 -2 243

Consolidated comprehensive income/ (loss) 0 0 201 -2 243
Distribution 0 0 0 0 0

31 December 2013 58,314 84,808 -162 -2,102 -314

1 January 2014 58,314 84,808 -162 -2,102 -314

Net profit/ (loss) after taxes according to 
consolidated statement of income 0 0 0 0 0

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) 
according to consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income 0 0 -286 -6 314

Consolidated comprehensive income/ (loss) 0 0 -286 -6 314
Distribution 0 0 0 0 0

31 December 2014 58,314 84,808 -448 -2,108 0
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Consolidated 
retained 
earnings 

€ ‘000
TOTAL
€ ‘000

TOTAL
equity 
€ ‘000

Notes
1 January 2013 -16,392 104,228 104,228
Authorised capital increase 0 20,164 20,164

Offsetting of capital increase costs against  
capital reserves (after tax effect) 0 -682 -682

Net profit/ (loss) after taxes according to  
consolidated statement of income 11,979 11,979 11,979

Other comprehensive income/ (loss)  
according to consolidated statement of  
comprehensive income 

0 442 442

Consolidated comprehensive income/ (loss) 11,979 12,421 12,421
Distribution -3,483 -3,483 -3,483

31 December 2013 -7,896 132,648 132,648

1 January 2014 -7,896 132,648 132,648

Net profit/ (loss) after taxes according to  
consolidated statement of income -3,678 -3,678 -3,678

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) 
according to consolidated statement of  
comprehensive income 0 22 22

Consolidated comprehensive income/ (loss) -3,678 -3,656 -3,656
Distribution -3,499 -3,499 -3,499

31 December 2014 -15,073 125,493 125,493

EQUIT Y ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUIT Y HOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY
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Consolidated Statement
of cash flows
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014

NOTES 1 JAN –  
31 DEC 2014

€ ‘000

1 JAN –  
31 DEC 2013

€ ‘000 1)

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated net profit/(loss) after taxes -3,678 11,979

Adjustments for translation of profit/(loss)  
after taxes to inflows/outflows

– Financial income 12.8. -108 -96
+ Financial expenses 12.9. 3,971 5,380

+ Depreciation and amortisation of tangible  
and intangible assets 11.1./11.2. 24,409 17,067

+ Write-downs of financial assets 0 19
+/– Effects of deconsolidation 9.2. 1,679 -2,585
+/– Personnel costs resulting from long-term incentive plans and stock option programmes 11.17./11.18. 234 1,308
–/+ Exchange rate-related revaluation or devaluation of currency holdings -18 31
–/+ Unrealised gains or losses on financial assets -49 -67
–/+ Changes in deferred taxes 11.19. 652 1,091
+/– Changes in provisions for pensions and similar obligations 11.16. 458 265

= Operating result before changes in net working capital 27,550 34,392

 –/+ Gains/(losses) from disposal of  
non-current assets 62 97

 –/+ Increase/ decrease in assets  
not attributable to investing or financing activities -1,012 -1,170

+/– Increase/ decrease in liabilities 
not attributable to investing or financing activities  5,317 2,617

–/+ Changes in receivables from/liabilities to affiliated entities 
as well as to other long-term investees and investors  1,268 453

 +/– Other non-cash expenses/income 2) -7,542 -16,128

= Changes in net working capital -1,907 -14,131
= Cash from current operations 25,643 20,261
– Interest expenses -2,105 -1,567
= Net cash from operating activities 23,538 18,694

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 + Cash inflow from disposal of tangible and intangible assets 13 26
– Cash outflow for investment in tangible and intangible assets  -11,988 -10,857
– Cash outflow for investment in financial assets -600 -1,023
+ Cash inflow from interest   30 42

+/– Cash inflow/outflow from disposal of consolidated entities   
less cash aquired  3) -5,090 2,996

– Cash outflow for the acquisition of consolidated entities 
less cash acquired  4) 0 -2,351

= Net cash used in financing activities -17,635 -11,167
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Additional information
In the financial year under review, there were tax outflows of EUR 3,749 thousand (in 2013: 
EUR 2,196 thousand) and tax inflows of EUR 57 thousand (in 2013: EUR 80 thousand). In 
2013, the Group’s cash increased due to the inflow of EUR 30 thousand from investment 
income.

Notes
1)  Adjusted for the effects resulting from application of IAS 8. Explanation in the notes to 

the consolidated financial statements, paragraph 2.3.
2)  The non-cash income mainly refers to income in connection with the revaluation of put 

option/earn-out liabilities and compensation-related liabilities linked to the purchase/
sale of the remaining shares in WebAssets B.V. (EUR 1,980 thousand), RPC Voyages 
SAS (EUR 5,299 thousand) and jameda GmbH (EUR 263 thousand). 
The non-cash income in 2013 refers to income in connection with the revaluation of put 
option/earn-out liabilities and compensation-related liabilities. The amount of EUR 
8,768 thousand refers to income generated from the revaluation of put/call options 
resulting from the acquisition of shares in the WebAssets B.V. subgroup in 2012. 
Furthermore an adjusted put/call option was recognised in income with EUR 5,874 
thousand relating to the acquisition of shares in RPC Voyages SAS. In addition, 
non-cash income of EUR 1,486 thousand resulted from the revaluation of earn-out 
obligations recognised as liabilities in connection with the acquisition of shares in RPC 
Voyages SAS in 2012.

3)  The Group recorded a cash outflow of EUR 805 thousand (EUR 3,935 thousand) from 
the disposal of shares in Cellular GmbH and RPC Voyages SAS. The amounts include 
the sales revenue earned, less cash disposed of. In addition a sum of EUR 350 
thousand, which resulted from the disposal of shares in TFT TIE Kinetix GmbH (formely 
TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH) in 2013 was reimbursed to the buyers. In 
2013 the Group earned net revenue of EUR 2,996 thousand from the disposal of its 
shares in TFT TIE Kinetix GmbH (formerly TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH).

4)  In 2013, there was a cash outflow of EUR 2,351 thousand for the acquisition of the 
controlling majority in NetMoms GmbH.  The inflows and outflows shown refer to the 
acquisition costs paid, less cash acquired.

5)  This amount includes profit distribution payments to former shareholders of 
subsidiaries.

6)  The amount shown for the financial year under review refers to the payment of EUR 
18,200 thousand as consideration for the purchase of the remaining shares in WebAssets 
B.V. In 2013, EUR 15,250 thousand were paid for additional shares in HolidayCheck AG, 
and EUR 2,000 thousand were paid to the sellers of RPC Voyages SAS as part of the 
earn-out commitment. 
 
 

NOTES 1 JAN –  
31 DEC 2014

€ ‘000

1 JAN –  
31 DEC 2013

€ ‘000 1)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

+ Cash inflow from capital increases 11.11. 0 19,166
– Cash outflow in connection with capital increase costs 11.11. 0 -682
– Distribution to third parties  5) -984 -1,374
– Dividend payments -3,499 -3,483
+ Cash inflow from borrowing 11.20. 40,000 0
– Cash outflow for the repayment of loans 11.20. -22,660 -1,190

– Cash outflow for the acquisition of further shares in entities already consolidated at 
the reporting date 6) -18,200 -17,250

= Net cash used in financing activities -5,343 -4,813

VALUATION-RELATED CHANGES IN CASH 

+/– Non-cash change resulting from translation of cash flows to average costs -2 0
+/– Change in value of cash due to closing rate changes -4 -1
+/– Exchange rate-related revaluation or devaluation of currency holdings 18 -31

= Valuation-related changes in cash 12 -32

= Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 572 2,682
+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 26,068 23,386
= Cash at the end of the period 26,640 26,068
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Consolidated Statement of changes
in non-current assets
PART OF THE NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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N OT E S  TO  T H E  C O N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N TS

CARRYING AMOUNTS 

31 DEC 2014
€ ‘000

 31 DEC 2013 
€ ‘000

1 JAN 2014
€ ‘000

Intangible assets

Concessions, industrial property rights and similar rights and  
assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 31,421 37,403 50,291

Software developed in-house 14,912 12,825 24,094

Goodwill 123,296 134,382 142,250

Prepayments 72 33 33
169,701 184,643 216,668

Property, plant and equipment
Property and equivalent rights 0 6 7

Other property, plant and equipment;  furniture and fixtures 3,815 3,764 7,990

Prepayments 30 87 87
3,845 3,857 8,084

Financial assets
Shares in affiliated entities 31 31 56

Long-term equity investments 459 459 483

Other loans 1,350 1,072 1,091

1,840 1,562 1,630

Intangible assets

Concessions, industrial property rights and similar rights and  
assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 

Software developed in-house 
Goodwill
Prepayments 

Property, plant and equipment
Property and equivalent rights 
Other property, plant and equipment;  furniture and fixtures 
Prepayments

Financial assets
Shares in affiliated entities 
Long-term equity investments 
Other loans 

Note
1) EUR 15,945 thousand relates to amortisation on intangible assets and EUR 314 thousand is depreciation on property, plant and equipment from discontinued operations.

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2014
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AQUISITION AND PRODUCTION COSTS

ADDITIONS 
€ ‘000

DISPOSALS
€ ‘000

DISPOSAL AND 
CHANGE TO RE- 

PORTING ENTITY
€ ‘000

TRANSFERS
€ ‘000

CURRENCY 
RESERVES

€ ‘000
31 DEC 2014

€ ‘000

1,590 1,204 5,267 0 0 45,410

8,672 3,558 4,106 0 0 25,102
0 0 17,244 0 0 125,006

39 0 0 0 0 72
10,301 4,762 26,617 0 0 195,590

0 7 0 0 0 0
1,656 672 757 87 -3 8,301

31 0 0 -87 -1 30
1,687 679 757 0 -4 8,331

0 0 0 0 0 56
0 0 0 0 0 483

600 203 119 0 0 1,369

600 203 119 0 0 1,908

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND DEPRECIATION

1 JAN 2014
€ ‘000

ADDITIONS 
€ ‘000 1)

DISPOSALS
€ ‘000

DISPOSAL AND 
CHANGE TO RE- 

PORTING ENTITY
€ ‘000

CURRENCY 
RESERVES

€ ‘000
31 DEC 2014

€ ‘000

12,888 7,504 1,144 5,259 0 13,989

11,269 4,181 3,557 1,703 0 10,190
7,868 11,086 0 17,244 0 1,710

0 0 0 0 0 0
32,025 22,771 4,701 24,206 0 25,889

1 0 1 0 0 0
4,226 1,638 665 711 -2 4,486

0 0 0 0 0 0
4,227 1,638 666 711 -2 4,486

 
25 0 0 0 0 25
24 0 0 0 0 24
19 0 0 0 0 19

68 0 0 0 0 68
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N OT E S  TO  T H E  C O N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  STAT E M E N TS

CARRYING AMOUNTS 

31 DEC 2013
€ ‘000

 31 DEC 2012 
€ ‘000

1 JAN 2013
€ ‘000

Intangible assets

Concessions, industrial property rights and similar rights and  
assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 37,403 37,251 49,184

Software developed in-house 12,825 9,711 18,337

Goodwill 134,382 137,655 137,655

Prepayments 33 1,002 1,002
184,643 185,619 206,178

Property, plant and equipment
Property and equivalent rights 6 10 11

Other property, plant and equipment;  furniture and fixtures 3,764 3,855 7,812

Prepayments 87 0 0
3,857 3,865 7,823

Financial assets
Shares in affiliated entities 31 31 31

Long-term equity investments 459 459 483

Other loans 1,072 68 68

1,562 558 582

Intangible assets

Concessions, industrial property rights and similar rights and  
assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 

Software developed in-house 
Goodwill
Prepayments 

Property, plant and equipment
Property and equivalent rights 
Other property, plant and equipment;  furniture and fixtures 
Prepayments

Financial assets
Shares in affiliated entities 
Long-term equity investments 
Other loans 

Consolidated Statement of changes
in non-current assets
PART OF THE NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2013
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AQUISITION AND PRODUCTION COSTS

ADDITIONS 
€ ‘000

ADDITIONS FROM 
FIRST-TIME  

CONSOLIDATION 
€ ‘000

DISPOSALS
€ ‘000

DISPOSAL AND 
CHANGE TO RE- 

PORTING ENTITY
€ ‘000

TRANSFERS
€ ‘000

CURRENCY 
RESERVES

€ ‘000
31 DEC 2013

€ ‘000

2,988 47 679 2,251 1,002 0 50,291

6,251 939 764 669 0 0 24,094
0 4,595 0 0 0 0 142,250

33 0 0 0 -1,002 0 33
9,272 5,581 1,443 2,920 0 0 216,668

0 0 4 0 0 0 7
1,498 38 542 815 0 -1 7,990

87 0 0 0 0 0 87
1,585 38 546 815 0 -1 8,084

0 25 0 0 0 0 56
0 0 0 0 0 0 483

1,023 0 0 0 0 0 1,091

1,023 25 0 0 0 0 1,630

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND DEPRECIATION

1 JAN 2013
€ ‘000

ADDITIONS FROM 
FIRST-TIME  

CONSOLIDATION 
€ ‘000

ADDITIONS 
€ ‘000

DISPOSALS
€ ‘000

DISPOSAL AND 
CHANGE TO RE- 

PORTING ENTITY
€ ‘000

CURRENCY 
RESERVES

€ ‘000
31 DEC 2013

€ ‘000

11,933 9 3,806 624 2,237 1 12,888

8,626 0 4,053 741 669 0 11,269
0 0 7,868 0 0 0 7,868
0 0 0 0 0 0 0

20,559 9 15,727 1,365 2,906 1 32,025

1 0 1 1 0 0 1
3,957 35 1,339 500 604 -1 4,226

0 0 0 0 0 0 0
3,958 35 1,340 501 604 -1 4,227

 
0 25 0 0 0 0 25

24 0 0 0 0 0 24
0 0 19 0 0 0 19

24 25 19 0 0 0 68
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TR AVEL
1 JAN – 31 DEC 

SUBSCRIPTION
1 JAN – 31 DEC 

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000 1)

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000 1)

External revenue 95,813 85,891 31,925 31,917
Inter-company revenue 3,360 2,320 0 0

99,173 88,211 31,925 31,917

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation  
and amortisation (EBITDA) 21,980 21,987 2,922 2,214

Depreciation and amortisation 5,299 7,120 817 385
SEGMENT EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TA XES (EBIT) 16,681 14,867 2,105 1,829

 

External revenue by company location 
thereof in Switzerland 
thereof in the Netherlands
thereof in France 
thereof in other countries 

Non-current assets 
thereof in Switzerland 
thereof in the Netherlands
thereof in France 
thereof in other countries 
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PUBLISHING
1 JAN – 31 DEC 

HOLDING/OTHER
1 JAN – 31 DEC 

CONSOLIDATED
1 JAN – 31 DEC 

GROUP
1 JAN – 31 DEC 

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000 1)

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000 1)

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000 1)

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000 1)

33,713 33,073 42 134 0 0 161,493 151,015
4,232 2,173 577 504 -8,169 -4,997 0 0

37,945 35,246 619 638 -8,169 -4,997 161,493 151,015

5,255 5,532 -4,567 -438 0 0 25,590 29,295

1,852 1,710 182 194 0 0 8,150 9,409

3,403 3,822 -4,749 -632 0 0 17,440 19,886

NATIONAL  
1 JAN – 31 DEC 

INTERNATIONAL  
1 JAN – 31 DEC 

GROUP
1 JAN – 31 DEC 

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000 1)

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000 1)

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000 1)

61,673 62,121 99,820 88,894 161,493 151,015
84,968 74,757 84,968 74,757
14,850 14,010 14,850 14,010

0 124 0 124
2 3 2 3

36,676 37,821 137,738 151,179 174,414 189,000
85,016 79,825 85,016 79,825
52,672 55,273 52,672 55,273

0 16,050 0 16,050
50 31 50 31

Note
1) Adjusted for the effects resulting from application of IFRS 5. Explanation in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (10)
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TOMORROW FOCUS AG, Munich
Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements for the  
financial year 2014
1.  General disclosures

TOMORROW FOCUS AG (also referred to below as ‘TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS’, ‘TFAG’, the ‘company’ or the ‘TFAG Group’) is an 
Internet group based in the German city of Munich with opera-
tions in Central, Western and Eastern Europe. Its core activities 
are in the fields of travel, online advertising, online dating and 
physician searches and ratings. Its objects are the develop-
ment, production and distribution of online services, software 
solutions, the compilation of databases with editorial contents 
of all kinds for online services, the production of content and 
technology for interactive television, web TV and mobile ap-
plications, the marketing of editorial content and advertising 
space, and other services in the field of multimedia and online 
services, advising businesses in matters of e-commerce and 
content management solutions, application service providing, 
arranging partnerships between providers of online services 
and other enterprises, marketing consultancy and the provision 
of other marketing services. 

A total of 58,313,628 shares (ISIN: DE0005495329; stock 
exchange symbol: TFA) of the company were admitted to the 
Prime Standard of Deutsche Börse on the reporting date. The 
shares are no-par value bearer shares, each representing EUR 1 
of the company’s share capital.

TFAG can be contacted at the following addresses:

Postal address:  Visitors’ address:
TOMORROW FOCUS AG TOMORROW FOCUS AG
P.O. Box 81 01 64  Neumarkter Strasse 61
81901 München  81673 München
Germany   Germany

The companies of the TFAG Group are mentioned in the 
notes as follows:
−  TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH – formerly  

TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH – (‘TFP’)  
−  TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH (‘TF News+’)
−  TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH – formerly  

TOMORROW FOCUS Media Sales GmbH, Munich,  
Germany – (‘TF Media’)

−  TOMORROW FOCUS Content & Service GmbH, Munich, 
Germany (‘HuffPo’)

−  TF Digital GmbH, Munich, Germany (‘TFD’)
−  Cellular GmbH, Hamburg, Germany (‘CELL’)
−  HolidayCheck AG, Bottighofen, Switzerland (‘HC’)
−  EliteMedianet GmbH, Hamburg, Germany (‘EP’)
−  Finanzen100 GmbH, Cologne, Germany - until merger - 

(‘F100’)
−  jameda GmbH, Munich, Germany (‘jameda’)
−  Tomorrow Travel B.V., Zeist, Netherlands (‘Tomorrow Travel’)
−  WebAssets B.V., Zeist, Netherlands (‘WebAssets’)
−  RPC Voyages SAS, Paris, France (‘RPC’)
−  NetMoms GmbH, Cologne, Germany - until merger - 

(‘NetMoms’)
−  organize.me GmbH, Munich, Germany (‘o.me’)
−  Tomorrow Travel Solutions GmbH (‘TTS GmbH’)
−  TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH  

(‘TFT GmbH’)

2.  Preparation of the annual report –  
accounting basis and standards

The consolidated financial statements of TFAG are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and the interpretations issued by IFRS IC, as applicable 
in the European Union, and also according to the supplemen-
tary rules set out in section 315a paragraph 1 of the German 
Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB).

The consolidated financial statements of TFAG have been pre-
pared on a going concern basis.
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With the exception of certain financial instruments recognised 
at fair value, the consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on the basis of historical cost. 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG has prepared a statement of income 
based on the nature of expense method.

The company’s reporting currency is the euro. Numerical dis-
closures are generally made in EUR thousand (or EUR ’000). 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the ba-
sis of the single-entity financial statements as at 31 December 
2014 of those companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements.

All International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) that 
were mandatory and endorsed by the EU as at 31 December 
2014 were applied. This also includes the International Ac-
counting Standards (IAS) and the interpretations issued by the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) and the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).

2.1.  Effect of new or revised standards 

The companies included in the consolidated financial state-
ments all apply the same accounting and valuation policies. 
There has generally been no change from the accounting and 
valuation policies applied in TFAG’s consolidated financial state-
ments for 2013. 

In addition, the Group has applied the following new  
or revised standards that were mandatory for the financial  
year commencing on 1 January 2014.

−  IFRS 10  Consolidated Financial Statements 
−  IFRS 11  Joint Arrangements
−  IFRS 12  Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
−  Amendment to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12  

Transition Guidance
−  Amendment to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27   

Investment Entities
−  Amendment to IAS 27  Separate Financial Statements
−  Amendment to IAS 28  Investments in Associates and Joint 

Ventures
−  Amendment to IAS 32  Financial Instruments: Presenta-

tion - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
−  Amendment to IAS 36  Recoverable Amount Disclosures 

for Non-Financial Assets
−  Amendment to IAS 39  Novation of Derivatives and Contin-

uation of Hedge Accounting

The following section explains the nature and impact of the 
above rules with regard to their first-time application in so far 
as they have any significant impact on the asset, financial and 
income position and on the disclosures contained in the notes 
to these consolidated financial statements.

Three new IASB standards (IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12) 
concern the recognition of links between companies. At the 
same time, the publication of IAS 27 Separate Financial State-
ments and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
introduced revised versions of previous standards.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements introduces a uni-
form definition of the concept of control for all entities and as 
such creates a uniform basis for determining the existence of a 
parent-subsidiary relationship and the corresponding inclusion 
of the subsidiary in the reporting entity. The standard includes 
comprehensive guidelines for determining whether the rela-
tionship is one of control. 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements deals with the treatment of cir-
cumstances in which an entity exercises joint control over a joint 
venture or a joint operation. 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities brings together 
in a single standard all the disclosures required of entities with 
interests or an involvement in other entities. 

IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and the consequential amendments 
to IAS 27 and IAS 28 are applicable to financial years beginning 
on or after 1 January 2014. The Group applied the amended 
standards in 2014 when they became mandatory. The new 
rules had no effect on its consolidated financial statements.

At the same time as it published IFRS 10, 11 and 12, the IASB 
amended IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial State-
ments and IAS 28 Investments in Associates, which now focus 
primarily on accounting for holdings in subsidiaries, joint ven-
tures and associates in the separate IFRS financial statements 
of an investor. This focus was also underlined by changing the 
names of the standards to IAS 27 Separate Financial State-
ments and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. 
The amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28 became mandatory for 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. Their first-
time application at TFAG had no impact on the Group’s income, 
financial or asset situation.
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The amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presen-
tation – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
provide more specific guidelines on the offsetting of financial 
instruments. The application of these amendments to IAS 32 
has no impact on the presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements.

Following the amendments to IAS 36 Recoverable Amount 
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets, disclosures concerning 
the recoverable amount in the case of non-financial assets are 
only still required if the assets were written down or up in the 
current period. This duty of disclosure was introduced in IFRS 
13. The amendment was applicable retrospectively to report-
ing periods commencing on or after 1 January 2014. TFAG 
adopted the amendments to IAS 36 in the financial year 2013 
before they became mandatory.

As a result of the amendment to IAS 39 entitled Novation of De-
rivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting, under certain 
circumstances the novation of a hedging instrument to a central 

counterparty as a result of laws or regulations no longer leads to 
the discontinuation of a hedging relationship. The amendment 
became mandatory for financial years beginning on or after 1 
January 2014. It had no impact on the Group’s income, financial 
or asset situation.

2.2.  New or revised standards and  
interpretations not applied

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 
IFRS Interpretations Committee have adopted a number of ac-
counting rules and interpretations (see table below) that were 
not yet mandatory for the financial year 2014 and have not yet 
been applied within the TFAG Group. In part, their application is 
subject to approval by the European Union (EU). Accordingly, 
the date on which they become mandatory may in some cases 
differ from the dates shown below.

APPLICABLE 
FROM 1)

EARLY 
ADOPTION

ENDORSED  
BY EU

IFRIC 21  Levies 1 July 2014 No Yes

Annual improvements to International Reporting Standards  
(Cycle 2011-2013)  

1 January 2015 No Yes

Annual improvements to International Reporting Standards ( 
Cycle 2010-2012) 1 February 2015 No Yes

Amendment to IAS 19  Employee Benefits 1 July 2015 No Yes
IFRS 14  Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IFRS 10, 12;  
IAS 28  Applying the Consolidation Exception 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28  Sale or Contribution of Assets  
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IFRS 11  Acquisitions of Interests  
in Joint Operations 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IAS 1  Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation 1 January 2016 No No

Amendments to IAS 16 und IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants 1 January 2016 No No
Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2016 No No

Annual improvements to International Reporting Standards  
(Cycle 2012-2014) 1 January 2016 No No

IFRS 15  Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2017 No No
IFRS 9  Financial instruments 1 January 2018 No No

Non-applied new and/or revised standards and interpretations of IASB and IFRIC

Note
1) Date first applicable in EU
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Based on our current assessment, the above standards and 
interpretations (with the exception of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15) will 
have only a minor impact on the Group’s income, financial and 
asset situation. Although TOMORROW FOCUS AG regularly 
analyses these standards, at present it is not possible to quantify 
their potential impact.

2.3.  IAS 8 disclosures

In 2013, the consolidated statement of cash flows contained 
a presentation error. At EUR 17,250 thousand, the item 
‘Cash outflow for the acquisition of consolidated entities’  was 
shown under investing activities. This figure related to the ac-
quisition of additional shares in HolidayCheck AG, for which  
TOMORROW FOCUS AG paid EUR 15,250 thousand, and an 
earn-out obligation of EUR 2,000 thousand (settled in 2013) 
towards the vendors of RPC Voyages SAS. Since these pay-
ments were made in order to bring about a change in ownership 
of a subsidiary and did not entail a gain or loss of control, IAS 
7.42A stipulates that they should be classed as cash flows from 
financing activities. The following table quantifies the impact of 
this correction on the consolidated financial statements.

 

3.  Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the annual 
accounts of TOMORROW FOCUS AG and its subsidiaries as 
at 31 December 2014, which is the balance sheet date for all 
Group entities. Subsidiaries are companies that are controlled 
by TOMORROW FOCUS AG, i.e. if the company is exposed to 
risk, or has rights to variable returns, from its involvement with 
the long-term equity investment, and the Group is in a position 
to use its power over the equity investment to affect the returns 
of the latter.

TOMORROW FOCUS AG re-evaluates whether or not it con-
trols a long-term equity investment whenever facts and circum-
stances indicate that one or more of the above control criteria 
has changed.

Adjustment to CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS in accordance with IAS 8

1 JAN - 31 DEC 2013
PRIOR TO  

ADJUSTMENTS
€ ‘000

ADJUSTMENTS
 PURSUANT TO 

IAS 8
€ ‘000

1 JAN - 31 DEC 2013
AFTER  

ADJUSTMENTS
€ ‘000

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net cash from operating activities 18,694 0 18,694

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

– Cash outflow for the acquisition of consolidated entities  
less cash acquired -19,601 17,250 -2,351

= Net cash used in investing activities -28,417 17,250 -11,167

CASH OUTFLOW FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

– Cash outflow for the acquisition of further shares  
in consolidated entities  0 -17,250 -17,250

= Net cash used in financing activities 12,437 -17,250 -4,813

VALUATION-RELATED CHANGES IN CASH -32 0 -32

= Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,682 0 2,682

+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of  
the financial year 23,386 0 23,386

= Cash at the end of the period 26,068 0 26,068
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The separate financial statements of the subsidiaries are pre-
pared on the basis of uniform accounting and valuation policies 
at the same balance sheet date as the parent company. 

All intra-group balances, transactions, revenue, expenses, prof-
its and losses from intra-group transactions contained in the 
carrying amount of assets are eliminated in full.

A list of all the subsidiaries of TOMORROW FOCUS AG can be 
found in section 9.1 of these notes.

Business combinations
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, 
i.e. from the time when the TFAG Group gains control. Sub-
sidiaries are no longer included in the consolidated financial 
statements as soon as the parent company surrenders control.

Newly acquired Group companies are recognised using the 
acquisition method of accounting. This means that the costs 
of the business combination are distributed over the acquired, 
identifiable assets and the acquired identifiable liabilities and 
contingent liabilities according to their fair values on the date 
of acquisition. Goodwill is created in cases where the costs of 
the long-term equity investment exceed the Group’s share in 
the calculated equity of the company in question. This goodwill 
is checked for impairment at regular intervals on the balance 
sheet date and whenever there are indications that a Group 
company’s value may have fallen. Where necessary, the value 
of goodwill is written down by means of impairment. 

Agreed contingent consideration for the transfer of shares is 
recognised at fair value on the acquisition date. Any subsequent 
changes to the fair value of a contingent consideration classed 
as an asset or liability are measured on the basis of IAS 39 and 
any resulting profit or loss recognised either in the statement 
of income or under other comprehensive income. If a contin-
gent consideration is classed as equity, it is not remeasured. Its 
subsequent settlement is shown under equity. 

Agreed contingent consideration for shareholders who remain 
as employees is treated as remuneration in accordance with 
IFRS 3.B55 (a); payments are recognised in the statement of 
income over the vesting period and the corresponding liability 
in the balance sheet.  

In the case of Group subsidiaries with minority sharehold-
ings, combined put/call options may be in place covering the 
outstanding shares. These options agreements were designed 
in such a way as to transfer all opportunities and risks of the 
minorities at the point of acquisition to TFAG. As such they 
are presented as synthetic financial liabilities. The actual pur-
chase of the remaining minority shareholdings is treated in the 
balance sheet as an anticipated acquisition and shown as full 

consolidation with no recognition of minorities. Consequently, 
as there are no minority shareholdings, all profit or loss and all 
other changes in equity apply to TFAG. Equally, the requirement 
to disclose financial information on subsidiaries with significant 
minority interests is no longer applicable.

If the Group loses control or significant influence over an en-
tity, the remaining interest is remeasured at fair value and the 
resulting difference recognised as a profit or loss. The fair value 
is that calculated on first recognition. In addition, all amounts 
relating to that entity and shown under other comprehensive 
income are accounted for using the same rules that would ap-
ply if the parent company had sold the associated assets and 
liabilities directly. This means that any profit or loss previously 
recognised under other comprehensive income is transferred 
from equity to the statement of income.

Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is part of the Group’s business which 
contains operations and cash flows that can be clearly set apart 
from the rest of the Group, which has been sold or identified 
for sale, and which:
 
-  constitutes a separate, significant line of business or geo-

graphical business area;
-  forms part of a single, agreed plan to dispose of a separate, 

significant line of business 
-  or geographical business area; or
-  constitutes a subsidiary that was acquired with the sole pur-

pose of selling it on. 

Any such business unit is classed as a discontinued operation 
when it is sold or earlier once it meets the criteria for treatment 
as ‘held for sale’.

Whenever a business unit is classed as a discontinued opera-
tion, the statement of comprehensive income for the reference 
year is adjusted and the results shown as though the business 
unit had been discontinued at the beginning of that reference 
year.
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4.  Segment reporting

Business segment reporting is laid out in such a way as to 
conform to the method of in-house reporting to the principal 
decision-making body. The principal decision-making body 
is responsible for decisions on the allocation of resources to 
business segments and for the evaluation of their profitability. 
The Management Board of TFAG constitutes the principal de-
cision-making body.

At TOMORROW FOCUS AG, the segments correspond to the 
following divisions: 

−  Travel
−  Publishing 
−  Subscription 
−  Holding/Other

5.  Reporting currency and  
currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros 
(EUR), the Group’s functional currency and presentation cur-
rency. Each entity within the Group determines its own func-
tional currency. The items included in the financial statements 
of the entity in question are measured in this functional cur-
rency. Transactions in a currency other than the euro are ini-
tially translated between the functional currency and the other 
currency at the spot rate valid on the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than the euro 
are translated into the functional currency on the reporting date. 
All currency differences are recognised in the statement of in-
come. Non-monetary items that are measured at cost in a cur-
rency other than the euro are translated at the rate applicable on 
the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at 
their fair value in a currency other than the euro are translated at 
the rate applicable at the time that the fair value was calculated. 

In the financial year 2014, with the exception of HolidayCheck 
Polska, whose functional currency is the zloty (PLN), all entities 
within the Group adopted the euro (EUR) as their functional 
currency.

The assets and liabilities of all Group entities with a functional 
currency other than the euro are translated into euros on the 
balance sheet date for consolidation purposes. Income and 
expenditure are translated for each statement of income at 
the average exchange rate. All translation differences are rec-
ognised as a separate item in equity under other reserves.

Any goodwill created through the acquisition of a foreign entity 
and any adjustments to the fair values of the identifiable assets 
and liabilities are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entity and translated on the balance sheet date. Any result-
ing translation differences are shown in the foreign currency 
translation reserve. On disposal of this foreign entity, any cor-
responding amount in the foreign currency translation reserve 
is transferred to the statement of income.

6.  Main accounting and  
valuation principles 

The companies included in the consolidated financial state-
ments all apply the same accounting and valuation principles. 
The following section describes the main accounting and valu-
ation principles applied in the preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at the cost of 
acquisition less accumulated depreciation. The cost figure in-
cludes all costs directly attributable to the purchase together 
with the cost of borrowed funds (providing the recognition 
criteria are met).

Throughout the Group, the depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment is based on the following useful lives for important 
assets:

IT hardware  .......................................................................................... 3 years
Lines, technical installations  ....................................................... 8 years
Furnishings ....................................................................................... 10 years
Technical devices  ..................................................................... 4 - 5 years

Property, plant and equipment are written down according to 
the straight-line method.

The cost of maintenance is treated as expense for the period.

Profits and losses on the disposal of property, plant and equip-
ment are shown in the consolidated statement of income under 
other income or other expenses. 
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Intangible assets
The two main items that make up the Group’s intangible assets 
are goodwill and trade marks from the acquisition of fully con-
solidated subsidiaries and concessions and industrial property 
rights and similar rights.

Intangible assets acquired from third parties in return for pay-
ment are recognised at cost. Where there is a definite normal 
useful life, this figure is reduced by amortisation according to the 
straight-line method over the intangible assets’ normal useful 
lives. They are recognised only if it is sufficiently probable that a 
future benefit will thus accrue to the enterprise and the acquisi-
tion costs of the asset can be reliably determined.

The normal useful life of an asset is generally estimated taking 
account of the following criteria: 
−  anticipated use of the asset by the enterprise; 
−  typical product life cycle and public information concerning 

the estimated useful lives of comparable assets; 
−  technical, technological and other types of obsolescence;
−  stability of the sector in which the asset is employed. 

Self-generated intangible assets are recognised to the extent 
of the directly attributable development costs if all the condi-
tions set out in IAS 38.57 have been fulfilled. The capitalisation 
of the costs ends when the product has been completed and 
has been generally released. 

According to IAS 38.57, the following six requirements need to 
be met in order for development costs to be capitalised; in the 
following cases they have been met in full: 

1.  technical feasibility of the completion of the asset so that 
it is available for internal use and/or sale;

2.  the intention to complete the intangible asset and to either 
use or sell it;

3. the ability to either use or to sell the intangible asset;
4. evidence of presumable future economic benefits; 
5.  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other 

resources to complete the development and the ability to 
either use or to sell the intangible asset; and 

6.  the ability to establish a reliable measure of the expenditure 
attributable to the company during the development of the 
asset. 

In accordance with SIC-32, relaunches were not capitalised on 
producing the website if these were only updates of pre-existing 
sites. 

Expenses for general development that do not meet the above 
criteria are recognised immediately as expense in accordance 
with IAS 38. 

The normal useful life of the asset also forms the basis for 
straight-line amortisation of both purchased and internally 
generated intangible assets, starting from the time of com-
pletion and the market readiness of the internally generated 
intangible assets. 

Throughout the Group, the following useful lives form the basis 
of amortisation for important intangible assets. Intangible assets 
acquired from third parties in return for payment and assets that 
are internally generated are amortised over the same periods.

Goodwill ............................................................................. no amortisation
Internet domains ........................................................... no amortisation
Trade mark rights/brand names ...... 5 to 20 years or no amortisation
Software/websites .............................................................. 3 to 15 years
Customer bases ............................................................... 3, 5 or 10 years
Personality test ............................................... no regular amortisation 

From 2005, trade mark rights that consist of acquired online 
rights to use the well-known trade mark portals integrated 
within TFAG are amortised over 20 years, as these are trade 
marks with an uninfluenceable dependence on the print titles. 
The Tjingo brand, which originates from the acquisition of To-
morrow Travel B.V., will be amortised over five years in line with 
its planned economic use. The brands HolidayCheck, ElitePart-
ner, Zoover, MeteoVista/Weeronline and jameda, however, are 
not amortised according to a planned schedule as these are 
Internet brands whose rights are in the full ownership of the 
company. They are tested for impairment every year. In this 
context, ‘in the full ownership of the company’ means that the 
company can directly influence the brand’s development by 
taking targeted measures, so that it does not depend on the 
success of print titles. As it is assumed that the Internet domains 
depend on the brand names, there is no regular amortisation 
in this case either.
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Impairment of intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment
The amortisation or depreciation period and the method of 
amortisation or depreciation for intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment (tangible assets) are reviewed at the end 
of each financial year. If the expected useful life of an asset 
significantly deviates from prior estimates, the amortisation or 
depreciation period is adjusted accordingly. In the case of mate-
rial changes during the course of amortisation or depreciation, a 
suitable amortisation or depreciation method is selected.

All intangible assets and all items of property, plant and equip-
ment (tangible assets) are tested for impairment at the end 
of each financial year if the circumstances or changes in the 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets 
may possibly be irrecoverable. If the recoverable amount of 
the asset is lower than the carrying amount, the impairment 
loss is recognised in the statement of income. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of the net selling price and the value in use 
of the asset. The net selling price is the recoverable amount 
from the sale of an asset at fair value less selling costs.
The value in use is the present value of the estimated future 
cash flow to be expected from the continued use of an asset 
and its disposal at the end of its useful life. The recoverable 
amount is determined separately for each asset or, if this is not 
possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the asset be-
longs. All goodwill and all intangible assets with an unspecified 
useful life and intangible assets that are not yet in use are not 
subject to regular amortisation. They are tested for impairment 
on the balance sheet date or whenever there are particular 
grounds for doing so, in order to determine whether they have 
kept their value.

TFAG generally calculates the recoverable amount using val-
uation methods based on discounted cash flows. These dis-
counted cash flows are based on five-year forecasts, which in 
turn derive from financial plans approved by the management. 
The cash flow forecasts take into account past experience and 
are based on the management’s best estimate of future trends 
and on other externally sourced information. Cash flows beyond 
the planning period are extrapolated using individual growth 
rates that do not however exceed inflation forecasts for the 
business units in question. The most important assumptions 
on which the value-in-use calculation is based are future cash 
flow assumptions, estimated growth rates, weighted average 
costs of capital (WACC) and tax rates. These assumptions and 
the underlying methodology may have a considerable impact 
on the corresponding valuations.

If necessary, impairment checks are not performed at the level 
of the individual asset but at the level of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset has been allocated. 

In such cases, the goodwill acquired following a business com-
bination is allocated to the cash-generating unit or the group of 
cash-generating units that are regarded as most likely to benefit 
from synergies created by the business combination.

Financial investments are valued at the costs of acquisition. If 
there are grounds to believe that a financial investment shown 
in the balance sheet at the cost of acquisition may need to be 
impaired, an impairment test is conducted. Any impairment is 
then recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments
A financial instrument is a contract that simultaneously leads to 
the creation of a financial asset at one company and a financial 
liability or equity instrument at another company.

The accounting treatment and valuation of financial assets and 
liabilities (financial instruments) are based on the rules laid out 
in IAS 39.

They are allocated by the Management to one of the following 
classes: 
− financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
− available-for-sale financial assets;
− loans and receivables;
− held-to-maturity investments;
−  other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest rate method.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset in the balance 
sheet in cases where there is an unqualified right to do so and 
an intention to settle on a net basis or to simultaneously realise 
the financial asset and settle the financial liability.

On initial recognition of financial instruments these are mea-
sured at cost, corresponding to the fair value of the consider-
ation given on acquiring them. Transaction costs are included in 
as far as the financial instrument is not recognised at fair value 
through profit or loss.
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Financial instruments measured at fair value and recognised 
in profit or loss are recognised at their value on the settlement 
date, taking account of fluctuations in value between the trade 
date and the settlement date. They are measured at their mar-
ket values on the balance sheet date. The resulting income or 
expense is immediately recognised in the statement of income. 
For each balance sheet date, TFAG assesses whether there is 
objective evidence for the impairment of a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets. This is only deemed to be the case 
where there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of 
one or more events that have occurred since the asset was ini-
tially recognised (a loss event) and where the impact of the loss 
event (or events) on expected future cash flows for that financial 
asset or group of financial assets can be reliably estimated.

In the case of financial assets or financial instruments rec-
ognised at amortised cost or at fair value, the amortised cost 
is calculated using the effective interest rate method. The fair 
value of a financial instrument reflects the price at which it could 
be traded among third parties assuming that such parties are 
willing buyers or sellers and that the financial instrument is not 
subject to a forced sale or liquidation. In general, this corre-
sponds to the market or stock exchange price. If there is no 
active market, the fair value is determined using actuarial meth-
ods (e.g. by discounting future cash flows at the market interest 
rate). However, if the fair value of a financial instrument cannot 
be reliably determined, it is measured at cost. In accordance 
with IAS 39, regular checks are performed to identify any ob-
jective indications that a financial asset or a portfolio of financial 
assets may have been impaired. An impairment test is then 
conducted, and any impairment expense that may be required 
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, cur-
rent receivables and payables are initially measured at their fair 
values. Thereafter, they are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial liabilities or 
assets with fixed or identifiable payments that are not listed on 
an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any 
impairment. If they are derecognised or impaired or their value 
reduced by amortisation, any profits and losses are recognised 
in profit and loss in the same period.

Valuation adjustments are made in response to identifiable risks 
of default in the case of loans and receivables. The value of 
available-for-sale financial assets is adjusted as soon as there 
is objective information pointing to a permanent loss of value.

Financial instruments measured at fair value and recognised 
in profit or loss include financial assets and liabilities held for 
trading purposes such as derivative financial instruments that 
do not qualify as hedging transactions as part of a hedging 
relationship.

Financial instruments are derecognised when the underlying 
rights and obligations expire or are transferred and the Group 
has transferred all the main risks and opportunities linked to 
their ownership.

Derivative financial instruments and accounting 
treatment of hedging relationships
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as cur-
rency forward contracts and interest rate swaps as a hedge 
against interest rate and currency fluctuation risks. These deriv-
ative financial instruments are recognised at fair value when the 
contract is signed and remeasured at fair value in subsequent 
periods. 

The Group makes regular use of derivatives to secure future 
cash flows from pending or planned transactions (cash flow 
hedges). At the balance sheet date, one interest rate swap was 
in place as a hedge against interest rate risks.

When the hedge is first established, both the hedging relation-
ship and the Group’s risk management objectives and strategies 
in respect of the hedge are formally defined and documented. 
The documentation is regularly assessed to determine whether 
it was indeed highly effective during the entire reporting period 
for which the hedging relationship was defined.
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Derivative financial instruments are recognised as financial as-
sets if the fair value of the derivative is positive and as liabilities 
if their fair value is negative.

Profits or losses from changes to the fair value of derivative 
financial instruments during the financial year that do not meet 
the criteria for recognition as hedging relationships are immedi-
ately shown in profit or loss together with the ineffective portion 
of an effective hedging instrument. The effective portion of 
changes in the market value of derivative instruments intended 
as cash flow hedges is shown in equity under other reserves 
(after taking account of deferred taxes). The amounts accrued 
in equity are recognised in the statement of income in the fi-
nancial year in which the underlying transaction is considered 
in the statement of income. For further information, please see 
note 11.15.

Financial liabilities
With the exception of derivative financial instruments, financial 
liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Any contingent acquisition costs linked to 
business combinations (put/call options and earn-out clauses) 
are recognised at fair value as liabilities when they are first con-
solidated. Thereafter, they are also measured at fair value, and 
any change is shown in profit or loss. 

Share-based payments 
All of the Group’s share-based payment plans are remuneration 
schemes with cash settlement. 

In the case of share-based payments with cash settlement, the 
Group’s corresponding liability is recognised as an expense at 
its fair value when the beneficiary fulfils the relevant conditions. 
Until the liability is settled, its fair value is remeasured on every 
balance sheet date and any changes recognised in profit or loss.

At TFAG, share-based payments with cash settlement form 
part of a long-term incentive plan (LTIP) for senior managers 
and the Management Board. In accordance with IFRS 2, these 
payments are recognised as personnel expenses and as a cor-
responding increase in other liabilities.

If the criteria for exercising an entitlement under the LTIP are 
not met, there is no corresponding expense.

In addition to the long-term incentive plan for senior man-
agers and the Management Board, a share-based payment 
programme is also in place for the managing director of a sub-
sidiary.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and other short-term, 
highly liquid financial assets with an original time to maturity of 
no more than three months. On the balance sheet, current ac-
count overdrafts are shown as payables to banks under current 
financial liabilities.

Other non-financial assets
Other non-financial assets are measured at amortised cost. 
Any risks associated with these assets are taken into account 
by means of valuation adjustments.

Equity
Subscribed capital is recognised in equity at nominal values. 
Transaction costs on the issue of new shares are deducted from 
the capital reserves.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised at the amount that is necessary, ac-
cording to the best possible estimate, in order for the Group to 
be in a position to meet all current obligations, legal or de facto, 
at the balance sheet date. Future events that could have an 
effect on the amount needed to meet an obligation have to be 
taken into account in forming the provision in as far as they can 
be predicted with sufficient objective certainty. The amount rec-
ognised is that which seems most likely on a careful examination 
of the circumstances. Provisions are discounted in as far as they 
are material. In the case of discounting, the passage of time is 
reflected in the periodic increase in the carrying amount of a 
provision. This increase is recognised as an interest expense.

The pension provision is based on defined-benefit pension 
plans for the employees of HolidayCheck. The provisions rec-
ognised in the balance sheet for defined-benefit plans corre-
spond to the present value of the defined-benefit obligation 
(DBO) at the balance sheet date less the fair value of the plan 
assets. The DBO is calculated annually by an independent ac-
tuarial expert using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial 
gains and losses are recognised for the period in which they 
are created in other comprehensive income with no impact on 
the consolidated statement of income. With the exception of 
interest income and expenses, which are reported under the fi-
nancial result, pension costs are recognised as personnel costs.

The company generally recognises share-based payment en-
titlements from the time they are granted to its employees, in 
accordance with IFRS 2. The expenses incurred on the basis of 
transactions settled through equity instruments are measured 
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at the fair value of the equity instruments at the time that they 
are granted. The resulting figure is recognised as an expense 
over the vesting period and is derecognised accordingly in eq-
uity or, in the case of cash-settled share-based payments, in 
liabilities.

Current and deferred income tax
Current tax assets and current tax liabilities for the current 
period and former periods are measured at the amount ex-
pected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities on 
the basis of the tax rates and tax laws applicable on the balance 
sheet date. The management regularly checks tax declarations, 
especially with regard to matters that are open to interpretation, 
and establishes provisions where necessary on the basis of the 
amounts that past experience shows will have to be paid to the 
tax authorities.

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are generally formed for 
all temporary differences between the amounts recognised for 
tax purposes and the amounts recognised according to IFRS. 
This is done according to the liability method, which reflects 
the Group’s expectations at the balance sheet date. The de-
ferred tax assets also include unused tax credits resulting from 
the expected utilisation of existing tax loss carryforwards in 
subsequent years and whose realisation is sufficiently certain. 
Deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the tax rates that 
apply under current tax legislation in the individual countries at 
the time of realisation or the rates that are expected to apply 
when a deferred tax asset is realised or a deferred tax liability 
settled. Deferred taxes based on events that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is reviewed on 
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer likely that sufficient taxable income will be available 
against which at least some of the deferred tax assets can be uti-
lised. Deferred tax assets that are not recognised are reviewed 
on each balance sheet date and recognised to the extent that 
it has become likely that future taxable income will allow the 
deferred tax assets to be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset pro-
vided that there is a legal right to the netting of actual tax refund 
claims against actual tax liabilities and these relate to the in-
come tax of the same taxpayer or taxable object, and are levied 
by the same tax authority.

Other financial and non-financial liabilities
Other liabilities are recognised if it is expected that there will 
be an outflow of resources that embody an economic benefit 
in order to settle a liability and this amount can be reliably de-
termined. Liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised as liabilities in the con-
solidated financial statements until it is probable that they will 
materialise. They are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Realisation of income and expenses
Revenue is recognised in application of IASs 11 and 18. Rev-
enue is shown less value-added tax (VAT), income deductions 
and credits, after the elimination of intragroup sales. 

Revenue for product sales is recognised at the time when the 
ownership and risk passes to the customer, if the payment to 
be made has been agreed by contract or is determinable and 
it is likely that the receivables arising from these sales can be 
collected. 

Revenue for services is recognised when the service has been 
provided. Services are also provided within the framework of 
offsetting transactions. 
Unless these are of the same type, in which case they have to 
be eliminated in accordance with SIC-31, services provided 
are shown gross in revenue and services received in the corre-
sponding expense items. 

Interest income is calculated using the effective interest rate 
method.

Royalties from licences and rental income are allocated on a 
pro rata basis in accordance with the relevant contractual period.

Leasing payments within the framework of an operating lease 
are recognised as expense in the statement of income over 
the period of the lease using the straight-line method, unless 
a different systematic basis corresponds to the duration of the 
benefit for the company as lessee. A lease is classified as an 
operating lease if the leasing agreement, in economic terms, 
does not essentially transfer all risks and rewards associated 
with ownership to the company.
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7.  Determining fair value

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair 
value for financial reporting purposes. Fair value is the price that 
would be paid on the measurement date for the sale of an asset 
or transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants regardless of whether the price can be directly ob-
served or has been estimated using a valuation method. 

The Group has established a framework for determining fair 
value. This involves a valuation team led by the Chief Financial 
Officer. The latter establishes appropriate valuation methods 
and input parameters for the measurement of fair value at level 
three of the hierarchy.

Wherever possible, TFAG uses observable market data in order 
to determine the fair value of assets and liabilities. If such level 
1 inputs are not available, TFAG engages qualified external ex-
perts to carry out a valuation. The valuation committee works 
closely with these external experts to establish appropriate val-
uation procedures and inputs. Based on the quarterly financial 
reports of TFAG, the Chief Financial Officer notifies the audit 
committee every three months of the results of the work of 
the valuation committee in order to explain the reasons for any 
fluctuations in the fair value of assets and liabilities.

Details of the valuation methods and inputs used to determine 
the fair value of various assets and liabilities are provided in the 
relevant sections of this report.

When determining the fair value of an asset or liability, the 
Group considers certain characteristics of that asset or liability 
(e.g. the condition and location of an asset or any restrictions on 
sale or use) in all cases where market participants would also 
take them into account on the valuation date when determining 
a price for the acquisition of an asset or the transfer of a liability. 
As a general rule, in these consolidated financial statements fair 
value is calculated on this basis for valuation and/or disclosure 
purposes. Exceptions are shown below: 

−   share-based payments subject to IFRS 2 Share-based Pay-
ments;

−  leases within the scope of IAS 17 Leases;
−   valuation benchmarks similar to but not the same as fair 

value, e.g. net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or utility 
value in IAS 36 Impairment of assets. 

Fair value cannot always be derived from a market price. In many 
cases it has to be calculated on the basis of different valuation 
parameters. Depending on the availability of observable param-
eters and the importance of those parameters in determining 
overall fair value, fair value is classified as level 1, 2 or 3 based 
on the following criteria: 

−   level 1 inputs are quoted (unadjusted) prices in active mar-
kets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access 
at the measurement date;

−   level 2 inputs are inputs other than the quoted market prices 
included within level 1 that are directly observable for the 
asset or liability or that can be derived indirectly from other 
prices;

−   level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

8.  Estimates, assumptions and  
judgments

In order to prepare the consolidated financial statements, the 
Management Board has to make the best possible estimates 
and assumptions on the basis of the information currently at its 
disposal. These may influence the recognised values of assets 
and liabilities and disclosures concerning contingent assets 
and liabilities on the balance sheet date, and also the income 
and expenses recognised for the reporting period. The actual 
results occurring at a later date may differ from these estimates. 

There follows an explanation of the most important assump-
tions in relation to the future and the main sources of uncer-
tainty at the balance sheet date giving rise to the risk of material 
adjustments being made to the carrying amounts of the assets 
and liabilities during the coming financial year:

Impairment of goodwill and of intangible assets 
with unspecified useful lives
TFAG makes an impairment test in relation to goodwill at least 
once a year or whenever there are any indications that such im-
pairment may have taken place. Goodwill impairment tests are 
conducted at the level of the cash-generating unit. This is the 
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal corporate 
management purposes. In each case, the cash-generating unit 
is defined as the corresponding Group company.
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The criteria and underlying methods used when conducting an 
impairment test can have a significant influence on the result-
ing values and on the extent of any impairment of intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment (tangible assets). 
Calculations of discounted cash flows are very much subject 
to planning assumptions that can be sensitive to change and 
therefore to impairment.

As at 31 December 2014, the carrying value of goodwill stood 
at EUR 123,296 thousand (31 December 2013: EUR 134,382 
thousand). Details of intangible assets and the assumptions on 
which impairment tests are based can be found in section 11.1. 
of these notes under the heading Intangible assets.

Loss carryforwards 
TFAG recognises deferred tax assets for tax loss carryforwards, 
in as far as it is sufficiently certain that the loss carryforwards 
will be utilised in tax planning. For tax planning purposes, TFAG 
has to make estimates of the tax results to be achieved in the 
future. As at 31 December 2014 the deferred tax assets for loss 
carryforwards amounted to EUR 5,105 thousand (EUR 6,103 
thousand in 2013) (see also section 11.19. of these notes).

Provisions
TFAG recognises provisions at the amount necessary, accord-
ing to the best possible estimates, to cover all legal or de facto 
liabilities that the Group has on the balance sheet date. Future 
events that could affect the amount needed to meet a liability 
are reflected in the size of the provision, providing they can 
be predicted with sufficient objective certainty. The amount 
recognised is that which is most likely on an objective assess-
ment of the facts. In the case of large volumes (e.g. warranties), 
calculation is based on the anticipated figure. As at 31 Decem-
ber 2014, other provisions amounted to EUR 1,189 thousand 
(EUR 860 thousand in 2013) (see also section 11.20 of these 
notes).

Variable purchase price agreements for  
business combinations
Contingent components of the purchase price are included at 
fair value when the purchase price is determined on first-time 
consolidation. Any subsequent changes in value are recognised 
in profit or loss and do not lead to an adjustment in the value 
at the time of acquisition. Estimates and judgments are also 
factored into the underlying assumptions when determining 
fair value. Fair values are calculated using contractually fixed 
valuation models that reflect the degree to which performance 
indicators are subsequently achieved (see also section 11.27. 
of these notes).

Share-based payments
Costs that arise from the granting of equity instruments and 
from share-based payments to staff and members of the Man-
agement Board with cash settlement are measured within the 
Group at the fair value of the equity instruments at the time 
they were granted. The most suitable valuation method has to 
be identified in order to estimate the fair value of share-based 
payments; the choice of method will depend on the conditions 
under which the entitlements were granted. When producing 
this estimate, the Group also has to determine suitable input 
parameters for the chosen method (in particular the anticipated 
term of the option, volatility and dividend yield) and make corre-
sponding assumptions. The assumptions and methods applied 
when estimating the fair value of share-based payments are 
described in section 11.17. of these notes.

9.  Disclosures relating to subsidiaries

9.1. Composition of the Group  

As in the previous year, apart from the parent company  
TOMORROW FOCUS AG, which is based in Munich, Ger-
many, the Group’s year-end financial statements include nine-
teen other fully consolidated companies in respect of which  
TOMORROW FOCUS AG directly or indirectly holds a major-
ity of the voting rights and therefore control. As such, these 
consolidated financial statements include the single-entity fi-
nancial statements of all the significant subsidiaries over which 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG has legal and/or notional control.

As at 31 December 2014, TOMORROW FOCUS AG held 
shares in the following entities: 



133

>>

TOMORROW FOCUS AG | Annual Report 2014

9.2.  Changes in the reporting entity 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG acquires remaining 
49.01 percent of WebAssets B.V.

On 5 June 2014, TOMORROW FOCUS AG acquired the re-
maining 49.01 percent of WebAssets B.V. from the former 
shareholders. It temporarily held 100 percent of the company’s 
shares until it sold a 2 percent stake in WebAssets B.V. to the 
newly appointed managing director. 

The shares were acquired in return for a total payment of  
EUR 20,608 thousand comprising a fixed price of EUR 18,200 
thousand and a variable earn-out component of EUR 2,408 
thousand. As a result of the early exercise of the existing call/

put option, the compounded purchase price liability for the put/
call option was cancelled, thus realising other non-recurring 
operating income of EUR 1,587 thousand.

Restructuring in Publishing segment
As part of our wider growth strategy and in order to control our 
activities more effectively in this area, we made a number of 
changes to the legal structure of the companies that make up 
the Publishing segment. 

TOMORROW FOCUS AG concluded an agreement with  
TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH (now TOMORROW  
FOCUS Publishing GmbH) for the transfer of its shareholdings 
in Finanzen100 GmbH and NetMoms GmbH. The deal was 
linked to a capital increase by TOMORROW FOCUS Media 

Scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2014

COMPANY PRINCIPAL PLACE  
OF BUSINESS 

SHAREHOLDING
in %

TOMORROW FOCUS AG Munich, Germany –

TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00
TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH 1) Munich, Germany 100.00
TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH 1) Munich, Germany 100.00
Tomorrow Focus Content & Services GmbH 2) Munich, Germany 100.00
Elitemedianet GmbH Hamburg, Germany 100.00
jameda GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00
HolidayCheck AG Bottighofen, Switzerland 100.00
HolidayCheck Polska Sp. zo.o. 4) Warsaw, Poland 100.00
HolidayCheck France SAS (i.L.) 4) 6) 7) 8) Paris, France 100.00
Tomorrow Travel Solutions GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00
Tomorrow Travel B.V. Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
WebAssets B.V. Zeist, Netherlands 98.00
Zoover Media B.V. 5)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
Zoover International B.V. 5)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
Zoover GmbH 5)   Cologne, Germany 100.00
Meteovista B.V. 5)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
SARL Zoover France 5)   Paris, Frankreich 100.00
Zoover International Holland Filiaal 5) 8)  Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
Zoover Internet Teknolojileri Tuzim Ticaret Ltd. 5) 6) 8)  Kusadasi, Turkey 95.00
Zoover Italia SARL5) 6) 8)  Monza, Italy 95.00
Zoover Travel B.V. 5)   Zeist, Netherlands 100.00
TF Digital GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00
organize.me GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00
FamilyBook GmbH (i.L.)  2) 6) 7) 8) Cologne, Germany 100.00
AdAudience GmbH 9) Düsseldorf, Germany 14.28

Notes
1) Indirect shareholding via TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH 
2) Indirect shareholding via TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH 
3)  A minority shareholder has a 2 percent stake; a put/call option is in place for buying 

back the shares.  
4) Indirect shareholding via HolidayCheck AG 

5) Indirect shareholding via WebAssets B.V.
6) Company in liquidation
7) Notification made to the commercial register regarding disposal of company
8) Non-consolidated affiliated entity due to its minor importance
9) Indirect shareholding via TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH 
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GmbH (now TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH). In line 
with the spin-off plan, TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH 
(now TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH) split its Sales 
and Portal units into two new, legally separate entities. The 
marketing business was spun off into TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media Sales GmbH (now TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH), 
while the editorial portals are now combined in TOMORROW 
FOCUS News+ GmbH. Both new companies are wholly owned 
by TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH, and control and 
profit transfer agreements have been signed.

Finanzen100 GmbH and NetMoms GmbH have been merged 
into TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH.  

Loss of control at RPC Voyages SAS
On 15 October 2014, judicial proceedings were initiated to 
protect the creditors of TFAG’s French subsidiary RPC Voyages 
SAS. The court appointed an administrator. Following this loss 
of control, TFAG deconsolidated RPC on 15 October 2014. The 
court-appointed administrator found an investor within the stip-

ulated deadline, and on 1 December 2014 TFAG’s stake in RPC 
was acquired by Karavel SA, Paris, France. Under the terms of 
this deal, TFAG paid EUR 1,238 thousand for the restructuring 
of RPC. On the commencement of creditor protection pro-
ceedings, it also had to provide EUR 1,262 thousand to cover 
warranty obligations assumed towards a supplier of RPC.

The following table below shows disposals of assets and liabil-
ities as a result of the deconsolidation.

Intangible assets totalling EUR 13,240 thousand were written 
off before the creditor protection proceedings. This produced a 
loss on disposal of EUR 820 thousand and a net cash outflow of 
EUR 3,935 thousand. The consideration (i.e. negative purchase 
price) corresponds to the market value of the assets disposed 
of at the point when TFAG lost control of RPC. 

Loss of control at RPC Voyages SAS

15 OCTOBER      
2014

€ ‘000

DISPOSAL OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FOLLOWING LOSS OF CONTROL 

Non-current assets 2,575
Current assets 4,955
     of which cash and cash equivalents 1,435
Langfristige Verbindlichkeiten -1,396
Current liabilities -12,712
Net assets disposed of -6,578

CONSIDERATION  
Company restructuring -1,238
Warranty payment -1,262
Valuation adjustment Group receivable from RPC -4,748
Other payments -150
Consideration -7,398

PROFIT/LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Consideration -7,398
Net assets disposed of 6,578
Loss on disposal -820

2014
€ ‘000

NET CASH OUTFLOW ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Disposal price settled in cash -2,500
Disposal of cash and cash equivalents -1,435
Net cash outflow -3,935
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Cellular GmbH sold in management  
buy-out deal
TOMORROW FOCUS AG sold its holding in Cellular GmbH to 
the company’s managing directors in a management buy-out 
deal. The disposal was in line with the Group’s strategic focus 
on end-user (B2C) business models and entailed the closure 
of its B2B operations. Further information about the Group’s 
discontinued operations can be found in section 10 of these 
notes. Cellular was deconsolidated on 30 November 2014 (see 
table below).

TFAG sells 2 percent of its stake in  
WebAssets B.V.  
Following TFAG’s acquisition of the remaining interests held by 
WebAssets B.V.’s pre-takeover shareholders and the appoint-
ment of a new senior management team, the new managing 
director acquired 2 percent of the shares from TFAG for the 
sum of EUR 750 thousand. Under the terms of the purchase 
agreement, put/call options for these shares give the managing 
director the right to sell his shares to TFAG in 2016 or 2017 and 
give TFAG the right to buy the shares held by the managing 

director in 2015 or 2017. When the option is exercised, the 
purchase price will be calculated on the basis of an adjusted 
consolidated EBIT figure for WebAssets B.V.

The fair value of this put/call option at the time of signing was 
EUR 911 thousand. This amount is recognised as a financial 
liability. The EUR 161 thousand difference between this figure 
and the EUR 750 thousand paid for the shares was immediately 
recognised in profit and loss. For consolidation purposes, the 
put/call options covering this 2 percent stake cancel each other 
out, with the result that 100 percent of the shares are attributed 
to TFAG. 

Alongside the purchase contract, the parties (TFAG as the 
lender and the managing director as the borrower) also signed 
a loan agreement for EUR 375 thousand with a three-year term 
up to 31 August 2017. This loan was used to partly finance the 
purchase of the shares. TFAG will waive one third of the loan 
and the corresponding annual interest for each year in which the 
borrower holds the post of managing director at WebAssets B.V.

Cellular GmbH sold in management buy-out deal

30 NOVEMBER      
2014

€ ‘000

DISPOSAL OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FOLLOWING LOSS OF CONTROL 

Current assets 2,949
     of which cash and cash equivalents 855
Current liabilities -1,999
Net assets disposed of 950

CONSIDERATION RECEIVED  
Consideration received 50
Other payment received in settlement 42
Consideration received 92

PROFIT/LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Consideration received 92
Net assets disposed of -950
Loss on disposal -858

2014
€ ‘000

NET CASH OUTFLOW ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Disposal price settled in cash 50
Disposal of cash and cash equivalents -855
Net cash outflow -805
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10.  Discontinued operations  

a) Withdrawal from B2B operations 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s realignment strategy involves con-
centrating on business models for end users (B2C) based on 
its Travel, Publishing and Subscription segments. In line with this 
strategy, TOMORROW FOCUS AG sold Cellular GmbH, which 
specialises in business customers, in the financial year 2014. This 
followed the sale of TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH 
in December 2013. Details of the corresponding disposal of 
assets and liabilities can be found in section 9.2 of these notes. 

b) Withdrawal from French travel market  
After TOMORROW FOCUS AG lost control of RPC Voyages SAS 
on 15 October 2014 as a result of the judicial creditor protection 
proceedings, the Group’s French subsidiary was deconsolidated 
and therefore no longer formed part of the TFAG Group. 
This entailed the Group’s withdrawal from the French travel market 
and effectively closed off a large geographical area of operations. 
Details of the deconsolidation can be found in section 9.2 of these 
notes.

c) Analysis of results from discontinued oper-
ations (IFRS 5.33)
Neither of the above two business units was previously classi-
fied as a discontinued operation or as held for sale. Following 
disposal, given their importance for the earnings, assets and 
financial position of TFAG, they constitute discontinued oper-
ations within the meaning of IFRS 5. 

For this reason, the Group’s total earnings from discontinued 
operations have been combined and shown separately in the 
statement of income.

The figures contained in the consolidated statement of com-
prehensive income for 2013 have been adjusted in order to 
present the Group’s discontinued operations separately from 
its continuing operations.

The table below shows the earnings that are contained in the 
figure for total net income/(loss) for the year and that are at-
tributable to the two discontinued operations. The comparative 
figures for 2013 in respect of both earnings and cash flows 

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

CASH FLOW FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Net cash flow from operating activities -25 -4,936
Net cash flow from investing activities -5,182 1,479
Net cash flow from financing activities 2,188 2,859
Net cash flow from discontinued operations -3,019 -598

Profit/Loss from discontinued operations

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

PROFIT/LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS   
Revenue 31,593 37,556
Other income 3,784 7,861
Other own work capitalised 375 2,463
Expenses -47,673 -49,439
Result from current operations -11,921 -1,559
Financial result -327 -522
Attributable income tax expense -394 -954
Result from current operations after taxes -12,642 -3,035
Loss from disposal of discontinued operations -1,679 2,585
Attributable income tax expense -6 0
Result from discontinued operations -14,327 -450
Earning per share (EUR) -0,25 -0,01

Cash flow from discontinued operations
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from discontinued operations have been adjusted to take ac-
count of the operations classed as discontinued in the current 
financial year. 

Group comprehensive income from continuing operations 
(including other consolidated income/ loss) was EUR 10,671 
thousand. Group comprehensive income from discontinued 
operations was minus EUR 14,327 thousand.

Result from the disposal of discontinued B2B 
operations
An impairment test was conducted on the net assets of Cel-
lular in accordance with IFRS 5 just before it was classed as a 
discontinued operation. The ensuing write-down was allocated 
entirely to the non-current assets of the disposal group. The 
corresponding expense of EUR 1,832 thousand is included in 
the consolidated result from discontinued operations.

At minus EUR 1,846 thousand, comprehensive income from 
discontinued B2B operations includes the pre-disposal operat-
ing result of EUR 844 thousand (2013: EUR 1,203 thousand) 
and charges against earnings of minus EUR 858 thousand 
(2013: EUR 2,585 thousand) in relation to the deconsolidation 
of the company and of minus EUR 1,832 thousand from the 
IFRS 5 write-down.

Result from the disposal of discontinued op-
erations in the French travel market
At minus EUR 12,481 thousand, consolidated net profit/(loss) 
from discontinued operations in the French travel market in-
cludes the pre-disposal operating result of minus EUR 2,816 
thousand (2013: minus EUR 4,238 thousand) and charges 
against earnings totalling minus EUR 9,665 thousand in re-
lation to RPC’s classification as a discontinued operation and 
its deconsolidation. The table below contains a breakdown of 
this last figure.

11.  Notes to the consolidated  
balance sheet

11.1.  Intangible assets

The intangible assets acquired from third parties were mainly 
acquired as a result of business combinations. They include the 
brand names and Internet domains Zoover (EUR 7,510 thou-
sand; 2013: EUR 7,510 thousand), MeteoVista/Weeronline 
(EUR 1,636 thousand; 2013: EUR 1,636 thousand), ElitePart-
ner (EUR 7,147 thousand; 2013: EUR 7,147 thousand), Holi-
dayCheck (EUR 3,386 thousand; 2013: EUR 3,386 thousand), 
Ecotour (EUR 0; 2013: EUR 2,641 thousand), Tjingo (EUR 144 
thousand; 2013: EUR 209 thousand), and other miscellaneous 
Internet domains and websites (EUR 1,416 thousand; 2013: 
EUR 1,454 thousand).

The main component of the other miscellaneous Internet do-
mains and websites is the domain Urlaub.com and hotelcheck.de

This item also includes the customer bases acquired as a re-
sult of the business combinations with WebAssets (EUR 4,645 
thousand; 2013: EUR 5,804 thousand), Tjingo (EUR 68 thou-
sand; 2013: EUR 123 thousand) and Ecotour (EUR 0; 2013: 
EUR 19 thousand), as well as acquired software.  

In most cases, brand names and Internet domains acquired as 
a result of business combinations have no specific useful life, 
as there is no foreseeable end to their economic use. Brand 
names are allocated to cash-generating units at the time of 
acquisition. Goodwill is also allocated to these cash-generating 
units. If impairment risks are discovered while determining the 
value in use of goodwill, a write-down is performed in line with 
IAS 36.

Impairment write-downs totalled EUR 2,641 thousand (2013: 
EUR 0) for brand names with an undefined useful life. This 
figure includes complete write-downs of the brand names  

Result from the disposal of discontinued operations in the French travel market

€ ‘000

Amortisation of goodwill and intangible assets from the business combination in 2012 -13,240 
Reversal of put/call obligations for acquisition of remaining 45 percent stake 3,283
Reversal of contingent consideration liabilities for minority shareholders given continued employment 1,513
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations -820
Reversal of deferred tax assets and liabilities -401
Result from disposal of discontinued operations -9,665
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Ecotour and ARMe in relation to the commencement of creditor 
protection proceedings at RPC.

The self-created intangible assets of EUR 14,912 thousand 
(EUR 12,825 thousand in 2013) entirely concern software de-
veloped in-house. At EUR 8,480 thousand, the major part was 
invested in back-end solutions and mobile applications for the 
Travel segment. At EUR 2,976 thousand, another significant 
part of this total relates to investment in internally developed 
software for the news and media portals.

If additional software that has been developed and produced 
in-house is complete and ready to use, the capitalised develop-

ment costs are written down over the normal useful life of the 
software. The company has estimated the normal useful life of 
software development costs capitalised within the TFAG Group 
to be between 3 and no more than 5 years. This estimation 
has mainly been made on the basis of the possible technical 
and technological obsolescence of the portal and technology 
software.

With regard to the development of costs and the amortisation of 
intangible assets, reference is made to the consolidated state-
ment of changes in non-current assets for the financial years 
2014 and 2013. 

Goodwill and Intangible assets with an unspecified useful life

ALLOCATED GOODWILL AND INTAN-
GIBLE ASSETS WITH AN UNSPECIFIED 
USEFUL LIFE VALUATION PAR AMETERS

GOODWILL
€ ‘000

BRAND NAMES 
AND INTERNET 

DOMAINS
€ ‘000

AVERAGE  
REVENUE 
GROWTH

AVERAGE EBITDA 
MARGIN

GROWTH RATE OF 
PERPETUITY

DISCOUNTING 
RATE BEFORE TAX

DETAILED PLAN-
NING PERIOD 

(YEARS)

HolidayCheck AG 69,091 4,760
14.8% 

(2013: 15.5%)
20.3% 

(2013: 21.8%)
2% 

(2013: 2%)
9.2% 

(2013: 8.9%)
5 

(2013: 5)

WebAssets B.V. 31,091 9,146
13.5% 

(2013: 15.3%)
23.3% 

(2013: 26.3%)
2% 

(2013: 2%)
11.1% 

(2013: 11.1%)
5 

(2013: 5)

EliteMedianet GmbH 17,178 7,314
12.1% 

(2013: 3.7%)
9.1% 

(2013: 9.6%)
2% 

(2013: 2%)
9.4% 

(2013: 7.1%)
5 

(2013: 5)

Tomorrow Travel B.V. 3,369
23.7% 

(2013: 13.3%)
8.8% 

(2013: 1.7%)
2% 

(2013: 2%)
2% 

(2013: 2%)
5 

(2013: 5)

TOMORROW FOCUS 
News+ GmbH 2,567 10.4% 15.8% 2% 8% 5 

Goodwill from aquisitions

31 DECEMBER 2013
€ ‘000

IMPAIRMENT
€ ‘000

DISPOSALS AND 
RECLASSIFICATIONS

€ ‘000
31 DECEMBER 2014

€ ‘000

HolidayCheck AG 69,091 0 0 69,091

WebAssets B.V. 31,091 0 0 31,091
EliteMedianet GmbH 17,178 0 0 17,178
RPC Voyages SAS 10,588 -10,588 0 0
Tomorrow Travel B.V. 3,369 0 0 3,369
Netmoms GmbH 2,555 0 -2,555 0
Cellular GmbH 498 -498 0 0
Finanzen100 GmbH 12 0 -12 0
TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH 0 0 2,567 2,567
Goodwill 134,382 -11,086 0 123,296
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The total figure for goodwill in 2014 stood at EUR 123,296 
thousand (2013: EUR 134,382 thousand) and derives from 
the following acquisitions: (see left table above).

The decline in total goodwill in financial 2014 was mainly caused 
by the complete write-down of goodwill for RPC before TFAG 
lost control and deconsolidated the company when creditor 
protection proceedings were initiated in the third quarter of 
2014. 

In addition, Finanzen100 GmbH and NetMoms GmbH were 
merged into TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH. Goodwill 
from the acquisition of Finanzen100 GmbH and NetMoms 
GmbH was allocated to the newly formed CGU TOMORROW 
FOCUS News+ GmbH following the merger. 

As required by IAS 36, all goodwill is subjected to an annual 
impairment test based on value in use following the procedure 
outlined in section 6 entitled main accounting and valuation 
principles. In each case, the company concerned acts as the 
cash-generating unit.

The initiation of creditor protection proceedings at RPC in the 
third quarter of 2014 led to a complete write-down of the in-
tangible assets acquired through the business combination 
in 2012. This included an amount of EUR 10,588 thousand 
for goodwill in the year under review. This write-down was 
recognised in Group earnings after taxes from discontinued 
operations. Goodwill for Cellular was also completely written 
down in line with IFRS 5 rules when the Group’s B2B activities 
were classed as discontinued operations following the sale of 
the company. 

With regard to all other Group companies, the mandatory 
annual impairment tests confirmed that there had been 
no impairment of capitalised goodwill as at 31 December 
2014. The above impairment tests for goodwill and for in-
tangible assets with an unspecified useful life were based 
on the following assumptions as at 31 December 2014:  
(see left table below).

Write-downs of goodwill were calculated on the basis of impair-
ment tests. With regard to other goodwill, a rise in the weighted 
average costs of capital (WACC) of 1 percent would have had as 
little effect on the impairment of goodwill as a fall in revenue of 
1 percent over the entire planning period with a corresponding 
decline in cash flows. When determining value in use for the 
cash-generating units, TFAG takes the view that changes in 
the main assumptions classed as ‘possible’ will not lead to a 
situation where the carrying values of those units exceed their 
recoverable amounts.

11.2.  Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment relates primarily to furniture and 
fixtures with a value of EUR 3,815 thousand (2013: EUR 3,764 
thousand). 

With regard to the development of costs and the depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment, reference is made to the consol-
idated statements of changes in non-current assets for financial 
years 2014 and 2013.

The development of non-current assets is shown in the follow-
ing statements of changes in non-current assets: (see tables 
on  page 114 to 117).

11.3.  Prepayments on non-current assets

Prepayments made on non-current assets (EUR 102 thou-
sand; 2013: EUR 120 thousand) primarily relate to payments 
made in advance for the programming of new online platforms.

11.4.  Long-term equity investments

This item contains financial investments in affiliated entities 
outside the consolidated Group. The main constituent of this 
category is TFAG’s shareholding in AdAudience, which as a 
financial asset held-for-sale is recognised at amortised cost.

11.5.  Other loans receivable

Other loans receivable mainly concern loans and accumulated 
interest receivable from third parties valued at EUR 1,350 thou-
sand (EUR 1,072 thousand in 2013). 

11.6.  Deferred taxes

With regard to the composition and development of the de-
ferred tax assets, reference is made to the comments regarding 
deferred taxes in the section 11.19 of the notes.

11.7. Inventories

As at the reporting date, no work in process and finished goods 
were included on the balance sheet. 
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11.8.  Trade receivables

The company constantly monitors trade receivables. All receiv-
ables have been tested for impairment to determine whether 
their fair value is lower than their amortised cost. Risks of bad 
debts are taken into account through appropriate valuation ad-
justments. (see table above).

As at 31 December 2014, there were individual allowances 
for bad debts of EUR 4,009 thousand (2013: EUR 3,812 
thousand). In 2014, the individual allowances for bad debts 
included additions of EUR 2,167 thousand (2013: EUR 2,559 
thousand), allowances used of EUR 1,711 thousand (2013: 
EUR 1,297 thousand) and the reversal of individual allowances 
for bad debts to the value of EUR 259 thousand (2013: EUR 
106 thousand). There are no indications that the creditors of 
the receivables for which an allowance has not been made or 
which are not overdue will not meet their payment obligations 
within the stipulated period.

11.9.  Receivables from and liabilities  
to affiliated entities as well as other  
long-term investees and investors  

Receivables and payables in relation to affiliated entities as well 
as other long-term investees and investors are mainly due to 
trade relationships. All receivables and payables are measured 
at fair value. Their value has not been adjusted and they are 
not overdue.

11.10.  Other assets

Other assets mainly consist of tax receivables (including future 
value-added tax refund entitlements, i.e. German input tax, de-
ductible in the following month), interest receivables, items in 
transit, claims against insurance companies, creditors with debit 
balances, prepaid expenses and prepayments received. Other 
current assets fell by EUR 4,053 thousand compared with the 
previous year. This was primarily due to changes in the reporting 
entity and the decline in prepayments for advertising services 
at HC and ElitePartner on the balance sheet date.

11.11.  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are made up of cash on hand 
amounting to EUR 5 thousand (2013: EUR 6 thousand) and 
cash at banks of EUR 26,635 thousand (2013: EUR 26,062 
thousand).

11.12.  Equity

Subscribed capital
The subscribed capital of the company at the end of the year was 
unchanged at EUR 58,313,628. It is divided into 58,313,628 
no-par value shares, each with an accounting par value of  
EUR 1. All shares in the company are fully paid up.

Due dates of trade receivables

€ ‘000
CARRYING 

AMOUNT

THEREOF NOT 
IMPAIRED OR 
OVERDUE ON 

REPORTING 
DATE

NOT IMPAIRED ON REPORTING DATE 

LESS THAN     
30 DAYS 

BET WEEN 
31 AND 60 

DAYS 

BET WEEN 
61 AND 90 

DAYS 

BET WEEN 
91 AND 180 

DAYS
MORE THAN 

181 DAYS

Trade receivables  
as at 31 December 2014 26,122 20,191 4,078 609 273 205 766

Trade receivables  
as at 31 December 2013 27,526 21,874 2,415 885 642 1,028 682
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Capital reserves
As at 31 December 2014, the capital reserves of TFAG were 
unchanged at EUR 84,808 thousand.

The capital reserves are made up of payments into the reserve 
from capital increases. They may only be utilised as prescribed 
by German stock corporation law.

According to section 150 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG), the statutory reserve and the capital 
reserves prescribed by section 272, paragraph 2, numbers 1 
to 3 of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, 
HGB) must together exceed a tenth of the share capital, so 
that they can be used to offset losses or for a capital increase 
out of company funds. As long as the total of statutory reserve 
and capital reserve does not exceed a tenth of the share capital, 
they may only be used to make up for losses in as far as the 
loss cannot be covered by carrying forward profits or by the 
net income/(net loss) for the year and cannot be balanced by 
releasing other retained income.

Authorised capital
By resolution of the general meeting of shareholders on  
12 June 2013, the Management Board is authorised, subject 
to Supervisory Board approval, to undertake one or more in-
creases in the company’s share capital until 11 June 2018 of 
up to EUR 14,578,407 by issuing 14,578,407 no-par value 
shares in exchange for cash and/or non-cash contributions 
(authorised capital 2013).

At the general meeting of shareholders on 12 June 2013, it 
was decided to nullify the authorised capital created at the 
general meeting of shareholders on 16 June 2010, which had 
authorised the Management Board, subject to Supervisory 
Board approval, to undertake one or more increases in the 
company’s share capital until 15 May 2015 of up to a total of 
EUR 26,506,195 by issuing 26,506,195 no-par value shares in 

exchange for cash and/or non-cash contributions (authorised 
capital 2010). 

Contingent capital
The general meeting of shareholders on 16 June 2010 adopted 
a resolution to create contingent capital of EUR 4,842,070 
(contingent capital 2010/I). This contingent capital is intended 
to service conversion and option rights. The authorisation is 
valid up to 15 June 2015.

11.13.  Treasury shares

The general meeting of shareholders on 16 June 2010 can-
celled the company’s authorisation to acquire its own shares 
worth up to a total of 10 percent of its share capital until  
19 November 2010. At the same time, however, the Manage-
ment Board was authorised to acquire shares in the company 
up to an accounting par value of 10 percent of its share capital 
until 15 June 2015. 

11.14.  Earnings per share

Earnings per share in the reporting period, in relation to the 
shares issued or assumed as issued, were as follows:
(see table below).

 2014 2013 2012 2011

Total consolidated net income/(loss) accruing to shareholders of TFAG 
(EUR ‘000) -3,678 11,979 11,539 11,347

     of which from continuing operations 10,649 12,429 11,539 11,347
     of which from discontinued operations -14,327 -450
Weighted average of issued shares (units) 58,313,628 58,313,628 58,313,628 58,313,628
Earnings per share (EUR) 
     of which from continuing operations 0,18 0,21 0,20 0,19
     of which from discontinued operations -0,25 -0,01

Earnings per share
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11.15.  Other reserves

The other reserves item relates to currency reserves for cur-
rency differences arising from the translation of the results of 
companies whose functional currency is not the same as that 
of the Group. It also includes reserves for hedging transactions 
(cash flow hedge accounting). (see table below)  

The reserve for hedging transactions covers profits and losses 
from effective cash flow hedges arising from changes in the fair 
value of the hedging transactions. The accumulated profit or 
loss from changes in the fair value of hedging transactions, as 
shown in the reserve for hedging transactions, was then trans-
ferred to the statement of income when the underlying transac-
tion itself affected the statement of income, when the cash flows 
associated with the underlying transaction were recognised in 
profit or loss or if the hedged transaction was cancelled.

11.16.  Provisions for pensions and  
similar obligations

As at 31 December 2014, the provision for pensions amounted 
to EUR 1,796 thousand (EUR 990 thousand in 2013). This fig-
ure relates to the entitlements of HolidayCheck AG employees. 

In order to deliver its own occupational pension scheme, Hol-
idayCheck AG has joined a number of collective foundations. 
At present, the company maintains three employee pension 
schemes that pay out on retirement or invalidity, with benefits 
for the dependents of deceased employees. As a minimum, 
the benefits provided under these schemes comply with the 
statutory requirements as prescribed in the Swiss Federal Law 
on Occupational Retirement, Survivors’ and Disability Pension 
Plans, LOB (Bundesgesetz über die berufliche Alters-, Hinter-
lassenen- und Invalidenvorsorge, BVG). The level of death and 

invalidity benefit depends on the underlying salary, while the 
retirement benefit is based on the credits accumulated by em-
ployees when they retire. In accordance with IAS 19 (revised), 
these plans should be classed as defined-benefit plans.

The expense of EUR 687 thousand in the financial year  
(EUR 767 thousand in 2013) was recognised in the statement 
of income.

Out of these total obligations, plan assets are in place covering 
EUR 4,896 thousand (2013: EUR 3,743 thousand). 

The plan assets do not include any financial instruments be-
longing to the company or property used by the company. The 
actual income from the plan assets amounts to EUR 332 thou-
sand (2013: EUR 286 thousand).

The assumptions made with regard to future mortality rates are 
based on death statistics published in Switzerland (LOB 2010).

In 2015, the company expects to make contributions to 
the plan of EUR 421 thousand (actual contributions 2014:  
EUR 266 thousand).

There are a number of risks associated with the pension plan 
at HC. The collective foundations joined by HolidayCheck AG 
could change their financing systems (contributions and future 
benefits) at any time. They may cancel agreements provided 
that they observe the contractual and statutory notice periods. 
They may also ask the employer and employees to pay higher 
risk and cost premiums. In the case of ASGA (a Swiss pension 
fund for small and medium-sized companies) it may even levy 
remedial contributions from the employer and employees to 
rectify any lack of cover if other measures fail to do so.

€ ‘000

RESERVES FOR 
REVALUATION OF 

DEFINED-BENEFIT 
PENSION PLANS

RESERVES 
FROM HEDGING 
TR ANSACTIONS

RESERVES FOR 
CURRENCY TR ANSLA-

TION DIFFERENCES TOTAL

INITIAL LEVEL AS AT 1 JANUARY 2014 -162 -314 -2,102 -2,578
CASHFLOW HEDGES

Fair value changes recognised in equity 0 83 0 83
Reversal and transfer to profit and loss 0 383 0 383
Deferred taxes on cash flow hedges 0 -152 0 -152
OTHER CHANGES

Consolidated comprehensive income/(loss) -286 0 -6 -292

Final level as at 31 December 2014 -448 0 -2,108 -2,556

Other reserves
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Development of plan assets in the financial year

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

Present value of the plan assets at 1 January -2,753 -2,244

Tax income -70 -51
Employer contributions -266 -468
Employee contributions -454 -434
Pension payments in the financial year 761 645
Return on plan assets excluding amounts recognised as interest income -262 -235
Exchange rate changes in the case of plans in a currency other than EUR -56 34
Present value of plan assets at 31 December -3,100 -2,753

Derivation of pension provisions in the reporting period

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

Present value of the plan assets at 31 December -3,100 -2,753

Present value of the pension obligations at 31 December 4,896 3,743
Benefit obligations in excess of assets 1,796 990
Net defined benefit liability/(asset) at 31 December 1,796 990

Development of pension obligations in the financial year

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

Present value of the pension obligations at 1 January 3,743 3,247

Expense for additional pension entitlements acquired in the financial year 674 757
Employee contributions 454 434
Interest expenses for existing entitlements 83 61
Pension payments in the financial year -761 -645
Gains resulting from changes in demographic assumptions 0 239
Gains/(losses) resulting from changes in financial assumptions 830 -320
Gains/(losses) resulting from experience adjustments -220 94
Exchange rate changes in the case of plans in a currency other than EUR 93 -74
Disposal following deconsolidation 0 -50
Present value of pension obligations at 31 December 4,896 3,743

Derivation of pension expenses in the reporting period

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

Expenses for the additional entitlements acquired in the financial year -674 -757

Interest expenses for existing entitlements -83 -61
Interest income 70 51
Expense recognised in the statement of income -687 -767
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11.17.  TOMORROW FOCUS AG  
employee stock option plans 

Since 2011, virtual shares have been issued to members of 
the Management Board and other employees of TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG and its subsidiaries under a long-term incentive 
programme (LTIP). The virtual shares entitle the holder to 
a cash payment based on the average share price over the 
last one hundred stock exchange trading days up to the pay-
ment date. There is no automatic entitlement to shares in  
TOMORROW FOCUS AG. Under the terms of the LTIP, virtual 
shares are granted in annual tranches up to and including 2015. 
There is no link between these tranches.

Qualification for the virtual shares conferred under the LTIP is 
subject to meeting individually negotiated EBTA targets (earn-
ings before tax and purchase price allocation amortisation) for 
each financial year. Depending on the extent to which targets 
are met in the financial year in which the tranche was granted, 
the original number of virtual shares is increased or reduced. If 
a specified minimum target is not achieved or if the company’s 
liabilities exceed a certain threshold, entitlement to the virtual 
shares may be forfeited completely. After this point, the virtual 
shares must be held for a further three years.

On expiry of the minimum holding period, the beneficiaries are 
entitled to a cash payment (plus accumulated dividends) based 
on their holding of virtual shares. The total payment may not ex-
ceed three times the grant value of that tranche of virtual shares. 
The grant value, assuming complete attainment of the target, 
is an individual gross amount converted into virtual shares on 
the basis of the average share price (initial reference price) 
over the last one hundred stock exchange trading days up to 
the annual general meeting at which the consolidated financial 
statements approved by the Supervisory Board for the financial 
year in question are presented to shareholders.

In financial 2014, beneficiaries of the LTIP received a total of 
237,918 virtual shares from the 2014 tranche. The upper ta-
ble on the next page shows the number of outstanding virtual 
shares under the LTIP.

The virtual shares granted are classed and valued as share-
based payments with cash settlement. 

Breakdown of plan assets

2014
in percent

2013
in percent

Equity instruments 21.0 20.6

Debt instruments 21.3 23.3
Property 12.3 10.8
Alternative instruments1) 11.4 11.2
Cash 10.7 10.3

Assets from insurance 
policies 23.3 23.8

Total 100.00 100.00

1)Assets from insurance policies 

Actuarial assumptions

2014
in percent

2013
in percent

Interest rate 1.10 2.25

Rate of salary progression 1.00 1.00
Rate of pension progression 0.00 0.00

Sensitivity analysis

EFFECTS ON OBLIGATIONS

CHANGE 
IN THE 

ASSUMP-
TION

in percent

INCREASE  
IN THEAS-

SUMPTION
2014

€ ‘000

DECREASE                
IN THE AS-
SUMPTION  

2014
€ ‘000

INCREASE  
IN THE AS-
SUMPTION 

2013
€ ‘000

DECREASE 
IN THE AS-
SUMPTION 

2013
€ ‘000

Discount rate 0.50 -507 616 -330 392
Salary progression in future 0.50 139 -146 100 -102
Increase in pensions in future 0.50 280 n/a 184 n/a
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no need to establish a fair value as at 31 December 2014 for 
each virtual share in this tranche.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated financial state-
ments for financial 2014 in respect of the LTIP are shown above: 
(see table “Other liabilities“).

Up to the balance sheet date, the LTIP generated the following 
personnel expenses for TOMORROW FOCUS AG:  (see table 
“Personnel costs” above).

Valuation is based on the following parameters: (see table  
“Valuation” above).

The volatility estimate is based on historic volatilities. This as-
sumes that future trends can be determined on the basis of past 
volatilities over a similar period to the anticipated term of the 
virtual shares. Actual volatility may vary from these assumptions.
 The underlying minimum targets linked to the 2014 
tranche were not achieved, and the corresponding entitlement 
to virtual shares is therefore now void. Accordingly, there was 

Valuation

TR ANCHE 2013
€ ‘000

End of holding period 22.05.2017

Residual term of virtual shares 873 days
Share price on valuation date 3.79 €
Initial reference price 4.10 €
Projected dividend yield 1.46 %
Risk-free interest rate for the term 0.10 %
Projected volatility for the term 3.15 %
Cap 12.23 €
Fair value per virtual share 3.85 €

Virtual shares

TR ANCHE 2014
€ ‘000

TR ANCHE 2013
€ ‘000

Outstanding virtual shares after factoring in achievement of performance targets as 
at 1 January 2014 0 286,792

Reduction for adjustment to EBTA target achieved in financial 2013 42,176
Virtual shares conferred in financial 2014 237,918* 0
Forfeited virtual shares in financial 2014 12,202* 11,293
Outstanding virtual shares as at 31 December 2014 225,716* 233,323

Outstanding virtual shares after factoring in achievement of performance targets 
as at 31 December 2014 0 233,323

*  Estimated number. The actual number depends on the initial reference price, but this cannot be determined until the annual general meeting for the financial year 2014.

Other liabilities

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

Liabilities from share-
based payments with cash 
settlement 2,605 2,961

Total 2,605 2,961

Personnel costs

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

Cost of share-based payments 
with cash settlement 365* 1,308

Total -356 1,308

  * Correction on revaluation 2011-2013
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11.18.  Stock options for a managing 
director at WebAssets B.V.  

The managing director of WebAssets B.V. acquired 2 percent 
of the shares in the company for EUR 750 thousand. Under the 
terms of the purchase agreement, put/call options for these 
shares give the managing director the right to sell his shares 
to TFAG in 2016 or 2017 and give TFAG the right to buy the 
shares held by the managing director in 2015 or 2017. When 
the option is exercised, the purchase price will be calculated 
on the basis of an adjusted consolidated EBIT figure for We-
bAssets B.V.

The fair value of the put/call option as at 31 December 2014 
was EUR 911 thousand and is recognised as a financial liability. 
The EUR 161 thousand difference between this figure and 
the EUR 750 thousand paid for the shares was immediately 
recognised in profit and loss.

11.19.  Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are formed on loss carryforwards and temporary 
differences between IFRS and the tax balance sheet. Within the 
tax group, an average tax rate of 32.59 percent (2013: 32.59 
percent) was taken as a basis for calculating the deferred taxes. 
The tax rate is calculated on the basis of an average trade tax 
rate of 16.76 percent (2013: 16.76 percent) and a corpora-
tion tax rate of 15.0 percent (2013: 15.0 percent) plus the 
solidarity surcharge of 5.5 percent (2013: 5.5 percent) of the 
corporation tax. 

For the German companies outside the tax group and for the 
non-German companies, deferred taxes were calculated on 
the basis of each company’s individual tax rate (ranging from 
around 17.84 percent for HolidayCheck to 33.33 percent for 
Zoover France SARL).

There are trade tax loss carryforwards of EUR 108,653 thou-
sand (EUR 103,635 thousand in 2013), corporation tax loss 
carryforwards of EUR 112,668 thousand (EUR 107,080 thou-
sand in 2013) and foreign loss carryforwards of EUR 11,533 
thousand (EUR 13,383 thousand in 2013) within TFAG. 

The Group capitalised deferred tax assets on EUR 435 thou-
sand (2013: EUR 1,303 thousand) of tax loss carryforwards for 
its subsidiaries with no opposing deferred tax liabilities arising 
from temporary differences. In the past, these subsidiaries re-
ported negative results. With regard to capitalised deferred tax 
assets, the Group’s tax result forecast anticipates that in future 
there will be enough taxable income to be able to exploit pre-
viously unused tax loss carryforwards. 

No deferred tax assets have been recognised on trade tax 
loss carryforwards of EUR 102,785 thousand (EUR 97,222 

thousand in 2013), corporation tax loss carryforwards of  
EUR 104,918 thousand (EUR 101,054 thousand in 2013) and 
foreign loss carryforwards of EUR 8,971 thousand (EUR 6,566 
thousand in 2013) within the Group, as it is currently thought 
unlikely that they will be utilised. 

Deferred tax expenses were reduced in financial 2014 due to 
the recognition of previously excluded tax loss carryforwards 
from earlier periods totalling EUR 317 thousand (2013:  
EUR 91 thousand).

Although at present these losses can be carried forward in-
definitely, both tax loss carryforwards and their previous off-
setting are subject to final scrutiny by the responsible taxation 
authorities. Several financial years of TFAG have not yet been 
definitively assessed by the taxation authorities. It is therefore 
possible that changes will have to be made to the tax loss car-
ryforwards and to the assessed taxes as a result of external 
fiscal audits. 

In the year under review, deferred taxes of EUR 196 thousand 
(2013: EUR 197 thousand) were recognised as tax liabilities 
in respect of planned dividend payments by subsidiaries. By 
contrast, deferred taxes of approximately EUR 160 thousand 
(2013: EUR 156 thousand) in respect of temporary differences 
in the retained earnings of subsidiaries were not recognised 
as liabilities, as the Group is in a position to control the time of 
reversing, and the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

The following tables (see right tables) show a breakdown of 
the deferred tax assets and liabilities in the balance sheet and 
the statement of income. The first table is carried forward to 
deferred tax assets in the balance sheet. The second table (see 
right tables) is carried forward to deferred tax liabilities in the 
balance sheet.

Deferred tax assets of EUR 253 thousand (EUR 359 thousand 
in 2013) and deferred tax liabilities of EUR 1,290 thousand 
(EUR 1,260 thousand in 2013) had less than one year re-
maining.

The revaluation (directly recognised in equity) of defined-ben-
efit pension plans led to an increase of EUR 62 thousand 
(2013: reduction of EUR 20 thousand) in total equity on ac-
count of their deferred tax effect. For the same reason, changes 
(recognised in equity) in the fair value of derivatives used for 
hedging purposes led to a reduction of EUR 152 thousand 
(2013: EUR 101 thousand) in equity.

The following table shows the translation of the theoretical tax 
expense and tax income into the actual tax expense and tax 
income (see table on page 148).
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Deferred tax assets

1 JAN 2014 
€ ‘000

CHANGE DUE 
TO IFRS 5 

€ ‘000

OFFSETTING 
RECOGNISED 

IN EQUITY 
AGAINST

OTHER 
RESERVES

€ ‘000

CURRENCY 
TR ANSLA-

TION EFFECT 
€ ‘000

INCOME (+)/
EXPENSES(-)

€ ‘000
31 DEC 2014

€ ‘000

RESULTING FROM TEMPORARY 
DIFFERENCES DUE TO

Pensions and similar obligations 176 0 62 0 82 320

Other non-current liabilities 152 0 -152 -1 88 87

Other balance sheet items  151 0 0 -1 -22 128
479 0 -90 -2 148 535

Resulting from loss carryforwards 6,103 -1,285 0 0 287 5,105
6,582 -1,285 -90 -2 435 5,640

Less deferred tax liabilities resulting from 
offsetting

RESULTING FROM TEMPORARY 
DIFFERENCES DUE TO

Intangible assets 4,151 -887 0 0 852 4,116
Other current assets 197 0 0 0 -1 196

Other non-current assets 58 0 0 0 -58 0

Other balance sheet items 105 -29 0 0 -11 65
4,511 -916 0 0 782 4,377

Balance of deferred tax assets 2,071 -369 -90 -2 -347 1,263

Deferred tax liabilities

1 JAN 2014
€ ‘000

CHANGE DUE 
TO IFRS 5

€ ‘000

OFFSETTING 
RECOGNISED 

IN EQUITY 
AGAINST

OTHER 
RESERVES

€ ‘000

CURRENCY 
TR ANSLA-

TION EFFECT 
€ ‘000

INCOME (+)/
EXPENSES(-)

€ ‘000
31 DEC 2014

€ ‘000

RESULTING FROM TEMPORARY 
DIFFERENCES DUE TO

Intangible assets 5,748 0 0 0 -85 5,663
Other balance sheet items 11 0 0 -1 -10 0

Balance of deferred tax liabilities 5,759 0 0 -1 -95 5,663

Effects to the statement of income -252

  thereof reported deferred tax expenses -252
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11.20.  Other provisions

The following table shows the change in other provisions during 
the year under review: (see right table above).

The column referring to the change in the reporting entity 
shows the impact of the sale of Cellular.

The provision for severance payments mainly relates to pay-
ments on termination of employment relationships. The Group 
recognises severance payments if there is sufficient evidence 
of the fact that entitlements to severance payment will arise 
because of the termination of employment relationships.

The provisions for warranties relate to provisions for customer 
goodwill and are payable within one year.

The litigation risks are mainly risks from expected legal disputes 
relating to injunctions. The figure shown primarily concerns 
legal disputes over media content at TF News+ with a provision 
of EUR 729 thousand.

As an enterprise operating in a number of different business 
segments, the Group is exposed to many legal risks. These can 
particularly be risks in connection with warranties, tax laws and 
other legal disputes. The outcome of cases currently pending 
and future cases cannot be predicted with certainty, so court 
decisions may lead to expenses that are not entirely covered by 
insurance and that can have material effects on the business 

and its events. In the estimation of the Management Board, 
the litigation currently pending does not involve decisions that 
could have a material detrimental effect on the Group’s assets 
and income situation.

11.21.  Liabilities to banks

Liabilities to banks amount to EUR 55,342 thousand  
(EUR 38,147 thousand in 2013). (see right table below).

In June 2014, as part of a wider plan to restructure the way 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG finances its activities, the company 
entered into a syndicated loan agreement repayable in 2019. 
Under the terms of this agreement, it can borrow individual 
tranches of up to EUR 50,000 thousand on a flexible basis. 
The company used an initial tranche of this facility totalling  
EUR 28,000 thousand to finance its acquisition of the remaining 
minority shares in WebAssets B.V. and to repay EUR 10,000 
thousand of its existing long-term loans. In addition, two variable 
rate tranches of an existing bonded loan totalling EUR 12,000 
thousand were cancelled and replaced in September 2014 by 
tranches of an equal amount from the syndicated loan. 

Tax reconciliation at TOMORROW FOCUS Group

TA X EFFECTS
2014

€ ‘000
2013

€ ‘000

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations before taxes 13,904 15,105
Notional tax expenses (32.59 %, 2013: 32.59 %) -4,531 -4,923

Adjustments to notional tax expenses
Non-recognition of deferred tax assets on tax losses in reporting year -2,765 -2,834
Initial recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards 317 91
Write-down of previously capitalised loss carryforwards -584 -437
Utilisation of unrecognised deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards 83 0
Tax-free income 702 3,119
Tax reduction due to different tax rates in other countries 2,978 3,477
Amortisation of goodwill TFM and TF News+ (formerly TFP) 1,415 1,415
Tax increase due to non-deductible expenses -510 -2,231
Tax effects due to additions and reductions for local taxes -109 -125
Recognition of deferred taxes on planned dividend payments -196 -197
Currency effect Switzerland 0 1
Tax expenses not related to the period -55 -32
Tax expenses according to consolidated statement of income -3,255 -2,676
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Other provisions

DESCRIPTION

AS AT               
1 JANUARY 

2014
€ ‘000

USED
€ ‘000

REVERSED
€ ‘000

ADDED
€ ‘000

CHANGE IN 
REPORTING 

ENTIT Y 
€ ‘000

AS AT 31 
DECEMBER 

2014
€ ‘000

Current other provisions
   Provisions for anniversary payments 0 0 0 59 0 59
   Severance payments 97 48 49 144 -5 139

   Warranties 15 15 0 30 0 30

   Contingent losses 14 14 0 0 0 0
   Litigation 734 48 313 588 0 961
Total other current provisions 860 125 362 821 -5 1,189

Liabilities to banks

CARRYING AMOUNT € ‘000

31 DECEMBER 2014 31 DECEMBER 2013

CURRENT NON-CURRENT CURRENT NON-CURRENT

Bonded loans 0 14,500 0 26,500

Syndicated loan 0 40,000 0 0
Other liabilities to banks 842 0 1,377 10,270

842 54,500 1,377 36,770

Out of the Group’s overall borrowing requirements, EUR 14,500 
thousand (2013: EUR 26,500 thousand) is in the form of a 
bonded loan that was taken out in four tranches in 2011. The 
tranches remaining as at 31 December 2014 mature in 2016 
and were provided solely by banks.

Other liabilities to banks comprise a short-term loan of EUR 
270 thousand and deferred interest obligations of EUR 572 
thousand.

Looking at other liabilities to banks, EUR 842 thousand (2013: 
EUR 1,377 thousand) are current liabilities that fall due within 
twelve months. In addition to loans, this figure contains de-
ferred interest obligations of EUR 572 thousand (2013:  
EUR 717 thousand). As at 31 December 2014, the Group also 
had unused credit lines totalling EUR 9,000 thousand (2013: 
EUR 14,600 thousand). 

In 2014, the interest rates payable on existing borrowings were 
between 1.4 percent and 5.0 percent p.a.

The Group hedges part of its borrowings by means of interest 
swaps. This has the effect of transforming the variable-rate pay-
ments into fixed-rate payments. 

All loans are unsecured and are not subject to financial cove-
nants that could allow a lender to cancel a loan with immediate 
effect if stipulated financial indicators are not met.

11.22.  Other liabilities 

In financial 2013, the figure for liabilities from put/call options 
consisted of EUR 22,070 thousand linked to the remaining  
49 percent of the shares in WebAssets B.V. and EUR 3,298 
thousand linked to the remaining 45 percent of the shares in 
RPC Voyages SAS. The put/call option for WebAssets B.V. was 
exercised in the year under review, whereas the put/call option 
for RPC Voyages SAS was reversed (see section 9.2 of the 
notes).

The total figure for earn-out obligations is made up of  
EUR 3,828 thousand (2013: 3,959 thousand) linked to the 
increase in the Group’s stake in jameda GmbH in 2011 and EUR 
2,039 thousand (2013: EUR 0 thousand) in respect of obliga-
tions towards the pre-takeover shareholders of WebAssets B.V.
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The total for other non-current personnel liabilities mainly com-
prises: EUR 1,628 thousand (2013: EUR 2,961 thousand) in 
respect of the non-current portion of obligations from share-
based payment transactions for TFAG; EUR 911 thousand 
(2013: EUR 0 thousand) covering the stock options granted 
to the managing director of WebAssets B.V. (see section 11.18. 
of the notes). In financial 2013, the other non-current personnel 
liabilities of EUR 1,887 thousand for the vested remuneration 
components of the contingent consideration payable to mi-
nority shareholders in continued employment within the Group 
were reversed in financial 2014 following the exercise of the 
put/call options at WebAssets B.V. and/or the deconsolidation 
of RPC (see section 9.2 of the notes). The total for other current 
personnel liabilities mainly comprises: EUR 4,869 thousand for 
bonus provisions (including the LTIP).

Liabilities from derivative financial instruments refer to the neg-
ative fair value of interest rate derivatives.

As at 31 December 2014, all remaining liabilities were due 
within one year. These mainly relate to other tax liabilities of 
EUR 1,620 thousand (2013: EUR 808 thousand) and remu-
neration of EUR 1,138 thousand (2013: EUR 1,083 thousand) 
for the future provision of IT services linked to the business 
combination with WebAssets B.V. 

11.23.  Trade payables

Liabilities in relation to outstanding invoices amounted to  
EUR 3,167 thousand (EUR 4,228 thousand in 2013) and are 
recognised under trade payables. 

With the exception of EUR 58 thousand, all trade payables have 
a remaining term of less than one year.

11.24.  Derivative financial instruments  

As part of the risk management system, derivative financial 
instruments may be used to hedge the risks to which the com-
pany is exposed. These are primarily a result of exchange rate 
and interest rate fluctuations. Their use is essentially intended 
to hedge existing or planned underlying transactions and to 
reduce foreign currency and interest rate risks. They are not 
used for trading or speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments used to hedge foreign currency 
and interest rate risks are treated as a cash flow hedge in line 
with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment. The effective portion of the profit or loss from the hedging 
instruments is recognised directly in equity and is then trans-
ferred to profit or loss as soon as the hedged cash flows from 
the underlying transaction are also reflected in profit or loss 
or if a hedged future transaction does not actually take place.

In the event that hedged future transactions (referred to in IAS 
39 as forecast transactions) lead to the recognition of a non-fi-
nancial asset or liability, their fair values are adjusted to the 
corresponding figure in equity from the hedging transaction.

A number of interest rate swaps were agreed in April 2011 in 
order to hedge the risk of fluctuation in the interest payable 
on variable-rate, non-current financial liabilities. These were 
assigned directly to the underlying transactions in the form of 
cash flow hedges. The interest rate swaps were offset in equity 
at their market value and expired/expire on 30 December 2014 
(nominal value of EUR 5 million) and 9 March 2016 (nominal 
value of EUR 6 million). 

Other liabilities 

CARRYING AMOUNT € ‘000

31 DECEMBER 2014 31 DECEMBER 2013

CURRENT NON-CURRENT CURRENT NON-CURRENT

Liabilities from put/call options 0 0 0 25,368

Earn-out obligations 4,932 935 0 3,959
Deferred income 7,052 0 8,425 0
Other personnel liabilities 4,869 2,539 4,392 5,308
Wage and church tax 600 0 696 0
Derivative financial instruments 0 267 125 341
Holiday pay obligations 653 0 830 0
Social security liabilities 99 0 122 0
Other liabilities 4,738 0 3,688 1,369

22,943 3,741 18,278 36,372
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As at 31 December 2014, these swaps produced financial lia-
bilities of EUR 267 thousand (2013: EUR 466 thousand). Al-
though the interest rate hedge remains in place, the designated 
hedging relationships ended following repayment of the previ-
ously hedged underlying transactions as part of TFAG’s plan to 
restructure its overall financing arrangements. The criteria for 
treatment as a cash-flow hedge were therefore no longer met, 
and the hedging relationships became ineffective.

11.25.  Additional disclosures on finan-
cial instruments

The carrying amounts, amounts recognised and fair values by 
valuation category as at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 
2013 are shown in the table on page 156.

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, receivables from 
affiliated entities, receivables from other long-term investees 
and investors, and other assets mostly have short remaining 
terms. For this reason, their carrying amounts on the reporting 
date were approximately the same as their fair values.

In the absence of an exchange or market price, it was not possi-
ble to derive a fair value for the corresponding period on the ba-
sis of similar transactions. A valuation based on the discounting 
of anticipated cash flows was not undertaken as the cash flows 
could not be reliably determined. Recognition was therefore 
based on acquisition cost.

The item ‘Shares in affiliated entities and long-term equity 
investments’ solely contains equity instruments (i.e. equity 
brought into the company) for which a stock market price is 
not available. As a reliable fair value cannnot be calculated, these 
instruments have been measured at the cost of acquisition.

The other loans are not due before one year. As the rate of 
interest is more or less equivalent to the normal market rate, the 
carrying amount and the fair value are approximately the same.

In the case of liabilities to banks, the carrying amount and the fair 
value are approximately the same, as the loans attract interest 
at the normal market rate.

The majority of trade payables, payables to affiliated entities 
and other financial liabilities not created by purchase price lia-
bilities have short remaining terms. Their carrying amounts on 
the reporting date were therefore approximately the same as 
their fair values. 

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is measured 
by applying appropriate valuation methods. The corresponding 
assumptions are very largely based on market conditions on the 
balance sheet date.

The fair values of other financial liabilities (IFRS 3 2008) result-
ing from purchase price liabilities were calculated on the basis 
of the discounted contingent consideration.

11.26.  Financial instruments by  
category

The following tables contains a breakdown of the Group’s finan-
cial assets and liabilities according to their valuation category 
and asset class.
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MEASUREMENT
CATEGORY

AS PER IAS 39
€ ‘000

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

31 DECEMBER 
2014

€ ‘000

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 26,640
Trade receivables LaR 26,122

Receivables from affiliated entities as well as from 
other long-term investees and investors LaR 476

Other assets 
    Other financial assets LaR 2,854
    Other non-financial assets n. a. 1,148

Shares in affiliated entities AfS 31
Long-term equity investments AfS 459
Other loans LaR 1,350

LIABILITIES 

Liabilities to banks FLAC 55,342
Trade payables FLAC 12,232

Liabilities to affiliated entities as well as to other 
long-term investees and investors FLAC 3,532

Other liabilities 
    Other financial liabilities (IFRS 3 2008) no category 5,867
    Other financial liabilities    no category 1,138
    Other financial liabilities    FLAC 8,844
    Other financial liabilities outside scope of IFRS 7 (IFRS 2) n. a. 3,516
    Other non-financial liabilities n. a. 9,029
    Derivatives without hedging relationship FLHfT 267

of which aggregated by measurement category as per IAS 39
    Loans and Receivables LaR 57,442
    Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost FLAC 79,950
    Financial Liabilities Held for Trading FLHfT 267

Classification of the different categories of financial instruments as at 31 December 2014
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AMOUNT RECOGNISED

AMORTISED 
COSTS 

€ ‘000

ACQUISITION 
COSTS

€ ‘000

FAIR VALUE 
RECOGNISED 

IN EQUIT Y
€ ‘000

FAIR VALUE 
RECOGNISED 

IN INCOME
€ ‘000

VALUATION 
ACCORDING 

TO IAS 17
€ ‘000

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 31 
DECEMBER 

2014
€ ‘000

FAIR VALUE
€ ‘000

      
26,640 26,640 26,640
26,122 26,122 26,122

467 476 476

2,854 2,854 2,854

31 31 31
459 459 459

1,350 1,350 1,350

55,342 55,342 55,342
12,232 12,232 12,232

3,532 3,532 3,532

5,867 5,867 5,867
1,138 1,138 1,138

8,844 8,844 8,844

267 267 267

57,442 57,442 57,442
79,950 79,950 79,950

267 267 267
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MEASUREMENT 
CATEGORY AS 

PER IAS 39
€ ‘000

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

31 DECEMBER 
2013

€ ‘000

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 26,068
Trade receivables LaR 27,526

Receivables from affiliated entities as well as from 
other long-term investees and investors LaR 1,125

Other assets 
    Other financial assets LaR 3,624
    Other non-financial assets n. a. 4,063
Shares in affiliated entities AfS 31
Long-term equity investments AfS 459
Other loans LaR 1,072

LIABILITIES 

Liabilities to banks FLAC 38,147
Trade payables FLAC 15,403

Liabilities to affiliated entities as well as to other 
long-term investees and investors FLAC 3,858

Other liabilities 
    Derivatives with hedging relationship no category 466
    Other financial liabilities (IFRS 3 2008) no category 29,327
    Other financial liabilities   no category 1,887
    Other financial liabilities FLAC 11,405
    Other financial liabilities outside scope of IFRS 7 (IFRS 2) n. a. 3,140
    Other non-financial liabilities n. a. 8,425

of which aggregated by measurement category as per IAS 39
 Loans and Receivables LaR 59,415
 Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost FLAC 68,813

Classification of the different categories of financial instruments as at 31 December 2013
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AMOUNT RECOGNISED

AMORTISED 
COSTS

€ ‘000

ACQUISITION 
COSTS

€ ‘000

FAIR VALUE 
RECOGNISED 

IN EQUIT Y 
€ ‘000

FAIR VALUE 
RECOGNISED 

IN INCOME 
€ ‘000

VALUATION 
ACCORDING   

TO  IAS 17
€ ‘000

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 31 
DECEMBER 

2013
€ ‘000

FAIR VALUE
€ ‘000

      
26,068 26,068 26,068
27,526 27,526 27,526

1,125 1,125 1,125

3,624 3,624 3,624

31 31 31
459 459 459

1,072 1,072 1,072

38,147 38,147 38,147
15,403 15,403 15,403

3,858 3,858 3,858

466 466 466
29,327 29,327 29,327

1,887 1,887 1,887
11,405 11,405 11,405

59,415 59,415 59,415
68,813 68,813 68,813
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11.27.  Financial instruments – fair values

The following table (see first table below) shows the carrying 
amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabili-
ties. It contains no information for financial assets and financial 
liabilities that were not measured at fair value if the carrying 
amount constitutes a reasonable approximation of the fair value.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value are al-
located to the following levels in the fair value hierarchy (see 
section 7 of the notes).

Interest rate swaps totalling EUR 267 thousand (2013:  
EUR 466 thousand) were allocated to level 1 of the fair value 
hierarchy. Contingent consideration totalling EUR 5,867 thou-
sand (2013: EUR 29,327 thousand) was allocated to level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy. 

There were no transfers between levels in the year under review. 

In accordance with IFRS 13, the fair value of the derivative finan-
cial instruments has to be allocated to level 3 and is calculated 
using suitable measurement techniques in the form of rec-
ognised actuarial valuation models (mark-to-market) based on 
market prices. The valuation factors (e.g. exchange rates) can 
be observed directly or indirectly on active markets.

The following table (see second table below) shows the initial 
and closing figures for fair value measurement in level 3 of the 
fair value hierarchy. 

The change in fair value of the financial liabilities shown under 
level 3 mainly comprises: EUR 18,200 thousand from the rever-
sal (recognised in equity) of contingent consideration in relation 
to TFAG’s acquisition of the remaining share in WebAssets;  
EUR 3,283 thousand from the reversal (recognised in the state-
ment of income) of contingent consideration in relation to the 
deconsolidation of RPC (see section on other liabilities). In ad-
dition, contingent consideration of EUR 333 thousand (2013: 
EUR 1,928 thousand) was compounded and revalued at  
EUR 2,243 thousand. Out of the total adjustments recognised 
in the statement of income, EUR 3,298 thousand was attribut-
able to discontinued operations.

As the acquired companies were not listed on the stock ex-
change, price quotations were not available. The fair value 
calculations were therefore allocated to level three of the fair 
value hierarchy. Accordingly, the fair value of the shares was 
calculated using discounted cash payment flows based on a 
probability-weighted average of the range of possible results. 

The following table (see right table below) show the valuation 
methods used to determine fair values at levels 2 and 3 and 
the main non-observable input factors used for financial instru-
ments measured at fair value.

Financial liabilities measured at market value

ASSETS € ‘000

CARRYING AMOUNT FAIR VALUE

31 DECEMBER 
2014

31 DECEMBER 
2013

31 DECEMBER 
2014

31 DECEMBER 
2013

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Interest rate swap 267 466 267 466
Contingent consideration 5,867 29,327 5,867 29,327

Initial and closing figures for fair value measurement

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

As at 1 January 29,327 45,559

Resulting from acquisition of remaining shares in WebAssets B.V. -18,200 0
Resulting from payment of earn-out obligations 0 -2,000
Total profit and loss - recorded in the statement of income -5,260 -14,232
As at 31 December 5,867 29,327
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11.28.  Financial risk management

A comprehensive risk management system for TFAG Group 
companies has been adopted and implemented by the Man-
agement Board. The risk management system and financial 
risks are discussed in section 4.2 of the management report.

The company’s strategy can be characterised as risk-averse. 
The company avoids entering into contracts and business rela-
tionships that at the time of signing could identifiably jeopardise 
its future, pose a threat to its liquidity or hamper its further de-
velopment. 

Credit risk
In the risk management system, the Finance department en-
sures that no credit limits are exceeded and that reminders are 
sent out at fortnightly intervals. The maximum extent of the 
potential bad debts to which the Group is exposed corresponds 
to the reported aggregate amount of trade receivables and 
other financial instruments.

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither overdue nor 
impaired is determined by reference to external credit ratings 
(where available) or to past experience of the default ratios 
of the business partners concerned. The creditworthiness of 
financial assets that are neither overdue nor impaired is as-
sumed. There are no securities or other credit improvement 
measures in place that would reduce the risk of default from 
financial assets.

Investment strategy
Cash that is not needed in the short term is partly invested in 
fixed-term deposits.

Currency risk
The currency risks to which the TFAG Group is exposed arise 
from its operating activities. Currency risks are partly hedged in 
as far as they affect the Group’s cash flows. 
Risks resulting from the translation of assets and liabilities of 
entities domiciled outside Germany into the Group’s presen-
tation currency, on the other hand, are not generally hedged.

The operating activities of the individual companies in the 
Group are mainly conducted in the functional currency, i.e. the 
euro. However, some Group companies are exposed to for-
eign currency risks in relation to planned expenditure outside 
their functional currency. This primarily concerns the ongoing 
expenditure of HC in Swiss francs (CHF). TFAG makes regular 
use of currency forwards (cash flow hedges) to hedge these 
payments in advance.

Assuming all other variables remained constant, if there had 
been a 10 percent change in the EUR/CHF exchange rate 
as at 31 December 2014, net income/(loss) for the year 
as a whole would have been EUR 2,009 thousand (2013:  
EUR 965 thousand) higher or EUR 2,455 thousand lower 
(2013: EUR 965 thousand).
  

CATEGORY VALUATION METHOD
MAIN NON-OBSERVABLE 
INPUT FACTORS

RELATIONSHIP BET WEEN
MAIN NON-OBSERVABLE INPUT 
FACTORS AND MEASUREMENT 
AT FAIR VALUE

EFFECT OF CHANGES
TO INPUT PAR AMETERS ON FAIR 
VALUE
(SENSITIVIT Y ANALYSIS)

Cont-
ingent 
conside-
ration

Discounted liability:
The valuation model takes 
into account the present 
value of the expected 
payment, discounted at an 
appropriate rate for the pe-
riod. The expected payment 
is calculated by reference to 
the most probable scenarios 
for projected earnings 
indicators.

•  Forecast annual growth in  
revenue:  
(3.0 to 13.5 percent)

•  Forecast EBITDA margins 
(37.6 to 39.4 percent)

 The estimated fair value would 
rise/fall if:
•  annual revenue growth were 
higher/lower;

•   the EBITDA margin were 
higher/lower. 

In general, changes in annual 
revenue growth and changes 
in the EBITDA margin tend to 
be in the same direction.

A 5 percent rise/fall in 
growth rates would lead to 
an increase of EUR 144 
thousand/ decrease of EUR 
447 thousand 
in fair value.

Valuation methods and main-non-observable input factors
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Assuming all other variables remained constant, if there had 
been a 10 percent change in the EUR/PLN exchange rate 
as at 31 December 2014, net income/(loss) for the year as a 
whole would have been EUR 1 thousand higher (2013: EUR 4 
thousand) or EUR 1 thousand lower (2013: EUR 5 thousand). 

Interest rate risk
TFAG is only exposed to interest risks in the euro area and in 
Switzerland. In so far as it affects the Group, the risk of fluctua-
tions in market interest rates relates predominantly to long-term 
borrowings at variable interest rates.

If market interest rates on existing variable-rate borrowings had 
been 100 basis points higher (lower) as at 31 December 2014, 
earnings before taxes would have been EUR 400 thousand 
lower (higher).

Liquidity risk
The aim of TFAG’s business policy is to continue to achieve 
a positive cash flow in the future. In order to retain sufficient 
flexibility, financing instruments are selected that offer the most 
suitable maturities and corresponding liquidity. The risk of a 
shortfall in cash is monitored by holding periodic cash planning 
meetings.

As at 31 December 2014, liabilities to banks amounted to EUR 
55,342 thousand (EUR 38,147 thousand in 2013).

The table below shows the maturity dates for the Group’s li-
abilities. The figures are based on contractual, undiscounted 
payments.

In addition to the mandatory disclosures, both tables contain 
other financial liabilities that fall outside the scope of IFRS 7 
(in respect of other liabilities from employee stock option plans 
disclosed under IFRS 2).

11.29.  Additional disclosures on capital 
management

The capital management policy at TFAG is primarily geared 
towards ensuring that adequate financing is available for the 
Group’s long-term growth. 

Reflecting common practice within the industry, the Group 
monitors its capital on the basis of its debt-to-capital ratio (the 
ratio between net debt and total capital). Net debt is made up 
of total debt (including financial liabilities, trade payables and 
other liabilities as per the consolidated balance sheet) less cash 
and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated by adding the 
consolidated balance sheet figure for equity and net debt.

Equity decreased by 5.4 percent in the financial year 2014, 
mainly as a result of the negative figure for consolidated profit/
(loss) after tax.
 

Maturity dates for liabilities

 
2014

€ ‘000
2015-2017

€ ‘000
from 2018

€ ‘000

Liabilities to banks 2,435 29,134 11,600

Trade payables, liabilities to affiliated entities as well as 
to other long-term investors and investees 19,261 0 0

Other financial liabilities 10,146 34,844 0
Other financial liabilities outside the scope of IFRS 7 0 3,140 0

 
2015

€ ‘000
2016-2018

€ ‘000
from 2019

€ ‘000

Liabilities to banks 1,686 17,048 41,600

Trade payables, liabilities to affiliated entities as well as 
to other long-term investors and investees 15,764 0 0

Other financial liabilities 14,945 1,255 0
Other financial liabilities outside the scope of IFRS 7 1,628 1,888 0
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The ratio of equity to total capital improved despite a fall in equity 
and a negative figure for consolidated profit/(loss). This was 
because the figure for total capital had a positive impact on 
the ratio following an above-average reduction in non-current 
liabilities and a decline in assets.

The negative consolidated profit/(loss) for the financial year 
also affected return on capital.

In terms of capital management, the Group’s aims are to safe-
guard the company as a going concern, and thus continue to 
generate income for shareholders and provide other interested 
parties with the payments to which they are entitled. A further 
target is to maintain the most efficient capital structure possible 
in order to reduce capital costs.

The equity ratio helps the Group to monitor its capital, i.e. the 
equity shown in the consolidated balance sheet. 

Performance indicators including discontinued operations

INDICATOR METHOD OF CALCULATION
31 DECEMBER 

2014
31 DECEMBER 

2013

Equity ratio Equity / total assets 53.7% 52.1%

Return on equity Consolidated net profit/ (loss) after tax / equity -2.9% 9.0%
Return on assets Consolidated net profit/ (loss) after tax / total capital -1.6 % 4.7%
Debt-to-capital ratio Net debt / equity 86.4% 92.0%

Performance indicators for continuing operations

INDICATOR METHOD OF CALCULATION
31 DECEMBER 

2014
31 DECEMBER 

2013

Return on equity Consolidated net profit/ (loss) after tax / equity 8.4% 9.4%
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12.  Notes to the consolidated state-
ment of income

12.1.  Revenue  

A breakdown of the Group’s revenue is shown in the following 
table: (see table below).

A geographical breakdown of revenue can be found in the seg-
ment report.

The increase in commission revenue is largely due to a rise in 
the volume of travel booking referrals made by HC. 

Sales revenue was on a par with the previous year.

Online advertising revenue was up on the previous year thanks 
to a good performance from HolidayCheck and WebAssets 
and to the first whole-year contribution from HuffPo (2013: 
4 months). 

Tour operating revenue is derived from the new virtual tour 
operating (VTO) business model. This involves combining 
various tour components (flight, hotel, transfers) into a cus-
tomised package in response to online enquiries and offering 
them through the web portals.

Revenue from project work consists of contractually fixed 
income for promotion of the HuffPo brand and income from 
sale of the newsletter containing weather updates for specific 
occupational groups.

12.2.  Other income

Other operating income recognised in the financial statements 
for 2014 stood at EUR 6,910 thousand (2013: EUR 12,606 
thousand). This mainly relates to other income of EUR 3,508 
thousand (2013: EUR 10,294 thousand), of which the main 
constituent was non-recurring income of EUR 1,587 thousand 
from the reversal of a put/call option linked to TFAG’s acquisi-
tion of the remaining 49.01 percent of the shares in WebAssets 
(see section 9.2 of the notes). In the previous year, this put/call 
obligation was adjusted following a revaluation and adjustment 
to EUR 8,768 thousand recognised in the statement of income. 
Other income also includes non-recurring income from the 
revaluation of earn-outs for jameda (EUR 263 thousand; 2013: 
EUR 0 thousand) and WebAssets (EUR 393 thousand; 2013: 
EUR 0 thousand).

In addition, other income was generated by the derecognition 
of liabilities totalling EUR 2,134 thousand (2013: EUR 1,042 
thousand), out-of-period income of EUR 627 thousand (2013: 
EUR 719 thousand) and the reversal of provisions totalling EUR 
362 thousand (2013: EUR 283 thousand).

12.3.  Other own work capitalised

Other own work capitalised amounting to EUR 4,736 thousand 
(EUR 2,653 thousand in 2013) mainly concerns the capitalisa-
tion of software produced in-house by the Travel and Publishing 
segments. The year-on-year increase reflects an ongoing push 
to develop IT and mobile applications for use within the Group 
together with other software solutions, although it is also due 
to updating and extensive remodelling of websites. 

Revenue 

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

Commission revenue 92,350 85,300

Sales revenue 31,160 31,168
Online advertising revenue 33,595 30,821
Tour operating revenue 305 0
Revenue from project work 1,997 1,970
New media revenue 159,315 149,129

Other revenue 2,086 1,756

Total 161,493 151,015
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12.4. Cost of materials 

Materials cost is predominantly incurred by TFM and HC.  
It relates primarily to services purchased for editorial content, 
bought-in production-related IT services, and software li-
cences. This item also includes bought-in travel components of  
EUR 283 thousand (2013: EUR 0) for the virtual tour operating 
(vTO) business.

12.5. Research and development costs

In the Travel and Subscription segments, development activities 
are decentralised and conducted within the companies them-
selves. Development costs that can be capitalised are shown in 
the balance sheet as self-produced software (see also section 
12.3 of the notes referring to other own work capitalised). Re-
search expenses do not apply as each development project is 
linked to the goal of introducing specific functionality.

12.6. Number of employees and per-
sonnel costs 

On average over the financial year 2014 the TOMORROW FO-
CUS Group’s continuing operations employed 698 full-time 
equivalents (FTEs). The corresponding figure for 2013 was 681.

Average headcount over the financial year (including Manage-
ment Board members) for the Group’s continuing operations:

In the financial year 2014, personnel costs amounted to EUR 
45,983 thousand (EUR 43,836 thousand in 2013). Out of this 
total, EUR 2,290 thousand was attributable to old-age pensions 
(defined-benefit plans) (EUR 2,226 thousand in 2013) and 
EUR 4,166 thousand to other social security expenses (EUR 
4,392 thousand in 2013).

The figure for personnel expenses includes severance pay-
ments of EUR 139 thousand (EUR 97 thousand in 2013) in 

connection with the termination of employment contracts. Per-
sonnel costs from the long-term incentive (LTI) programme 
totalling minus EUR 356 thousand (EUR 1,308 thousand in 
2013) are also included (see section 11.17. of the notes). 

12.7.  Other expenses

The advertising expenses largely originate from HC and EP. 
The increase is primarily due to HC, which spent much more on 
advertising on a positive cost/revenue basis (i.e. less than 1). 

The distribution and marketing costs are largely made up of 
sales commission, costs for the acquisition of new subscrip-
tions, travelling expenses and entertainment costs, and were 
mainly incurred by TF News+, TFAG, EP and HC.

In the reporting period, EUR 4,298 thousand was spent on rent 
(EUR 4,500 thousand in 2013). This was largely in relation to 
office space and servers. EUR 103 thousand was spent on leas-
ing (EUR 100 thousand in 2013). This was mainly in relation to 
the leasing of vehicles by the companies.

As regards the binding force of the tenancy, rental and leasing 
agreements, reference is made to section 16.2 of the notes 
relating to contingent liabilities and other liabilities.

The figure shown for licences consists of various licence costs 
that are not directly linked to revenue. The increase in 2014 is 
due to greater activity at HC.

Legal, consulting and audit costs arose primarily in connection 
with in-house audit expenses incurred by the Group, general 
consultancy expenses, legal disputes and statutory audit costs 
(cf. also section 16.8 of the notes). 

Bad debts mainly affect EP and also include customer goodwill.

Services mainly refers to IT services, and agency or business 
management agreements.

Communication and information expenses largely relate to 
telecommunications, further professional training and market 
research.

Ancillary personnel costs include recruitment fees and subsi-
dised staff catering facilities.

Other expenses mainly include price and currency differences, 
operating expenses such as repairs and maintenance, charges 
and premiums, money transaction costs and insurance.

Average number of employees

2014
FTEs

2013
FTEs

Management Board mem-
bers of the parent company 3 3

Holders of general commerci-
al power of attorney (Prokurist 
under German law) 2 1

Managing directors and chief 
executives of the subsidiaries 10 13

Staff 683 664
Total 698 681
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12.8.  Financial income

Total financial income of EUR 283 thousand (EUR 130 thou-
sand in 2013) was made up of interest and similar income.

In future the success of the company’s investment strategy will 
be largely determined by interest rate movements on the capital 
and money markets.

12.9.  Financial expenses

The financial expenses of EUR 3,819 thousand (EUR 4,911 
thousand in 2013) result mainly from interest expenses of  
EUR 2,799 thousand (EUR 3,518 thousand in 2013). Inter-
est expenses also include expenses from compounding in the 
sum of EUR 411 thousand (EUR 1,949 thousand in 2013) and 

financing-related interest expenses of EUR 2,388 thousand 
(EUR 1,568 thousand in 2013). The financial expenses item 
also includes dividends to former shareholders of Zoover total-
ling EUR 984 thousand (EUR 735 thousand in 2013).

12.10.  Net results according to valua-
tion category

The valuation adjustments to trade receivables and the fair value 
measurement of derivatives without a hedging relationship 
(which fall into the loans and receivables category) are rec-
ognised under other operating expenses. All other components 
of the net result with an impact on profit or loss are included in 
the financial result (see table below).

Other expenses

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

Advertising expenses 51,911 44,628
Distribution and marketing costs 5,091 5,787
Rent and leasing costs 4,298 4,500
Legal, consulting and audit costs 4,282 4,256 
Bad debts 3,678 4,424
Ancillary personnel costs 2,363 1,971
Services 2,220 2,031
Communication/information expenses 1,610 1,108
Administrative expenses 1,398 1,296
Licences 1,362 1,107
Expenses relating to other periods 354 548
Outgoing freight 40 54
Other expenses 2,074 2,234
Total 80,681 73,944

Net results of valuation categories

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

Loans and Receivables (LaR) -1,804 -2,413

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost (FLAC) -2,444 -1,623
Financial Liabilities Held for Trading (FLHfT) -267 0
Total -4,515 -4,036
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13.  Notes on segment reporting

The segment report is broken down into the following seg-
ments: Travel, Publishing, Subscription and Holding/Other. 
These are the primary segments of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group. 

Segment reporting is based on the Group’s internal manage-
ment and reporting structures. As the principal decision-making 
body, the Management Board of TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
is responsible for decisions on the allocation of resources to 
business segments and for the evaluation of their profitability. 

The TF Group is managed through business units that are com-
bined into reportable segments on the basis of their economic 

business model, the type of products and services they offer, 
the nature of their relationship with the customer and their in-
come model. 

Up to 31 December 2013, the group was divided into three op-
erating segments (Transactions, Advertising and Technologies) 
and one non-operating segment (Holding). 

This previous segment structure was replaced following acqui-
sitions in the fields of travel and publishing, the sale of TFAG’s IT 
service provider TFT and changes to the internal organisational 
and management structure in the Publishing division. 

The new segment structure shown below has been used as the 
basis for reporting since 1 January 2014.

SEGMENT BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Travel

The Travel segment encompasses all the companies that mainly generate revenue from transaction-based online 
business models in the field of travel. These are primarily: 
• HolidayCheck AG, Bottighofen, Switzerland
• Tomorrow Travel Solutions GmbH, Munich, Germany
• HolidayCheck Polska Sp. zo.o., Warsaw, Poland
• Tomorrow Travel B.V., Zeist, Netherlands
• WebAssets B.V., Zeist, Netherlands, and its subsidiaries 
(excluding the subsidiary MeteoVista  B.V., Zeist, Netherlands)
• RPC Voyages SAS, Courbevoie, France (up to 15 October 2014)

Following the deconsolidation of RPC in October 2014, the company’s business activities in the French market were 
classed as discontinued operations.

Publishing

The Publishing segment is made up of all the companies whose revenue mostly comes from online advertising-based 
business models, e.g. in the fields of news, finance and parenting and from the marketing of online advertising space. 
These are primarily:
• TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH
(formerly TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH)
• TOMORROW FOCUS Media GmbH 
(formerly TOMORROW FOCUS Media Sales GmbH)
• TOMORROW FOCUS News+ GmbH
• Tomorrow Focus Content & Services GmbH
• MeteoVista B.V., Zeist, Netherlands

Subscription

The Subscription segment includes all those companies whose revenue is mainly generated from subscription-based 
online models. These are primarily: 
• EliteMedianet GmbH
• jameda GmbH
• organize.me GmbH

Holding/Other

Business activities that cannot be allocated to any other segment are shown under ‘Other’. This primarily relates to the 
holding company role of TOMORROW FOCUS AG and to TF Digital GmbH unless the expenses relate to the Group’s 
discontinued operations on the French market.

Following the sale of Cellular in November 2014, the business activities of Cellular (up to November 2014) and TFT  
(up to November 2013) were recognised separately as discontinued B2B operations.

Segment structure
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The reference figures for the previous year have been adjusted 
accordingly.

Intra-Group transactions are eliminated during consolidation. 
Revenue generated between the segments is based on normal 
market prices.

The accounting and valuation methods used to produce the 
segment information are generally identical to the accounting 
and valuation principles of the Group as a whole.
Transfers between the segments were evaluated and invoiced 
on the basis of full costs. 

The geographical information reflects the location of the com-
pany’s registered office.

None of the TF Group’s customers generated more than 10 
percent of the Group’s total consolidated revenue.  

The accounting and valuation methods used for those seg-
ments subject to statutory disclosure are based on the princi-
ples described in section 6 of the notes.

14.  Notes to the to the consolidated 
statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows shows how the Group’s cash and 
cash equivalents changed during the course of the reporting 
period through inflows and outflows of cash. In accordance 
with IAS 7 (Statement of Cash Flows), a distinction is made 
between operating activities, investing activities and financing 
activities. The Group applies the indirect method for cash flows 
from operating activities and the direct method for cash flows 
from financing and investing activities. The liquidity shown in the 
financial statement includes cash on hand and cash at banks.

15.  Events after the balance sheet date

The Supervisory Board of TFAG approved the release of this 
annual report on 19 March 2015. At that point, with the following 
exception, no significant events had occurred after the balance 
sheet date.

TOMORROW FOCUS AG receives offer for TOMORROW 
FOCUS Publishing GmbH  
In February 2015, TOMORROW FOCUS AG received a 
non-binding offer from its main shareholder, Burda Digital 
GmbH, to buy TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing GmbH. The 
offer price is in the region of EUR 30 million and is subject to var-
ious conditions. Although the negotiations are at an advanced 
stage, an agreement has not yet been signed. TOMORROW 

FOCUS Publishing GmbH is responsible for the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group’s main advertising-based operations, including 
the news and utility journalism site FOCUS Online; the Ger-
man-language edition of The Huffington Post, a news portal 
and platform for blogs; the stock market information portal 
Finanzen100; the parent portal NetMoms; and TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media, which specialises in digital marketing.

16.  Other disclosures

16.1.  Related parties  

The Group is controlled by Burda Digital GmbH. The consol-
idated financial statements of TFAG are therefore included in 
the sub-group financial statements of Burda GmbH, Offenburg, 
Germany (which holds the shares in Burda Digital GmbH) and 
in the group financial statements of Hubert Burda Media Hold-
ing Kommanditgesellschaft, Offenburg, Germany. The consol-
idated financial statements are submitted to the operator of 
Germany’s electronic Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) for 
publication. 

In addition to the entities included in the consolidated financial 
statements of TFAG, the entities making up the Hubert Burda 
Media Group are closely related to TOMORROW FOCUS AG, as 
are persons and entities in the management structure of TFAG 
and in the Hubert Burda Media Group that exert a significant 
influence on financial and business policies, including close 
family members and intermediate entities.

All transactions with related entities primarily concern services 
as defined by IAS 24.21c. All transactions between related per-
sons were concluded on the basis of normal market terms such 
as apply to transactions between third parties.

Balances and transactions between TFAG and its subsidiaries, 
which constitute related parties, were eliminated in full as part of 
the consolidation process and are not included in these notes. 
The following table shows a list of the transactions entered into 
with related parties (see right tables).

The outstanding balances at the end of the reporting period 
are unsecured and do not bear interest. They are settled by 
cash payment. There are no guarantees in place in respect of 
receivables from and payables to related parties. There were 
no adjustments to the value of receivables from related parties 
in either 2014 or 2013. 
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Revenue and other income

Receivables

Liabilities

Work and services purchased / Other operating expenses

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

Burda Digital GmbH 4 39

Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 4,792 6,259
Associated entities of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 161 371
Long-term equity investments of TFAG 427 681
Total 5,384 7,350

31 DECEMBER 
2014

€ ‘000

31 DECEMBER 
2013

€ ‘000

Burda Digital GmbH 0 21

Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 407 848
Long-term equity investments of TFAG 69 256
Total 476 1,125

31 DECEMBER 
2014

€ ‘000

31 DECEMBER 
2013

€ ‘000

Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 28 23

Burda Digital GmbH 0 1,298
Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 3,395 2,429
Associated entities of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 108 108
Long-term equity investments of TFAG 1 0
Total 3,532 3,858

2014
€ ‘000

2013
€ ‘000

Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 283 234

Burda Digital GmbH 0 1,092
Subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 2,423 3,024
Associated entities of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 0 0
Long-term equity investments of TFAG 23 69
Total 2,729 4,419
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Liabilities to related parties 
Liabilities to related parties mainly include obligations in respect 
of rent and leasing agreements and agency agreements for 
services provided by various entities in the Burda Group (cf. 
also section 16.2 of the notes relating to contingent liabilities 
and other liabilities). There were no liabilities towards related 
persons as at the balance sheet dates.  

Remuneration of persons in key Group positions
The following remuneration was paid to members of the Ma-
nagement Board and Supervisory Board as consideration for 
their work:
-   The emoluments paid to the members of the Supervi-

sory Board in the reporting period amounted to a total of  
EUR 195 thousand (EUR 195 thousand in 2013). Further-
more, the company incurred expenses of EUR 55 thousand 
(EUR 6 thousand in 2013) from a contract for services with 
a law firm to which a member of the Supervisory Board be-
longed up to June 2014. 

-   In the reporting period the emoluments paid to the mem-
bers of the Management Board of TFAG amounted to a to-
tal of EUR 1,264 thousand (EUR 2,214 thousand in 2013). 
This includes variable components amounting to EUR 225 
thousand (EUR 450 thousand in 2013) and share-based 
payments of minus EUR 94 thousand (EUR 659 thousand 
in 2013). In addition each Management Board member has 
a company car.

With a qualified majority, the general meeting of shareholders 
held on 1 June 2011 passed a resolution to make use of the 
opt-out clause. This means that TOMORROW FOCUS AG is 
exempted up to and including the year 2015 from the statutory 
obligation to make separate disclosure of the remuneration paid 
to its officers and directors. 

The company has liabilities to members of the Supervisory 
Board in the sum of EUR 182 thousand (EUR 141 thousand 
in 2013) and of EUR 1,715 thousand to Management Board 
members (EUR 1,959 thousand in 2013). There were no re-
ceivables from members of the Supervisory Board or the Man-
agement Board.

As regards the presentation of TFAG’s Management Board and 
the Supervisory Board, we refer to our comments in section 
16.6 of the notes relating to the Management Board and in 
section 16.7 relating to the Supervisory Board.

The company has neither granted loans to members of TFAG’s 
Management Board nor stood surety and/or given any other 
types of guarantee for these persons. 

As at the balance sheet date, the total number of no-par value 
shares in the company held by members of the Management 
Board was 131,600 (122,500 in 2013).

As at the balance sheet date, the total number of shares in the 
company held directly or indirectly by members of the Super-
visory Board in accordance with section 15a paragraph 3 of 
the German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, 
WpHG) was 275,551 (275,551 in 2013).

16.2.  Contingent liabilities and other li-
abilities  

As part of its business activities, TFAG assumed contingent 
liabilities and other liabilities in relation to a large number of 
underlying events. 

TFAG issued a liquidity guarantee on behalf of five subsidiaries. 
These guarantees oblige TFAG to provide enough financing to 
ensure the continued operation of the subsidiaries. 

According to the latest information available, the parties to the 
guarantee are in a position to meet the underlying obligations 
in all cases. It is not expected that the guarantee will need to 
be exercised.

The following tables show the Group’s other liabilities as at the 
balance sheet date: (see first and second tables on next page).

The liabilities primarily arise from rental and leasing contracts 
for buildings, IT systems and office machinery. These contracts 
usually run for 12 to 60 months and more than 60 months in 
exceptional cases. The economic risks and rewards remain with 
the owner due to obligations to return the items and rights to 
require purchase. They also include obligations to purchase 
services in financial 2015 and various licence fees (mostly ap-
plicable to financial years from 2016 onwards (especially the 
HuffPo licence).

The other contracts mainly relate to service contracts with var-
ious entities in the Burda Group (business management) and 
other providers.

16.3.  Long-term equity interests in 
the company as defined by section 21 
paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the German 
Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhan-
delsgesetz, WpHG) in conjunction with 
section 160 paragraph 1 number 8 of 
the German Stock Corporation Act (Ak-
tiengesetz, AktG)

The table below lists the acquisitions or disposals in financial 
2014 that were subject to mandatory disclosure under section 
21 paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the German Securities Trading 
Act: (see right table below).
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Other financial liabilities in 2014

TOTAL
€ ‘000

OF WHICH DUE 
TO OTHER  

BURDA GROUP
ENTITIES

€ ‘000

Under tenancy and leasing agreements (temporary)    
Due in 2015 3,639 90
Due between 2016 and 2019 4,100 113
Due after 2019 0 0
 7,739 203

Liabilities under other contracts (temporary)   
Due in 2015 12,974 628
Due between 2016 and 2019 3,820 0
Due after 2019 3,392 0
 20,186 628

Other financial liabilities in 2013

TOTAL
€ ‘000

OF WHICH DUE 
TO OTHER  

BURDA GROUP
ENTITIES

€ ‘000

Under tenancy and leasing agreements (temporary)    
Due in 2014 4,017 187
Due between 2015 and 2018 5,975 91
Due after 2018 0 0
 9,992 278

Liabilities under other contracts (temporary)   
Due in 2014 6,967 700
Due between 2015 and 2018 3,648 0
Due after 2018 0 0
 10,615 770

Acquisitions or disposals in financial 2014 

SHAREHOLDER

LAST REPORTED 
SHARE OF 

VOTING RIGHTS
DATE OF 

NOTIFICATION 

Baden-Württembergische Versorgungsanstalt für Ärzte, Zahnärzte und Tierärzte, Tübingen, 
Germany 3.02 % 05 May 2014

LBBW Asset Management Investmentgesellschaft mbH, Stuttgart, Germany 3.07 % 1) 05 May 2014
Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management Investment GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 8.50 % 17 September 2014
Burda Digital GmbH, Munich, Germany (subsidiary of Burda GmbH) 63.61 % 20 October 2010 2)

Burda GmbH, Offenburg, Germany 63.61 % 3) 20 October 2010 2)

Deutsche Bank AG, Frankfurt/Main, Germany 5.04 % 4) 13 December 2006

1) of which 3.02 percent held indirectly
2)  Three notifications contained the same share of voting rights.

3) of which 63.61 percent held indirectly
4) of which 5.04 percent held indirectly
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16.4. Section 25 paragraph 1 sentence 
1 of the German Securities Trading Act 
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG)  

In the financial year 2014, the following notifications were re-
ceived in relation to section 25 paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the 
German Securities Trading Act:
-   On 20 March 2014, Allianz Global Investors Europe GmbH, 

Frankfurt am Main, Germany, notified the company pursuant 
to section 21, paragraph 1 of the German Securities Trading 
Act that its share of the voting rights in TOMORROW FOCUS 
AG, Munich, Germany, on 19 March 2014 had fallen below 
the 3 percent threshold and on that date had stood at 2.91 
percent (equals 1,694,324 voting rights).

-    On 5 May 2014, Baden-Württembergische Versorgungsan-
stalt für Ärzte, Zahnärzte und Tierärzte (the provider for the 
statutory pension scheme in the federal state of Baden-Würt-
temberg), based in Tübingen, Germany, notified the com-
pany pursuant to section 21, paragraph 1 of the German 
Securities Trading Act that its share of the voting rights in 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG, Munich, Germany, on 2 May 2014 
had exceeded the 3 percent threshold and on that date had 
stood at 3.02 percent (equals 1,762,000 voting rights).

-    On 5 May 2014, LBBW Asset Management Investmentge-
sellschaft mbH, Stuttgart, Germany, notified the company 
pursuant to section 21, paragraph 1 of the German Securities 
Trading Act that its share of the voting rights in TOMORROW 
FOCUS AG, Munich, Germany, on 2 May 2014 had exceeded 
the 3 percent threshold and on that date had stood at 3.07 
percent (equals 1,788,500 voting rights). In accordance with 
section 22, paragraph 1, sentence 1, number 6 of the Ger-
man Securities Trading Act, 3.022 percent of the voting rights 
(equals 1,762,000 voting rights) are attributable to the com-
pany. Attributed voting rights are held through the following 
shareholders, each of which has 3 percent or more of the vot-
ing rights in TOMORROW FOCUS AG: Baden-Württember-
gische Versorgungsanstalt für Ärzte, Zahnärzte und Tierärzte.

On 4 July 2014 we received the following notification pursuant 
to section 25, paragraph 1 of the German Securities Trading Act:
1. Listed company: TOMORROW FOCUS AG,  

Neumarkter Strasse 61, 81673 München, Germany
2. Notifier: Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management Invest-

ment GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 
3. Triggering event: Exceeding threshold
4. Threshold(s) crossed or reached: 5 percent
5. Date at which the threshold is crossed or reached: 

1 July 2014
6. Total amount of voting rights: 8.50 percent (equals 

4,955,000 voting rights) calculated from the total num-
ber of voting rights issued: 58,313,628

7. Detailed information on the voting rights proportion: Vot-
ing rights proportion based on (financial/other) instru-

ments pursuant to section 25 of the German Securities 
Trading Act: 0.04 percent (equals 21,088 voting rights); 
thereof held indirectly: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right)  
Voting rights pursuant to sections 21 and 22 of the 
German Securities Trading Act: 8.46 percent (equals 
4,933,912 voting rights)

8. Detailed information on (financial/other) instruments 
pursuant to section 25 of the German Securities Trading 
Act: none

On 26 August 2014 we received the following notification 
pursuant to section 25, paragraph 1 of the German Securities 
Trading Act:
1.  Listed company: TOMORROW FOCUS AG,  

Neumarkter Strasse 61, 81673 München, Germany
2.  Notifier: Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management Invest-

ment GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 
3.  Triggering event: Falling below threshold
4. Threshold(s) crossed or reached: 5 percent
5.  Date at which the threshold is crossed or reached:  

21 August 2014 
6.  Total amount of voting rights: 0 percent (equals 0 voting 

right) calculated from the following total number of vot-
ing rights issued: 58,313,628

7.   Detailed information on the voting rights proportion: 
Voting rights proportion based on (financial/other) in-
struments pursuant to section 25 of the German Securi-
ties Trading Act: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right); 
thereof held indirectly: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right) 
Voting rights pursuant to sections 21 and 22 of the 
German Securities Trading Act: 8.50 percent (equals 
4,955,000 voting rights)

8.  Detailed information on (financial/other) instruments 
pursuant to section 25 of the German Securities Trading 
Act: none

On 9 September 2014 we received the following notification 
pursuant to section 25, paragraph 1 of the German Securities 
Trading Act:
1.  Listed company: TOMORROW FOCUS AG,  

Neumarkter Strasse 61, 81673 München, Germany
2.  Notifier: Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management Invest-

ment GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 
3. Triggering event: Exceeding threshold
4. Threshold(s) crossed or reached: 5 percent
5.  Date at which the threshold is crossed or reached:  

3 September 2014 
6.  Total amount of voting rights: 8.50 percent (equals 

4,955,000 voting rights) calculated from the following 
total number of voting rights issued: 58,313,628

7.  Detailed information on the voting rights proportion: Vot-
ing rights proportion based on (financial/other) instru-
ments pursuant to section 25 of the German Securities 
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Trading Act: 0.0009 percent (equals 548 voting rights); 
thereof held indirectly: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right) 
Voting rights pursuant to sections 21 and 22 of the 
German Securities Trading Act: 8.50 percent (equals 
4,954,452 voting rights)

8.  Detailed information on (financial/other) instruments 
pursuant to section 25 of the German Securities Trading 
Act: none

On 17 September 2014 we received the following notification 
pursuant to section 25, paragraph 1 of the German Securities 
Trading Act:
1.  Listed company: TOMORROW FOCUS AG,  

Neumarkter Strasse 61, 81673 München, Germany
2.  Notifier: Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management Invest-

ment GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany 
3. Triggering event: Falling below threshold
4. Threshold(s) crossed or reached: 5 percent
5.  Date at which the threshold is crossed or reached:  

12 September 2014 
6.  Total amount of voting rights: 0 percent (equals 0 voting 

right) calculated from the following total number of vot-
ing rights issued: 58,313,628

7.  Detailed information on the voting rights proportion: 
Voting rights proportion based on (financial/other) in-
struments pursuant to section 25 of the German Securi-
ties Trading Act: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right); 
thereof held indirectly: 0 percent (equals 0 voting right) 
Voting rights pursuant to sections 21 and 22 of the 
German Securities Trading Act: 8.50 percent (equals 
4,955,000 voting rights)

8.  Detailed information on (financial/other) instruments 
pursuant to section 25 of the German Securities Trading 
Act: none

16.5.  Corporate Governance

The company has made the declaration required under section 
161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG) 

for this financial year and published it on its website (http://
www.tomorrow-focus.com) for perusal by the shareholders in 
December 2014.

The company is included in the consolidated financial state-
ments of Hubert Burda Media Holding Kommanditgesellschaft 
(formerly Hubert Burda Media GmbH & Co. Kommanditge-
sellschaft) in Offenburg, Germany. These consolidated financial 
statements are submitted for publication to the operator of the 
electronic Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

16.6.  Management Board

In the financial year 2013, the following persons held positions 
as Management Board members of the company with rights 
of representation, either jointly with another member of the 
Management Board or together with a holder of general com-
mercial power of attorney (Prokurist under German law).
As Chief Executive Officer, Antonius Bouten is responsible for 
the following head office functions: corporate development, 
human resources, Group auditing and Group communications.
and the following operating activities: Zoover, MeteoVista, 
Tjingo, HolidayCheck, Ecotour (up to its sale in December 
2014). 
As Member of the Management Board, Christoph Schuh is re-
sponsible for the following head office functions: marketing and 
sales, links with trade associations; and the following operating 
activities: ElitePartner, jameda, organize.me, Cellular (up to its 
sale in November 2014), TOMORROW FOCUS Publishing, 
Finanzen100, NetMoms, editorial portals, marketing activities 
including client marketing, subsidiaries and long-term equity 
investments with an advertising business model (national and 
international).
As Member of the Management Board, Dr Dirk Schmelzer is 
responsible for the following head office functions: controlling, 
reporting, risk management, internal control systems, investor 
relations, financial management of long-term equity invest-
ments, financing and bank relations, legal, contractual and tax 
management, general administration including purchasing.

Management Board

 POSITION SUPERVISORY BOARD MANDATES

Antonius Bouten
Chief Executive Officer
(Chairperson of the 
Management Board) 

Chairperson of the Board of Directors, HolidayCheck AG, 
Bottighofen, Switzerland

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer Chief Financial Officer Member of the Board of Directors, HolidayCheck AG, Bottighofen, Switzerland;
Member of the Advisory Board, Munich Business School, Munich, Germany

Christoph Schuh Member of the Manage-
ment Board
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16.7.  Supervisory Board

 POSITION OCCUPATION/ OTHER SUPERVISORY BOARD MANDATES

Stefan Winners Chairperson of the 
Supervisory Board

Management Board Member Digital, Hubert Burda Media Group, 
Munich, Germany;
Chairperson of the Supervisory Board, XING AG, Hamburg, Germany;
Member of the Supervisory Board, zooplus AG, Munich, Germany;
Member of the Advisory Board, Cyberport GmbH, Dresden, Germany;
Member of the Supervisory and Advisory Boards, Giesecke & Devrient GmbH, 
Munich, Germany (since April 2014)

Dr. Andreas 
Rittstieg

Deputy Chairperson of 
the Supervisory Board
(up to June 2014)

Chief Legal Officer, Hubert Burda Media Group, Munich, Germany;
Member of the Supervisory Board, Brenntag AG, Mülheim a.d.R., Germany;
Member of the Advisory Board, Huesker Holding GmbH, Gescher, Germany;
Member of the Advisory Board, Berenberg Bank, Hamburg, Germany (up to April 
2014);
Member of the Supervisory Board, Hapag Lloyd AG, Hamburg, Germany (up to 
November 2014);
Member of the Board of Directors, Kühne Holding AG, Schindellegi, Switzerland

Philipp Welte Member of the  
Supervisory Board

Management Board Member Publishing, Hubert Burda Media Group, 
Munich, Germany

Martin Weiss Member of the  
Supervisory Board

Executive Vice President der Millicom International S.A., Luxemburg, Luxemburg;
Non-Executive Director (Aufsichtsrat) of „Milvik AB” Stockholm, Sweden

Annet Aris Member of the  
Supervisory Board
(up to June 2014)

Graduate Engineer (Diplom-Ingenieurin), MBA
Adjunct Professor of Strategy, Institut Européen d’Administration des Affaires (IN-
SEAD),Fontainebleau, France;
Member of the Supervisory Board, ASR Nederland N.V., Utrecht, Netherlands;
Member of the Board of Directors, The Sanoma Group Oy,  Helsinki, Finland;
Member of the Supervisory Board, Jungheinrich AG, Hamburg, Germany;
Member of the Supervisory Board, Kabel Deutschland AG, Unterföhrung, Germany;
Member of the Supervisory Board, Hansa Heemann AG, Rellingen, Germany (up to 26 
March 2014)

Holger Taubmann Member of the  
Supervisory Board  
(since June 2014)

SVP Distribution, Amadeus IT Group, Madrid, Spain

Dr. Dirk Altenbeck Deputy Chairperson of 
the Supervisory Board 
(since June 2014) 

Tax consultant, Managing partner, PKF Issing Faulhaber Wozar Altenbeck GmbH  
& Co.KG (accountants and tax consultants), Würzburg, Germany

According to its articles of association, the company is repre-
sented by two members of the Management Board or by one 
member of the Management Board jointly with one holder of 
general commercial power of attorney (Prokurist under Ger-
man law). If only one Management Board member has been 
appointed, this member represents the company alone. The 
members of the Management Board represent the company 
as set out in the articles of association.
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Munich, Germany, 19 March 2015

Antonius Bouten   Dr. Dirk Schmelzer   Christoph Schuh
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer  Management Board Member

16.8.  Auditor’s fees

The fees paid to the accountants were recognised as expenses 
in the financial year and amounted to EUR 271 thousand for the 
audit (EUR 260 thousand in 2013), EUR 0 (EUR 9 thousand 
in 2013) for other assurance services and EUR 1 thousand  
(EUR 53 thousand in 2013) for other services.

16.9.  Exemption under 264 paragraph 
3 of the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB)

The following subsidiaries of TOMORROW FOCUS AG, which 
were included in the consolidated financial statements and 
meet all other preconditions, have opted to make use of the 
exemption pursuant to section 264 paragraph 3 of the German 
Commercial Code:

a. Tomorrow Focus Publishing GmbH
b. Tomorrow Focus News+ GmbH
c. Tomorrow Focus Media GmbH
d. EliteMedianet GmbH
e. Cellular GmbH (up to 30 November 2014)

16.10.  Exemption under 291 of the 
German Commercial Code (Handels-
gesetzbuch, HGB) 

As provided for in section 264 paragraph 3 of the German 
Commercial Code, TOMORROW FOCUS AG’s consolidated 
financial statements constitute an exemption for TOMORROW 
FOCUS Publishing GmbH, which is also a parent company and 
without this exemption would be obliged to prepare sub-group 
financial statements and a sub-group management report in 
accordance with section 290 et seq of the German Commercial 
Code.

16.11.  Authorisation to publish the  
annual financial statements

On 19 March 2015, the Management Board released TFAG’s 
consolidated financial statements and consolidated manage-
ment report for presentation to the Supervisory Board. The 
Supervisory Board is expected to approve the consolidated 
financial statements and release them for publication on  
19 March 2015.
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AU D I TO R ’ S  R E PO RT

Auditor’s Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements pre-
pared by the TOMORROW FOCUS AG, Munich, Germany, 
comprising the consolidated balance sheet, consolidated 
income statement and consolidated statement of compre-
hensive income, consolidated statement of changes in eq-
uity, consolidated cash flow statement and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, together with the group 
management report of the TOMORROW FOCUS AG, Mu-
nich, Germany, for the business year from 1 January to  
31 December 2014. The preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements and the group management report in 
accordance with the IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, and the 
additional requirements of German commercial law pursu-
ant to § (Article) 315a Abs. (paragraph) 1 HGB (“Handels-
gesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code) is the responsibil-
ity of the parent Company’s Board of Managing Directors. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidat-
ed financial statements and the group management report 
based on our audit.
 We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and German gen-
erally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements 
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute 
of Public Auditors in Germany) (IDW). Those standards re-
quire that we plan and perform the audit such that misstate-
ments materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations in the consolidat-
ed financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework and in the group management 
report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge 
of the business activities and the economic and legal envi-
ronment of the Group and expectations as to possible mis-
statements are taken into account in the determination of au-
dit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related 
internal control system and the evidence supporting the dis-
closures in the consolidated financial statements and in the 
group management report are examined primarily on a test 
basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes 
assessing the annual financial statements of those entities 
included in consolidation, the determination of the entities 
to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consoli-
dation principles used and significant estimates made by the 
Company’s Board of Managing Directors, as well as evalu-
ating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements and the group management report. We believe 

that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit the consoli-
dated financial statements comply with the IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU and the additional requirements of German com-
mercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB and give a true 
and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results 
of operations of the Group in accordance with these require-
ments. The group management report is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a 
suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents 
the opportunities and risks of future development.

Munich, Germany, 19 March 2015 

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Andreas Eigel  ppa. Alexander Fiedler
German Public Auditor German Public Auditor
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Glossary 
G LO S SA RY

Cash Flow
A measure of cash and cash equivalents inflows and outflows.

Corporate Governance
Corporate governance stands for a form of responsible 
company management and control geared to long-term 
creation of value.

Debt
Debt (total assets less › equity) represents the portion of 
funds which are not made available by the company or 
its owners. It includes bank loans and can be categorised 
with other financial instruments under the generic term of 
liabilities. 

Deferred taxes 
This balance sheet item can be an asset and/or a liability. It 
arises from timing differences between actual tax liabilities 
as assessed by the tax authorities and the company’s tax 
liabilities under  ›  IFRS.

Discontinued Operations
A segment of a company’s business that has been sold 
disposed of or abandoned. Discontinued operations can 
range from a certain product line to an entire line of busi-
ness. When operations are discontinued, this is reported on 
the company’s income statement as separate from income 
from continued operations

Earnings per share
Earnings divided by the average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding.

EBT 
Earnings before taxes 

EBTA
Earnings before interest, taxes and amortisation

EBIT
Earnings before interest and taxes 

EBITDA
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation 

Equity
Equity (total assets less › debt) represents the funds paid in 
and/or contributed by the shareholders plus retained earn-
ings which are available to the company.

Equity ratio  
Equity as a percentage of total assets (the higher the ratio, 
the lower the gearing).

Financial derivatives
Financial derivatives are financial futures transactions which 
hedge against risks from unexpected price changes and 
whose price is directly or indirectly dependent on the price 
of an underlying asset, e.g. interest rates or exchange rates.

Free float
Shares of a public company that are freely available to the 
investing public.

Full-time equivalent 
Full-time equivalent (or FTE) is a unit for measuring the 
theoretical number of employees in full-time posts within a 
company. Any part-time posts are added together to calcu-
late the overall result. By way of example, 3 half-time posts 
and 1 full-time post would give 2.5 FTEs.

Goodwill
An intangible economic good representing the value of the 
intangible assets of a business entity which are not capital-
ised at acquisition. Calculation: purchase price of the entity 
less its proportional, newly valued equity.

Impairment
A reduction in the value of an asset in addition to deprecia-
tion or in place of amortisation in the case of intangible as-
sets with indefinite useful lives. An impairment test is imple-
mented to ascertain whether an asset‘s carrying amount is 
higher than its recoverable amount. If necessary, the asset is 
depreciated to its recoverable amount.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
This uniform system of accounting rules is intended to fa-
cilitate the task of comparing data between companies. In 
accordance with EU regulations, all listed companies are 
obliged to adopt these rules for reporting and accounting 
purposes. 

C

D

E

F

G

I
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Long-term incentive plan 
A long-term incentive plan or programme (LTIP) is a business 
plan for the creation of long-term performance incentives for 
managerial staff. It is essentially a profit-sharing model, which 
can, for example, be used for the issue of (virtual) shares, 
share options or convertible bonds. An LTIP therefore forms 
part of the salary.

Risk management
On-going, systematic and continuous identification, analysis, 
evaluation and control of potential risk to which a company‘s 
assets, financial position and income situation are exposed 
in the medium and long term. The objective is to ensure the 
continued existence of the company, to ensure the achieve-
ment of the company‘s objectives supported by suitable 
measures against adverse occurrences and to increase the 
enterprise value.

Segment reporting
Disclosure of earnings and assets data for individual areas of 
business.

Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows shows inflows and outflows of 
cash from the operating business and from financing and 
investing activities over the financial year. It also serves to 
reconcile the levels of cash and cash equivalents held at the 
beginning and end of the financial year. 
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F I N A N C I A L  C A L E N DA R

Financial Calendar 
2015*

Participation in the Bankhaus Lampe Germany-Conference 2015 in Baden-Baden, Germany

Participation in the Goldman Sachs European Small & Mid Cap Symposium 2015 in London, 
United Kingdom

Publication of the Q1 2015 interim report

Participation in the Berenberg TMT Conference 2015 in Zurich, Switzerland

Annual General Meeting 2015 at the ‚Haus der Bayerischen Wirtschaft‘, Max-Joseph-Str. 5, 
Munich, Germany

Publication of the 2Q 2015 interim report

Participation in the db Access European TMT Conference 2015 in London, United Kingdom

Participation in the Berenberg & Goldman Sachs German Corporate Conference 2015 in 
Munich, Germany

Publication of the 3Q 2015 interim report

Analysts’ meeting at the German Equity Forum 2015 in Frankfurt am Main, Germany

16 – 17 April 2015

5 May 2015

13 May 2015

27 May 2015

16 June 2015,  
11 A.M. CET

7 August 2015

3 September 2015

21 – 23 September 2015

6 November 2015

23 – 25 November 2015

* provisional dates
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* see also 2.2.2.1.4 ‘Balances transferred to Group EBITDA and operating Group EBITDA’ in this annual report’s Group management report 

REVENUE AND EARNINGS FINANCIAL YEAR 
2014

FINANCIAL YEAR 
2013

CHANGE 
in %

Consolidated revenue in € million 161.5 151.0 +7.0
Group EBITDA in € million 25.6 29.3 -12.6
Operating Group EBITDA* in € million 23.5 20.7 +13.5
Group EBIT in € million 17.4 19.9 -12.6
Group financial result in € million -3.5 -4.8 –
Group EBT in € million 13.9 15.1 -7.9

Group earnings after taxes from  
continuing operations in € million 10.6 12.4 -14.5

Group earnings after taxes from  
discontinued operations in € million -14.3 -0.5 –

Earnings per share from  
continuing operations in € 0.18 0.21 -14.3

Earnings per share from  
discontinued operations in € -0.25 -0.01 –

Travel segment external revenue in € million 95.8 85.9 +11.5
Travel segment EBITDA in € million 22.0 22.0 +/-0.0

Publishing segment external revenue in € million 33.7 33.1 +1.8
Publishing segment EBITDA in € million 5.3 5.5 -3.6

Subscription segment external revenue in € million 31.9 31.9 +/- 0.0
Subscription segment EBITDA in € million 2.9 2.2 +31.8

Holding/Other segment external revenue in € million 0.0 0.1 –
Holding/Other segment EBITDA in € million -4.6 -0.4 –

CASH FLOW

Cash flow from operating activities in € million 23.5 18.7 +25.7
Cash flow from investing activities in € million -17.6 -11.2 –
Cash flow from financing activities in € million -5.3 -4.8 –

KEY CAPITAL MARKET DATA 

Return on equity from continuing operations in % 8.4 9.4 -10.6
Equity ratio in % 53.7 52.1 +3.1
Debt ratio in % 46.3 47.9 -3.3

EMPLOYEES 

Annual average number of employees (FTEs) 698 681 +2.5

ASSETS AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

Total assets in € million 233.9 254.6 -8.1
Non-current assets in € million 177.5 192.6 -7.8
Current assets in € million 56.4 62.0 -9.0
thereof cash as at 31 December 2014 in € million 26.6 26.1 +1.9
Equity in € million 125.5 132.6 -5.4
Debt in € million 108.4 122.0 -11.1

Key figures 
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Development of TOMORROW FOCUS Group key figures
 

 20.7

   23.5
2013

2014

OPERATING GROUP EBITDA
(in € million)

 19.9

   17.4
2013

2014

GROUP EBIT
(in € million)

 0.21

   0.18
2013

2014

EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
(in €)

CONSOLIDATED REVENUE 
(in € million)

 151.0

   161.5
2013

2014

2013
2014

* As at 31 December 2014; ** As at 4 June 2014. No liability assumed for completeness of information.

Free float  
40.46 %

Burda Digital  
GmbH 
58.84 %**

Management Board 
and Supervisory Board  
0.70 %*

Shareholder structure as at 31 December 2014 
(rounded)
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